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F-3B UGHIN NG Ii

Fying under the power of Pratt United Technooges Corporation UTC diversified company that provides
Whitneys F135 propulsion system broad range of high-technology products and services to the global aerospacethe 35B Lightning II prepares to

and buildng systems ndustnes In 2011 we announced reorganization of ourmake its first ever vertical landing

on the deck of the USS Wasp commercial and aerospace businesses Our commercial businesses are Otis elevators

The historic landing marked the and escalators and the new UTC Climate Controls Security which includes Carrier

beginning of successful three and UTC Fire Security Our aerospace businesses are Sikorsky aircraft and the
week sea trial The F135 propulsion new UTC Propulsion Aerospace Systems which includes Pratt Whitney aircraftsystem has proved to be the most

engines and Hamilton Sundstrand aerospace and industrial products For moreadvanced capable fifth generation

fighter engine for the 35B aircraft information about the reorganize ion and the impact on financial reporting beginning
in 2012 see page 28 of Managements Discussion and Analysi The company also

out the cover prime example operates central research organization that pursues technologies for improvingof innovation is found in Pratt
the performance energy efficiency and cost of UTC products and processesWhitneys new PurePower PW1000G

ngine family Scheduled to enter UTC is member of the Fortune 50 the Dow Jones industrial average and the

service in 2013 it is expected to Dow Jones sustainability indexes
reduce fuel burn by up to 16 percent
nitrogen oxide emissions by half

apd airport ground noise by up to

75 percent It also is expected

geperate an annual cost savings

of up to $1.5 million per aircraft

per year compared to comparable
engin currently in service
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DEAR
SHAREOWNER
2011 was another strong year for United Technologies Solid

execution across our business units allowed us to again deliver

doubie-dgii earnings growth Our continued focus on improving

produ ivty investing in ame-changing technologies and

xp nding nce rowing emerging markets has

it us to nt ue grow our se nes in 201

ea un in ob yo

212 rniii ann 2011 nv lv

Go dri and Int ma al Aero ngines will tr form

our company settin the undation for strong earnings growth

in 2013 beyon
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Chairman Chief Executive Officer Louis ChØnovert visits

Pratt Whitneys manufacturing facility in Middletown Conn

Background at left downtown Shanghai

Our focus on operating performance in 2011 drove organic

growth across UTC with all business segments achieving

double-digit operating margins Most notable Carrier

achieved its 12 percent margin goal in 2011 one year

ahead of our target Ths success was the result of strong

operational focus cost containment efforts and execution

of its business transformation strategy

Along with strong operating performance came strong

cash generation with cash flow from operations less

capital expenditures again exceeding net income Strong

cash performance during the year enabled us to raise

our dvidend by 12.9 percent This year also marked the

755 consecutive year that United Technologies has paid

dividend Through dividend payments and share

repurchase United Technologies returned 67 percent

of its cash flow to our shareowners

UTC5 long-term total shareowner return continued to

exceed that of peers and key market indices For the period

from December 31 2001 through December 31 2011 UTC

delivered total shareowner return of 175 percent more

than three times the Dow Jones industrials and more

than five times the SP 500

While the near-term global economic outlook remains

challenging we look to the future with confidence We

believe our announced agreement to acquire Goodrich

the largest acquisition in United Technologies history

marks the start of bright new chapter for UTC and will

significantly strengthen our position in the fast-growing

commercial aerospace market Goodrich leading global

supplier of systems and services to the aerospace and

defense industry will be an excellent strategic fit with

UTCs existing aerospace portfolio Goodrich has well-

established presence in areas where we do not sucf

as aircraft landing gear braking systems and nacelles

Together Goodrich and United Technologies will be well

positioned to provide greater value to our customers

1L repres rt fund returned shar wI ers percer tape of asi

fiow rr easure we cai eec cash ova we defoe free casf ow as cas tow

fror operat ies cap te expenditures ii 201i uic per crated cast ow

frorr operat ors of $6.6 bii or and capita .xperd tures were $983 Ti or

resuit in free casf ow $5 di or we returr ed approxirr ate

57 per ost cash ow frorr operat ons shareowners throupt div dci

and stare repurchases

with better more integrated products and services for

the next-generation arcraft at more competitive price

Since the agreement was annourced customer feedback

has been overwhelmingly posit ye and integration plan

ning is progressing very smoothly We anticipate closing

the transaction in mid-2012 and are exciteo to weicome

the Goodrich employees to United Technologies We are

also excited about the opportunity to bring together the

complementary capab lities of our two great companies

to provide additional value to our customers

Further strengthering our position the commercia

aerospace market was the agreement to purchase

Rolls-Royces share of lAB which produces the V2500

engine for the A320 family of aircraft Upon closing which

is expected in mid-2012 UTC will become the majority

shareholder of IAB Tfes new ownorship structure positiurs

Pratt Whitney for strong growth in the important single-

aisle aircraft segment as IAE has more than 4500 V2500

engines in service today and nearly 2000 engines on

order The new structure will also allow customers to

transition smoothly from the current V2500 engine to

Pratt Whitneys new Geared Turbofan engine for the

Airbus A32Oneo aircraft family

In 2011 we also positioned U$C for long term growth with

the announcement of sigr ificant organizational changes

that will group number of UTC business units into new

aerospace and commercial building organizations This new

structure will allow United Technologies to more efficiently

serve our global customer base through greater integra

tion across product lines and drive growth by taking ful

advantage of technology investments and the companys

footprint in emerging markets

On the aerospace side we created UTC Propulsion

Aerospace Systems which brings the Pratt Whitney and

Hamilton Sundstrand businesses under new leadership

structure As we position ourselves for growth ohase in

the aerospace cycle this new orgar izational structure wil

allow us to leverage the long-term investments we have

made aerospace systems inc uding systems developed

for the Boeing 787 and in the Geared Turbofan technol

ogy Closer coordination by Pratt Whitney and Hamiltor

Sundstrand two world-class franchises will also position

UTC to win increased content or next-generation aircraft

2011 ANNUAL REPORT
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By finding growth opportunifles in existing

nd mI1rtr crirrr
tnat cornpement the portfoUo nd ead to

long4erm profitabflity We are pursuing Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce have agreed to restructure their

rowth on both fronts
participation in lAE International Aero Engines which provides

the V2500 engine for the Airbus family of aircraft and to form

joint venture to develop engines for the next generacon of

midsize aircraft

204 we announced transformat onal deals the agree

cert to acauire Goodhch Core and the agreements wish

Ro Is-Royce to purchase ts share of IAE Internahona

Aero Engines to become the maorfty shareholder in

te corso bum with partners Japanese Acre Engines

orporati JAEC and MTU Aero Engines AG N1TU

Our piop sad $8 billon acquisiton of Goodrich will

bring complementary products of two great companies

togc her to offer wore irte igert fully integrated systems

for our aerospace customers The agreements th

Rolls-Royce position Pratt Wh tney JAEC MTU and

IAE to bet er serve their airline and leasing customers

by uberir more conipetitive he ible aiid cost-effuctive

engir solut ens for the Airbus A320 aircraft family The

new Ui uc-ura also will pravda customers world-class

support or the lAP V2500 engine and the Pratt Whitney

PW100 series of engines be nq developed for the

A32Oneu rcraf

ag the year we anrounced new organizational

structure that will enable us to better serve customers

and max mize our investments in technology UTC

Clirna Controls Secubty which includes Carrier

and UC Th-a Securty wit pravda custer-rem

with advarced commercial and technical solutions

in udino era safety security building controls heating

venttat ng care boning ana refrigeration UTC

ProWls or Aerospace Systems wh cf ncludas

Ham Iton Sundstrand and Pratt Whitney position

us develop ntegrated propulsion and aircraft

yster foi rext-generatior air r0ft

uNITeD TEcHNOLoGIes cORPORATION



TEnI 1NOLO

YAKE
MOST TRUSTED
PELCCfl ERS
EVEN E31

By pushing the boundaries of vertca

ifight Our technoogy sets the standard

for speed and performance and rases

the competftve bar

The super-fast highly maneuverable S-97 Raider is designed

to usher in the next generation of light military helicopters

The companys research center was instrumental in developing

rotor technology that enables the aircraft to achieve its

remarkable speed

HOW DO YOU Sikorsky conbnues to revolution ze verhcal fhght as

develops the wor ds next generation of hel copters

The CH-53K will be the worlds largest heavy-lift maritirr

helcopter with cargo hold that can easily accommodatc

vehicle the size of Hurrvee Also being developed is

prototype of the 5-97 Raider ight tactical helicopter

based on the companys revo utionary X2 Technology

demonstrator The 97 Pa der be able to cruise

comfortably at 220 knotsnearly twice the cruise

speed of conventional helicopterswhile retainng all

the attributes of todays highest performing helicopters

2011 ANNUAL REPOPT



By establishing an early presence

in emerging markets and working

in partnership for mutual benefit

We hire and promote from the

local workforce establish in

country manufacturing facilities

develop local suppy chains and

adapt technology to meet the

needs of global customer base

Our commercial businesses have announced

major new fac ities na and nd 1r

China Carr er cxpanded ts manufacturng

scale and commerc al susta nability offer

ng th the acquisiton of control ng

ntcrest in Shandong Fuerda Air Condk

tioner Fquiorrcrt Co Ltd leader In the

water source and geothermal heat pump
product segment Otis chose fast-growi

Chongqing as tte site of its xtt elevator

factory the country

india Carr er expanded its corrr iercial

offering and manufacturing capabilities

by localizing Ls globa air cooled chller

platform in the Gurgaon facility with the

oroductioi ymeffuuency AquaThrust

3OXA ch hers to serve the fast growirg

ndian market Carriers Transcold business

he ng ndia improve the qua ity and

safety of transporting per ables so

die Otis broke ground on major expan

sor of its Bangalore slevator factory wh ch

is se to be compieteo 20j2

UNITED TECHNOLOG ES CORPORAl ON



In Kohinoor Square state-

of-the-art office complex

under construction in Mumba
India Otis will install 63 units

including energy-efficient

Gen2 elevators Kohinoor

Square is being built to LEED

Platinum certification which

will make it one of the green

est complexes in the world

Otis is providing energy-efhcient products

and so utions to some of the worlds new
est ta lest and greenest buildngs Among
them is Kohinoor Square in Mumbai India

In addibon to elevators and escalators

Ohs will insta its Compass destination

management system which improves

building traffic flow ard its EMS Panorama

advanced elevator management system

wh ch enables building staff to manage

full-range of elevator unctions from any

computer with an Internet connectior

In China Otis wil supply and ir stal

700 energy-efficient elevators with ReGen

drives for an immense social housing

reconstruction project in Jiangsu It is

one of Otis largest wins in the country

The prolect will provide elevator service

to 16000 units of housing

During the year Pratt Whitney expanded

production facility for its Aerotech

Manufacturing Co Ltd ir Chengdu China It will

manufacture selection of engine hardware

including parts for the PurePower PW1000G

engine fam ly Pratt Whitney Aerotech

Manufacturing Co Ltd is loint venture of

Pratt Whitney Chengdu Engine Group

Corporation and Aviation Industries of China

The first fully assembled Sikorsky S-92 cabin

built in India was completed in Hyderabad in

October 2011 and shipped to the United States

for final assembly In 2009 Sikorsky formed

both supplier relationship with Tata Advanced

Systems Ltd.which builds the cabins and
joint venture to manufacture aerospace

components These relationsh ps with the

Tate Sons subsidiary are representative of the

steps Sikorsky is taking to localize producton

The Aerotech Manufactunng facility in

Chengdu China will manufacture engine parts

for the PurePower PW1000G engine family

Car icr la rched its Gremi St cots og irn

ts ir to support ne sctcoi

ducato ii eas erprove lore

munities id pro cote sustainabi

soca deze cpmert St erd tte ear

schc ols six las across Asa so

partcipat rg ir Green Sho ts
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By deveoping integrated

solutions that enable buildings

to use energy more efflciently

lower their greenhouse gas

emissions and offer safety and

security to their occupants
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Automateo ogic has cccii ci oser to

provide the building automat on system for

the landmark World Trade Certer now

ur der construct on ir New York City

80 stories .t II be he third ta lest bui

ing ir the World Trade Center master pian

and has been desigred to rreet LEED

Gold criteria Automated Logic is par

of UTC Climate Controls Security

Tfe bui ding automat or systerc wil

cortrol and rroritor eating cooling

aid re protection equipmert as wel

as provide direct nterface witf ar

innovative fuel ccl system designed by

UTC Power TLe system is des gred to

prov de comfortab cry ror ment for

ft building occupants ard to help

tenants save energy ar prorrote more

sustainable operations

Automated Log also is prov dng
bu Id ng systems to World trade Center

and World Trade Center

OFTEoN NOTES

Cs if no iti iucs jr or rr or

usta rable ard rgy effice CO2OLte

refr go sysrr pary has ai

grecrcn witi is ir r-nsn too ma or

tegut gute ebors aiitel to install 50 sc
tems in its sto throuoh 201 C020 tec cc

carhor di side nato and cry ronmental

ieu5a1 rc gat iht mec il s5e
mel clmams sucl as rther Europe

oployees at ur dde ci fl Nortt

Yor ted ngdon have to ird

way to racy Ic filter ca bp oduct

ir manufa two Pro Pg tng sms

Fl mke itain orga nLrog

calcium cemp ur da now being

sod corrpost essential

for arde ard growers

20 Keraky co irrCs oned combired heat

and power gene aton facil prod

enoug erergy to powe cart of it

2millionsquarfoet Stratfo Conn site to

news ate 11 also ore dci pa cnt if ie Sites

eat ng cads wn le reducirg greertous

anussi ns by mom then 800 to ar

ally Car or aid NORESCO brsress ved

at tegic the ore vidr

des gr and con tr tior tation

Equipped with building controls by Automated

Logic World Trade Center will be one of

New York Citys greenest skyscrapers
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By offering them the be most novaUve

productc on tho mrkot-ndfoUowng

wth the best servic 1abe Ne am
to defight our customers from pont of se
through aftermarket arrangements

Since open ng ts doors more than year ago HaT Aon

Sundstrands istomer Response Center Windsor Locks

or.n as cornea reputabon for fehng besLHn-clas

of erT ark er ace Staffed by engineers 24 tours day

365 days year he outer addresses te hnical issues or

pare port orderswhatever is needed to keep aircraft

yirg 2011 the ceflter receved Tore than 7600 rqunes

ram aporox mataly 1100 customers

Otis El te service continues to delight its growing customer

base key differentiator for the company Otis Elite

service otters customers an unprecedented level of

supper and benehts that help ensure maximum equip

nent reiAbihty and eff dent epair3 at their elevator

systems At the end of 2011 approximately 29200
Ohs Ehte service subscriptions had been sold wohdwide

up more than 45 percent tram 2010

In 2011 our Chubb business introduced i-link the indus

trys fast fully networked portal view of customers

fire and security landscapes Through i-link customer

locatioi are interactively visible in real time through

one conven ent Web interface Currently available to

customers in Australia and the United Kingdom i-link

provides seamless online account management allow

ing customers to place and track all service calls online

work with standardized process for service requests

and generate customized reports at any time Chubb

is part of UTC Climato Controls Security

With i-link Chubb customers can monitor

locations interactively and in real time through

single Web interface resulting in more

efficient facility management

As part of Otis Elite service technicians track the opera of

elevators and related equipment to ensure maximum per rmance

and reliabihty Ekte service offers customers an unprecedented

level of support

uNiTFa TECHNOi 0005 RPORATi SN



By impementing ACEour Achieving

Competitive Excellence operating system

With its focus on continuous improvement

ACE enabes us to meet even exceed
customer expectations whlle reducing

costs and improving productivity and

empoyee engagement

Being top competitor in todays economic envronmenr

requires sound strategies their effecdve execution and

commitment to improve confinuously To achieve tbs we

manage all of our activties through the rigorous apphca

tion of our ACE operafing system By the end of 2012 we

expect 80 percent of our sites to be rated ACE Gold or

Silver This represents the highest levels of performance

and customer service

We are moving forward wtth number of ACE nitiatives

Among them the Supplier Gold program to help key

supphers continuously improve their performance

the Engineering ACE Certification Program to mprove

engineering processes and products and advanced

Lean nitiaLves to create and improve manufacturir

flow to enhance customer and shareholder value

Our Collierville Tenn manufacturing facility was certified ACE

Gold in 2011 It is our largest ACE Gold site worldwide Products

manufactured there include Carriers new Infinity heat pump with

Greenspeed intelligence The home heating and cooling unit uses

breakthrough technology that delivers up to 69 percent higher

heating efficiency than any ducted airsource heat pump on

the market

2011 ANNUAL REPORI 13
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By appyng the highest standards of

performance across our company and

measuring success with the same ethica

environment and safety metrics

everywhere we do business

vernance at UTC ocqirs ad hour Code Ettics

cieated in 1990 and relaunched ir 2006 The code was

adopted by the UTC Board OTectors wtich an of

January 2012 has 13 directors l2 of whom are macpen

dent As we ork to Id ci ture of ethics and compli

anco we seek candid feedback from employees This year

89 percen of hour and salahod mployees pcrticmpated

am Globe Employ Scavc With parC pcon rate

ttat surpasses global standards UTCs historic meas of

strengt sethics env anrnent health and safety and

customer focuscontinued ar upward trend UTCs Code

of Ethics our p0 cy on ctizenshp and

human ic

14 PC ND OC OR 10



Fathan BceIkins HamIton Sundstrand

Masters rn Strategic Management

LJFLON LEARNNG
Our employees tackle complex projects and the

products they build and service literally power modern

life To deliver our broad high-technology portfolio

we recruit the most talented employees and encourage

them to continue learning throughout their careers

Our commitment to educahon is exemplified in our Employee Scholar

Program ESP We pay for tuit on boovs ard fees for accredited pro

grams and give empoyees paid me off each week to study Moreover

the ESP aces no reOrct ons or the course of study ar employee may

pursue Sin ts nception 15 years ago UTC emp oyees have earned

more than 32000 degrees through the ESP To date we have nvested

$1 hi lion the program Wo see the payof on that nyc tment every

day And so do our customers and other stakeho ders

Our Empoyee
Schoar ogram

ic uragcs teong
earrrng by Iep rg

amp oyees itr ue

ther educaton
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Our commitmert to acheve iiaximum iergy

effciency ir our products is the imoetus for

app oath take icou age si ma
efforts ft gobal iiarketplace We begin

th ou own operations ar empoyees

invove suppUers and customers and engage

thirdparty organizations to rase awareness

concucting ohginai research to ice ty ways to

reduce sergy cm su nption in new and existing build

ngs by 25 percent goal that is achievable wth exishng

tech ology We use the most recent 0cadcmic market and

government data and employ suite of energy-system

models To nate we have issued throe research papers

in an ongoing seres on energy efhciency

REUL1 OU EAPC
The first paper The Business Case for Building Efficiency

identifies how strategic energy-efficiency nvestments

can increase profits foster job creation and help insulate

company from fluctuating energy prices The second

paper Enhancing American Productivity outlines how

investments in building efficiencies today can help ensure

future economic prosperity and global competitiveness

The third papet ide Global Harket Opportunity describes

the challenges and opportunities presented by the largest

migration in human history Approximately 60 million

to 70 million rural residents in developing countries are

moving each year to cities or seeing cities built up around

them By improving the energy efficiency of existing and

future buildings countries can help enable the comfort

safety and prosperity of their citizens to learn more and

to view updates visit www.utc.com/efficiency

Through its Carrer business UTC Climate Controls

Security is the U.S Green Building Councils largest partner

in LEED education ts LEED workshops educate employ

ees customers and suppliers from Brazil China France

India the Un ted Arab Emirates UAE and the United

States In 2011 Carrier also launched the Distinguished

Sustainability Lecture Series in collaboration with the

Higher ro.ieges of Technology in the UAE

in 2011 the U.S Department of Energy brought its Save

Energy Now LEADER showcase to Hami ton Sundstrand in

Windsor Locks Conn The one-day event brought together

approximately 100 representatives from more than

30 manufacturing companies seeking ways to cut energy

consumption by 25 percent in 10 years UTC provided

attendees th an energy-management guidebook that

oescr ibed its successful enei gy-efficiency best practices

Cities Desy
Academy sgnature

program of the American

hiLctor Fourdat on

It was founded by Ut

2009 to or v1de hadeship

developis ent end technical

assstarce to icca1 cornr urity

leaders wt are engaged in

pianning sus amabe buld

projects jn their communities
SUSIA NABLE CC
DESIGN AcADEMY

Ar virg ix
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ENVIRONMENT

Discipline and focus guide our efforts to

continuousy improve our environment

health and safety EHS performance

Since 1996 we have improved our health

and safety performance as measured by

both total reCordable incident rate and lost

workday incident rate by 88 percent and

86 percent respectively

As our EHS goals evolved from compliance and

conservation to elimination of impacts from our value

chain and products so too has our understanding

of how and where we can influence sustainability

efforts across the globe

WATER TOOL
FOR SUSTAINABIUTY

From 2006 to 2011 we reduced our water

consumption by 26 percent We have

set 2015 sustainability goal of reducing

our water consumption by 40 percent

To help us continue to meet and

exceed our goals we are applying the

World Business Council for Sustainable

Developments Global Water Tool to our

operations The tool helps us assess water-

related risks improve decision making

and shape water-management plans

ONE DROP PARTNERSHIP
PROJECT INDIA

Through partnership with One Drop

nongovernmental organization we are

supporting three-year project in Orissa

India to bring safe drinking water to

100 villages Milton Roy division of Hamilton

Sundstrand is leveraging employee expertise

and its innovative line of water wastewater

treatment and chemical metering pumps to

improve living conditions in an area where

nearly 40 percent of the population does

not have access to safe drinking water

COMMUNTY
To support vibrant communities

where we live and work we
focus our charitable giving

around our employees expertise

and their volunteer efforts

Since 1995 we have contributed more

than $3 million to FIRST Robotics an

international high school robotics compe
tition that encourages the study of math

and science In 2011 70 UTC mentors sup
ported more than 50 high school teams

from across 14 states We also introduced

the USC FIRST Robotics internship pro

gram to continue to develop relationships

with the next generation of innovators

We are partnering with One Drop nongoverr
organization to bring fresh water to rep

.. ChŒnevert visits with UTC mentors
of the Bobcats an awardwinning high school

FIRST Robotics team from South Windsor Conn
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between ani ual reporting perods and UTC may include

any prior year data revisions in current reporting

Additional nformation detaling our progress is availab

at www.utccom/responsibfflty

GREENHOUSE
GAS EMISSIONS

Million metric tons CO

LOST WORKDAY

INCIDENT RATE

Cases/tOO employees

.31

.20

10

15

INDUSTRIAL

PROCESS WASTE
II on lbs

TOTAL RECORDABLE
INCIDENT RATE

Cases/100 employees

SUPPLIER EHS
Percent new cr boa

suppl ers meeting

expectabons

GOVERNANCEMETRICS
INTERNATIONAL

ACCOUNTABIUTY RATING

Compared to SP 500

companies based on

pr or yar

Key Performance Indicators measure UTCs sustainability

goals and performance UTC reporting standards include

the ongoing analysis and correction of data as applicable

following the close of reporting period Consequently

previously reported annual metric results may change

NON-GREENHOUSE
GAS EMISSIONS

Mil on lbs

2.86

2.07

1.31
1.19 1.22

112

WORLDWIDE WATER
CONSUMPTION
Mtlion gals

2043
1927

242
211

07 05 09 10 11

1617
1552

1254

1.16

.74

MATERIALS OF CONCERN
Percent elimination

in new products

.56

100

58
53

51 50
44

1111

100 100 100

73

05 09 10 11
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Heating ventilating airconditoning and

refrigeraflon HVACR systems controls

services and sustainable solutions for resi

dential commercial industrial food service

and transportation applications

UTC FirScriy
OrOed Techrroogee Corrrparry
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Otis is nvo ved in some of the largest and

most ambt ous but ding proiects in the

world Dunng the year the company won
contract to supply and install 30 eva

tors and 16 escalators for the Lotte World

Tower in Seoul South Korea Standing

at approximately 1820 feet it will be the

second highest building in the world and

the tallest one Asia

In India Otis will supply 47 elevators

and 16 escalators to Kohinoor Square

new LEED Platinum office complex under

construct on in Mumbai Kohinoor Square

II be equipped with Otis Compass

best nat or management system which

mproves buildings traffc flow and EMS

Panorama Web-based coo ication that

enables building staff to monitor control

report on and manage full range of

elevator functions

Our ng the year the company

unveiled its enhanced NCE escalator

It is the first escalator that equipped

with standard package of green

features including regenerative

drive power standby features LED

lighting and high-efficiency lubricat on

Much of the demand for Otis eleva

tors comes from its clean energy efficient

technology Its Gen2 elovators are up to

50 percent more energy efficient than

conventional systems When combined

with ReGen drives they are up to

75 percent more energy efficient

than conventions systems thoui

regeneratve dr yes At the er of 20

more than 255000 Ger2 evators had

been sold worldwide

Of plans to cpa mmber

now factor es in 2012 to rceet qrowirg

demand for ts products They nc ude

215 000-squaro-foot fac ty Sao

Bernardo do Camoo Braz ho expar ior

of the Bangalore fa tory Inda rd

factory in Chonjqirg China he compary
also open ng 423000-square-foot

faci ity in Florence SC whch wi becorre

the manufacturing confer for ts U.S and

Caned an operat one

Carrier cort rues to benefit from the

transformation it began 2008 to

simplify ts bus nesses and focus on core

growth platforms As the leading HVACR

company the world Carriers strategic

growth drivers include strong presence

in fast-growing markets such as Inda and

China where maior construction projects

are underway the ant cipated recovery

in the U.S commercial and residential

real estate markets and continued

nvestment in techno ogy which is

de ivering advanced sustainable solutions

to customers

During the year the company
introduced ts breakthrough NaturaLINE

container refr geration system design

The new NaturaLINE design has been

engneered to deliver best-in-class

efficiency by using carbon dioxide

natural refrigerant instead of corventonal

synthetic refrgerants which have higher

global warrring potential

Two Carrier factories Monterrey

Mexico and Huntington Ind were

certified LEED Gold in 2011 The Monterrey

factory is the worlds first heating

ventlation and air-condition ng factory

to receive LEED Gold cert fication

Since 2000 more than 100 million

metr tons of greenhouse gas emiss ons

have been avoided as result of cus

tomers installing hgh-efficiency Carrier

systems The savings as measured by the

companys CO NSERVATION Meter are

equivalert to nn-oviiig appro iat

19 ml on cars off tho road for one year

Carrier won nurr bar of major

contracts 2011 Pal an Wanda Gror

awarded an annu0l purchas ng agreerrar

to Carrier China or the second consecu

tive year expandirg the agreement to

include airside products in add tion to

ch ers Transico won mulbp contra

for its ThinLINE and Prir eLINE cntairer

refrgeration unts Autorrated Logic ws

provido bulding management systerr

for World Trade Ca tar And NOPESCU
Carriers energy sarv cos ompany
won major contract from the Hawa

Department of Public Safety

UTC Fire Secur ty reached number of

mlestonas during the year including the

introduction of 90 raw products Among
them were two Edwards fire panels that

are designed to enhance building safety

as well ass rrodu ar detector that com
bines smoke heat and carbon monoxide

sensng technologios

Det-Tronics stroduced its new

smoke and heat module which seamlessly

ntegrates hasardous and nonhazardous

areas such as iving quarters and control

rooms with ngle ife safety system

The modu supports multiple devices

rcluding smoke detectors heat detectors

carbon monoxide detectors and manual

call stations

To support growth the Middle

East our fire and security business also

inaugurated state-of-the-art tra ning

center Bahrain which provides world

class fire and security product training for

amp oyoes business partners end users

and consultants

Italys major train manufacturer

Ansaldo Breda is equippng SO of ts gh
speed tra ns with Marioffs fire protectir

system The project marks significant

fire suppression installation thin the

rail industry and is Marioffs first major

rail project Italy rca the rtroouc

of legislation requ rng fxad fre suppra

sion systems for tra ns

In the Or ited Krgdom ubb

Systems insta led groundbrealLnq iota

grated network to nitor and najc

traffic on the nations tighwsy system

It has led not only to rrprovad fic

and safety bu also to reducbors fuc

em ssions from idlirg veh des
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ko sky

tary commercal hekcopters

fixed wg arc aft spare parts and

ntenanc re air ar ci ovcr iaw

services for hehcopte and fixedwr

craft he opter operat ons

WH tn rhtir1
AUr red Techrrerogres Corrrparry

Electncal power generation and distribu

tion systems engine accessories and control

systems flight control systems and pilot

controls propulsion systems environmental

control systems auxiliary power units aircraft

lighting fire protection products for aircraft

and military ground vehicles NASAs space

suit/life support system industrial products

including portabe and stationary air com

pressors highpressure pumps gas compres

sors and metering pumps and systems
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During the year Sikorskys revolutionary

X2 Technology demonstrator took ts final

flight proving once seam that it could

travel comfortably at approximately twice

the speed of conventional helicopters

Two prototype ight-tactical helicopters

are now under development based on the

X2 Technology demonstrator Sikorsky has

received number of prestigious awards

for ts breakthrough X2 Technology includ

ing the Robert Colter Trophy in 2011

Initial models of the CH-148

CYCLONE hetcopter were provided to

Canadian Forces in 2011 The CH-148

incorporates significant technological

innovations to enable full range of

martirne missions

The company also de ivered tho

MH-60S SEAHAWK he copter to

the Royal Thai Navy marking the first

nternational delivery of the aircraft She

Royal Australian Navy has contracted

with the US government for 24 Sikorsky

MH-60R SEAHAWK helicopters the most

advanced antisubmarine and andsurface

warfare hel copter currently in operation

Sikorsky is modernizing and rese hog

SO-year-old S-61 helicopters long

time mainstay for naval and commercial

operations and modernzing 30-year-

old BLACK HAWK helicopters for the

U.S Army

Sikorsky won number of Kgnifi

cant curripetitioiis dur rig we year

The government of Turkey selected

the company for program involving

log ccorodjced der.vative BjSCK HAWK
helicopters Some components wi be

built and assembled at the companys

SO-percent-owned manufacturing faclity

Turkey Sweden is the first European

country to procure the Sikorsky OH 60M
BLACK HAWK helicopter ghly sophis

ticated rcraft for transport search and

rescue and other missions The company

also signed multiyear contract to pro
do 16 S-g2 he icopters to Bond Aviation

Group for offshore crude and natural

gas support

Two Boeing aircraftthe 7B7 Dreamliner

and 747-8 airlinerentered service in

2011 eguipped with key systems provided

by Ham Iton Sundstrand The company

was nstrumental in the design and testing

of the Dreamhiner and provided nine of

its major systems

Ham Iton Sundstrand has been

selected to supply systems on the

Bombardier Global 7000 and Global

8000 business jets It also is providing

the lighting and electrical systems for

Bombardiers CSeries aircraft During the

year Bombardier recognized Hamilton

Sundstrand with its annual In-Service

STAR Supplier Top Achievement

Recognition award for its support of

Bomoaroiers 0400 aircraft program

The company continues to grow its

presence in the China market Our ng the

year construction began on facility in

Xian to manufacture the electric power

generation and distribution system for

the C9l0 aircraft being developed by the

Commercial Aircraft Corporation of China

Ltd The faclity is part of joint-venture

arrangement with AV Electromechanical

Systems Co Ltd Hamilton Sundstrand

so will provide the C019 emergency

power system pi ot controls and fire and

overheat protection system Additonally

the company is partnering with AVIC on

ventures to develop components for

aux ary power units and vapor cycle

machines for commercial aircraft for

China and international markets

In July Hamilton Sundstrand sup
ported the aunch of NASAS final space

shuttle mission The company wi remain

the lead contractor on NASAs space su

and continue to support the Internationa

Space Station which will be in orbit

through 2020

Hamiton Sundstrands ndustrial

businessesM Iton Roy Suhlair and

Sundyneare recognzed as global

leaders in critical pump technoloqies

and compressed air solutions

The PurePower PW1500G engine took

to the skies for its first fI ght in 2011

launching the flight test program for

the next-generation Geared Turbofan

engine It flew its maiden flight on

the companys 747SF flying test bed

at the new Mirabel Aerospace Centre

in Canada The PW1500G engine test

program will run total of eight test

engines with certification scheduled

for 2012 and entry into service in 2013

Orders have been placed for more

than 2000 PurePower engines

including Options

During the year Pratt Wh tney

celebrated the opening of its state-of-the-

art manufacturing and testing facility in

Canada The facil ty wi assemble and test

the PurePower PW1500G engine series

for the Bombardier CSeries aircraft and

the advanced PurePower PW800 fam ly

of engines for the next generat on of large

business jets

The P133 engine continues to

demonstrate excellent rel abi ity and

performance while powerng nearly

1000 flights for the F-35 Lightning II

In 2011 Pratt Whitnoy was awarded

more than $4 Ihion P135 orders for

al phases of the program The company
also demonstrated the capabity

to double the output of production

P135 engines bringing total del varies

nearly 40

Pratt Wh tney PW4062 enoinos

wore chosen to power the U.S Air Forces

KC-46 tanker an ear al refuAing rcraft

Pratt Whitney Rocketdyne has

begun testing the J-2X upper stage

eng cc whch wil power NASAs next era

of human soacef ght The J-2X based

on proven design that cou provide

safe and rehiab so ution for NASAs

future heavy- ift launch vehicles
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CMN1TPfENS

WE ARE AND iIOW WE WORL

THEY FOUS UR BUSiNESSES

PERFORMANCE GPPORTUHITY

Our customers have choice and how we Our employees ideas and inspiration

peforni deteimines Whether they choose create

us We aim hih set ambitious goals and without limits We improve contuiuously

de1iveriesu1ts nd we uscustotner everything We do as company and as-

feedbackto recalibrate when necessary individuals We support and pursue ttelong

We move quickly and make timlywe 3earfllng tex-paid our tciiowIedge arid

reasoned decisions because our future capabljties and to engage with the world

epnd oii Them We inest thority cutside UTC eonfrdeiice sptrs usto take

where it needs to be in the hands of prudent risks to experiment to cooperate

the people closest to the cijstomer and with each other ard always to learn fram

the work the consequences of our actions

-lNNOVATIOW --RESPONS1BILLTY

We are company of ideas that are Successful businesses Improve the human

nurtured by commitment to roearch condition We maintain the highest

and eiiópiüent Thiachiemeæts of ethical Øniroæifith1äffd sätØtystaiidrds

our founders inspire us to reach always everywIere ail we encouiage and

or the next rnnvatwe andpowerfui celebrate our eTnp1oyeesact1veTo1es

and marketab3e idea We seek and share in their communities

ideas opeii1yatd encourage dwerstof

erienceaidoprnTon -- --- ---

RESULTS

We are prfeTr4d iwetment because

werneetaggressivetargetswhaeverthe

WemWica1
hoiiestlly and_frtlirghty to inve$tors ard--
are cornpn of realists and ptimits

--- andweprojeçtthesevaiuesineverythin

wedo
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

Dollars ix rrxliiorrs except per share arxouxts 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

FOR THE YEAR

Net sales 58190 54326 52425 59119 54876

Research and development 2058 1746 1558 1771 1678

Restructuring costs 336 443 830 357 166

Net income 5374 4711 4179 5053 4548

Net income attributable to common shareowners 4979 4373 3829 4689 4224

Earnings per share

Basic

Net income attributable to common shareowners 5.58 4.82 4.17 5.00 4.38

Diluted

Net income attributable to common shareowners 5.49 4.74 4.12 4.90 4.27

Cash dividends per common share 1.87 1.70 1.54 1.35 1.17

Average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding

Basic 892 908 917 938 964

Diluted 907 923 929 956 989

Cash flow from operations 6590 5906 5353 6161 5330

Capital expenditures 983 865 826 1216 1153

Acquisitions including debt assumed4 372 2797 703 1448 2336

Repurchases of Common Stock 2175 2200 1100 3160 2001

Dividends paid on Common Stock1 1602 1482 1356 1210 1080

AT YEAR END

Working capital 7142 5778 5281 4665 4602

Total assets4 61452 58493 55762 56837 54888

Long-term debt including current portion2 9630 10173 9490 10453 8063

Total debt2 10260 10289 9744 11476 9148

Total debt to total capitalization2 31% 32% 32% 41% 29%

Total equity2 22820 22332 20999 16681 22064

Number of employees3.4 199900 208200 206700 223100 225600

Note Excludes dividendx paid on Employee Stock Ownership Plan common Stock

Note The increase in the 2008 debt to total capitalization ratio as compared to 2007 reflects unrealized losses of approximately $4.2 billion net of taxes associated

with the effect of market conditions on our pension plans and the 2008 debt issuances totaling $2.26 billion The decrease in the 2009 debt to total capitalization

ratio as compared to 2008 reflects the reversal of unrealized losses in our pension plans of approximately $1.1 billion the beneficial impact of foreign exchange

rate movement of approximately $1.0 billion and the reduction of approximately $1.7 billion of total debt

Note The decrease in 2011 as compared with 2010 includes the impact of divestitures primarily within the UTO Fire Security and carrier segments as well as

headcount reductions associated with restructuring actions across UTD

Note The increase in 2010 as compared with 2009 includes the impact of acquisitions across the company most notably the 2010 acquisition of the GE Security

business within the UTC Fire Security segment The increase in the number of employees in 2010 associated with acquisition activity was partially offset by

headcount reductions associated with restructuring actions across UTO
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
We are global provider of high technology products and

services to the building systems and aerospace industries

Our operations for the periods presented herein are classified

into six principal business segments Otis Carrier UTC Fire

Security Pratt Whitney Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky

Otis Carrier and UTC Fire Security are collectively referred

to as the commercial businesses while Pratt Whitney

Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky are collectively referred to

as the aerospace businesses Certain reclassifications have

been made to the prior year amounts to conform to the

current year presentation

On September 28 2011 we announced new organizational

structure to better serve customers and to drive growth and

achieve greater efficiencies through integration across certain

product lines This new structure combines Carrier and UTC
Fire Security into new segment called UTC Climate

Controls Security Beginning with the first quarter of 2012

Carrier and UTC Fire Security will report combined financial

and operational results as part of this new segment As part

of this new organizational structure we also created UTC

Propulsion Aerospace Systems new organization

consisting of Pratt Whitney and Hamilton Sundstrand

Pratt Whitney and Hamilton Sundstrand will continue to

report their financial and operational results as separate

segments which is consistent with how we will allocate

resources and measure the financial performance of these

businesses We have reported our financial and operational

results for the periods presented herein under the six

principal segments noted above consistent with how we
have reviewed our business operations for decision-making

purposes resource allocation and performance assessment

during 2011

Our consolidated net sales were derived from the commercial

and aerospace businesses as follows sales from Hamilton

Sundstrands and Pratt Whitneys industrial markets are

included in commercial and industrial

2011 2010 2009

commercial and industrial 58% 57% 58%

Military aerospace and space 20% 21% 21%

commercial aerospace 22% 22% 21%

100% 100% 100%

In each of 2011 2010 and 2009 approximately 58% of our

consolidated sales were original equipment and 42% were

aftermarket parts and services

Our worldwide operations can be affected by industrial

economic and political factors on both regional and global

level To limit the impact of any one industry or the economy

of any single country on our consolidated operating results

our strategy has been and continues to be the maintenance

of balanced and diversified portfolio of businesses Our

businesses include both commercial and aerospace

operations original equipment manufacturing OEM and

extensive related aftermarket parts and services businesses

as well as the combination of shorter cycles at Carrier and in

our commercial aerospace aftermarket businesses and

longer cycles at Otis and at our aerospace OEM businesses

Our customers include companies in the private sector and

governments and our businesses reflect an extensive

geographic diversification that has evolved with the

continued globalization of world economies The composition

of net sales from outside the United States including U.S

export sales to these regions in U.S Dollars and as

percentage of total segment sales is as follows

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Europe $12601 $11957 12216 22% 22% 23%

Asia Pacific 9394 7986 7173 16% 15% 14%

Other Non-U.S 5380 5374 4991 9% 10% 9%

U.S Exports 7957 7296 6996 14% 13% 13%

International

segment sales $35332 $32613 $31376 61% 60% 59%

As part of our growth strategy we invest in businesses in

certain countries that carry high levels of currency political

and/or economic risk such as Argentina Brazil China India

Mexico Russia South Africa and countries in the Middle East

At December 31 2011 the net assets in any one of these

countries did not exceed 7% of consolidated shareowners

equity

Although the global economy improved in 2011 as compared

with 2010 signs of recovery experienced early in 2011 began

losing momentum later in the year reflecting concerns about

the deepening sovereign debt crisis in Europe and the

political climate in Washington D.C As result of persistent

high unemployment in the United States U.S and Europe

weak U.S housing market government budget reduction

plans and the European sovereign debt crisis growth within

developed economies remains low In 2011 world gross

domestic product growth was approximately 3% with

growth led by emerging markets and we expect emerging

markets will continue growing in 2012 although at

moderating pace Despite ongoing uncertainty in the world

economy global aerospace markets are trending favorably

with commercial airline traffic pricing and capacity utilization

increasing and major airframe manufacturers expecting

record delivery levels in 2012 Although we expect

commercial construction in Europe to be flat in 2012 as

compared with 2011 we are beginning to see slight recovery

in North America Globally construction markets remain

generally weak with the exception of some emerging

markets The European economy remains an uncertainty as

we enter 2012 with continued volatility in the Euro Although

we do not have any significant direct exposure to European

sovereign debt we do generate approximately 26% of our

net sales including U.S exports from Europe Therefore

continued economic decline in Europe could have

significant adverse impact on our financial results especially if

coupled with further declines in the Euro or other foreign

Dollars miIlons
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

currencies AS noted above we generated approximately 61%

of our sales from outside the U.S including U.S export sales

in 2011 Exchange rates therefore could have significant

impact on sales and operating profits as foreign currency

results are translated into U.S Dollars for financial reporting

In line with the slowing world economy in 2011 our short

cycle shipments and order rates were mixed across our

businesses In 2011 as compared with 2010 commercial

aerospace spares orders at Pratt Whitney increased 8%
while Hamilton Sundstrands commercial aerospace orders

grew 22% Conversely Carriers North American residential

HVAC orders declined approximately 3% in 2011 yet within

our longer cycle business Otis new equipment orders grew

15% in 2011 as compared with 2010 despite declines in North

America and slower growth in China late in 2011 Although

economies in China India and Brazil have recently shown

signs of slowing growth rates in these and other emerging

markets generally remain well above those of developed

economies

Led by strength in Carriers transportation refrigeration

business and improved aftermarket volume in the aerospace

businesses our sales grew 6% organically in 2011 We expect

organic sales growth in 2012 to be 2% to 4% reflecting

strong opening backlog and continued strength in the

aerospace businesses tempered by generally lower order

growth rates in our commercial businesses

Although we expect an increase in organic growth which if

realized would contribute to operating profit growth we also

continue to invest in new platforms and new markets to

position us for additional growth while remaining focused on

structural cost reduction operational improvements and

disciplined cash redeployment These actions contributed to

our earnings growth and operating profit margin expansion

during 2011 and positioned us for future earnings growth as

the global economy recovers We undertook significant

restructuring initiative in early 2009 to reduce structural and

overhead costs across all of our businesses in order to help

mitigate the adverse volume impact that resulted from the

global economic crisis Restructuring costs totaled $336

million $443 million and $830 million in 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively As result of these restructuring actions

continued focus on cost reductions and increasing sales

volumes segment operating margin increased 80 basis

points from 14.6% in 2010 to 15.4% in 2011 This year-over-year

increase includes 30 basis point net benefit from lower

restructuring charges and non-recurring items While we

expect to benefit in 2012 from cost reductions realized on the

restructuring actions undertaken in prior years we also

expect an adverse impact on operating profits in 2012 from

net commodity cost increases of approximately $50 million

and incremental research and development investment of

approximately $150 million

As discussed below in Results of Operations operating

profit in each of 2011 and 2010 includes the impact from

non-recurring items such as the adverse effect of asset

impairment charges and the beneficial impact of gains from

business divestiture activities primarily those related to

Carriers ongoing portfolio transformation Our earnings

growth strategy contemplates earnings from organic sales

growth including growth from new product development

and product improvements structural cost reductions

operational improvements and incremental earnings from our

investments in acquisitions We invested $372 million

including debt assumed of $15 million and $2.8 billion

including debt assumed of $39 million in the acquisition of

businesses across the entire company in 2011 and 2010

respectively Acquisitions completed in 2011 consisted

principally of number of smaller acquisitions in both our

aerospace and commercial businesses Our investment in

businesses in 2010 principally reflected the acquisitions of the

General Electric GE Security business and Clipper

Windpower Plc Clipper

On September 21 2011 we announced an agreement to

acquire Goodrich Corporation Goodrich global supplier of

systems and services to the aerospace and defense industry

with 2010 sales of $7 billion Under the terms of the

agreement Goodrich shareholders will receive $127.50 in cash

for each share of Goodrich common stock they own at the

time of the closing of the transaction This equates to total

estimated enterprise value of $18.4 billion including $1.9

billion in net debt to be assumed The transaction is subject

to customary closing conditions including regulatory

approvals and Goodrich shareholder approval We expect

that this acquisition will close in mid-2012 Goodrich products

include aircraft nacelles and interior systems actuation and

landing systems and electronic systems Once the acquisition

is complete Goodrich and Hamilton Sundstrand will be

combined to form new segment named UTC Aerospace

Systems This segment and our Pratt Whitney segment will

be separately reportable segments although they will both be

included within the UTC Propulsion Aerospace Systems

organizational structure We expect the increased scale

financial strength and complementary products of the new

combined business will strengthen our position in the

aerospace and defense industry Further we expect that this

acquisition will enhance our ability to support our customers

with more integrated systems

In connection with the pending acquisition of Goodrich we

are evaluating number of financing structures that will likely

include some level of short- and long-term debt equity

issuance and cash We intend to maintain our strong existing

credit rating and minimize future share count dilution on

earnings per share by targeting the equity component to

comprise no more than 25% of the total financing excluding

the amount of debt assumed As part of this assessment we

are also evaluating the potential disposition of number of

our non-core businesses to generate cash and minimize the

level of future debt or equity issuances While certain

potential disposition candidates have been identified no

actions have yet been committed to and no businesses

currently meet the held-for-sale criteria However during

2012 it is possible that management will commit to the

disposition of one or more of these businesses which may

result in impairment charges or gains/losses that are realized

upon disposition Any such gains or losses could be

significant to UTCs results of operations during the period

incurred
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On October12 2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce plc

Rolls-Royce participant in the IAE International Aero

Engines AG IAE collaboration announced an agreement to

restructure their interests in IAE Under the terms of the

agreement Rolls-Royce will sell its interests in IAE and license

its V2500 intellectual property in IAE to Pratt Whitney for

$1.5 billion plus an agreed payment contingent on each hour

flown by V2500-powered aircraft in service at the closing

date during the fifteen year period following closing of the

transaction Consummation of this restructuring is subject to

regulatory approvals and other closing conditions The

acquisition of the additional interests in IAE will give Pratt

Whitney controlling interest with approximately 66%

ownership Upon closing we anticipate Pratt Whitney will

begin consolidating IAE The acquisition of the additional

interests in IAE and the intellectual property licenses will be

reflected as intangible assets and amortized in relation to the

economic benefits received over the projected remaining life

of the V2500 program

Also on October 12 2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce

announced an agreement to form new joint venture in

which each will hold an equal share to develop new engines

to power the next generation of 120 to 230 passenger

mid-size aircraft that will replace the existing fleet of mid-size

aircraft currently in service or in development With this new

joint venture Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce will focus on

high-bypass ratio geared turbofan technology as well as

collaborate on future studies of next generation propulsion

systems Pursuant to the agreement the formation of this

new venture is subject to regulatory approvals and other

closing conditions including completion of the restructuring

of the parties interests in IAE We expect the restructuring of

the parties interests in IAE to be completed in mid-2012 The

closing of the new joint venture may take substantially

longer period of time to complete

Both acquisition and restructuring costs associated with

business combination are expensed as incurred Depending

on the nature and level of acquisition activity earnings could

be adversely impacted due to acquisition and restructuring

actions initiated in connection with the integration of the

acquisitions

In addition to the foregoing the combination of Carrier and

UTC Fire Security into new segment to be called UTC

Climate Controls Security and the realignment of reporting

units required by this combination along with the potential

disposition of certain businesses in connection with this

combination will necessitate re-evaluation of goodwill

allocations Depending upon the resulting cash flows

including those generated from the disposition of any

businesses goodwill impairment charges could be incurred

and could be significant to UTCs results of operations during

the period incurred

For additional discussion of acquisitions and restructuring

see Liquidity and Financial Condition Restructuring Costs

and Notes and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Dollars mlleas 2O1 2010 2009

Net sales $58190 $54326 $52425

Percentage change year-over-year 7.1% 3.6%

The 7% increase in consolidated net sales in 2011 as

compared with 2010 reflects organic sales growth 6% the

beneficial impact of foreign currency translation 2% and the

adverse impact of net divestitures 1% resulting from the

portfolio transformation efforts undertaken at Carrier As

discussed above in the Business Overview all segments

experienced organic sales growth during 2011 led by Sikorsky

00% Hamilton Sundstrand 9% and Carrier 9% The

organic sales growth at Sikorsky was primarily attributable to

higher military OEM and aftermarket sales while the organic

sales growth at Hamilton Sundstrand was result of higher

volumes in both the aerospace and industrial businesses

Carriers organic sales growth was driven primarily by the

recovery in the transport refrigeration market The organic

sales growth in the remaining businesses reflected higher

commercial sales and aftermarket volume at Pratt Whitney

higher new equipment volumes in emerging markets for Otis

and strength within the products business at UTC Fire

Security

The 4% increase in consolidated net sales in 2010 as

compared with 2009 reflects organic sales growth 2% the

beneficial impact of foreign currency translation 1% and the

impact of net acquisitions 1% The impact of net acquisitions

primarily reflects the acquisition of the GE Security business

at UTC Fire Security net of the impact of dispositions from

the portfolio transformation efforts undertaken at Carrier The

organic sales increase was largely led by Carrier and Sikorsky

These organic increases were partially offset by organic sales

contraction at both Otis and UTC Fire Security The organic

sales growth at Carrier was driven by continuing strength in

the transport refrigeration business while Sikorskys growth

was primarily attributable to higher military sales The organic

contraction at Otis was due to decline in new equipment

sales as result of continued commercial and residential

market weakness In addition the decline at UTC Fire

Security reflected contraction in the service and install

business as result of weak economic conditions in principal

markets

Cost of Products and Services Sold

Dollars milkorrs
2011

cost of products sold $31026 $28956 28905

Percentage of product sales 75.1% 74.9% 774%

cost of services sold 11127 $10458 9956

Percentage of service sales 65.8% 66.7% 66.0%

Total cost of products and services sold $42153 39414 38861

Percentage change year-over-year 6.9% 4% 1O.9%

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Sales

2010 2009
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The factors contributing to the total percentage change year-

over-year in total cost of products and services sold are as

follows

2011 2010

Organic volume 6%
Foreign currency translation 2%

Acquisitions and divestitures net 1%
Restructuring 1%

Total% change 7% 1%

Total cost of products and services sold increased organically

6% at rate consistent with organic sales growth 6% The

beneficial impact of cost reductions and productivity gains

were partially offset by higher commodity pension and

warranty costs in 2011

Both total cost of products and services sold and overall

sales volumes increased in 2010 as compared with 2009 as

result of higher year-over-year sales volumes Total cost of

products and services sold increased organically 1% at

rate lower than organic sales growth of 2% reflecting the

beneficial impact from operational improvements cost

savings and restructuring actions taken

Gross Margin

Dollars is rojifloro 2011 2010 2009

Gross margin $16037 $14912 $13564

Percentage of net sales 27.6% 27.4% 25.9%

Gross margin as percentage of sales increased 20 basis

points in 2011 as compared with 2010 driven primarily by

increased volumes and lower cost of sales resulting from

continued focus on cost reductions savings from previously

initiated restructuring actions and net operational efficiencies

The beneficial impacts of the absence of asset impairment

charges 10 basis points recorded at Carrier and Hamilton

Sundstrand in 2010 and lower year-over-year restructuring

charges 20 basis points were partially offset by higher

warranty costs at Hamilton Sundstrand in 2011

Gross margin as percentage of sales increased 150 basis

points in 2010 relative to 2009 The increase was driven

primarily by higher volumes and lower cost of sales resulting

from continued focus on cost reductions savings from

previously initiated restructuring actions and net operational

efficiencies Gross margin as percentage of sales in 2010

also reflects the benefits of the shift in mix from new

equipment sales to higher margin service sales at Otis the

increase in higher margin aerospace aftermarket sales at the

aerospace businesses and the beneficial impact from net

acquisition/disposition activity The beneficial impact of lower

year-over-year restructuring charges 20 basis points was

offset by the adverse impact of asset impairment charges 20
basis points recorded in 2010 related to disposition activity

at Carrier and Hamilton Sundstrand

Research and Development

Dollars in mlorrs 2011 2010 2009

Company-funded $2058 $1746 1558

Percentage of net sales 3.5% 3.2% 3.0%

Customer-funded 1768 $1890 $2095

Percentage of net sales 3.0% 3.5% 4.0%

Research and development spending is subject to the

variable nature of program development schedules and

therefore year-over-year variations in spending levels are

expected The majority of the company-funded spending is

incurred by the aerospace businesses and relates largely to

the next generation product family at Pratt Whitney the

Boeing 787 program at Hamilton Sundstrand and various

programs at Sikorsky The year-over-year increase in

company-funded research and development in 2011

compared with 2010 primarily reflects increases at Pratt

Whitney associated with the next generation product family

The increase in company-funded research and development
in 2010 compared with 2009 principally reflects increases at

Pratt Whitney associated with the next generation product

family increases at both Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky

as they continue to ramp up new product development

programs and an increase at UTC Fire Security related to

the acquisition in 2010 of the GE Security business

Company-funded research and development spending for

2012 is expected to increase by approximately $150 million

from 2011 levels as result of our continued focus on

developing new technologies led by Pratt Whitney

The decrease in customer-funded research and development

in both 2011 and 2010 as compared with prior years was

primarily driven by decrease at Pratt Whitney related to

reduction in development spending on the Joint Strike

Fighter program

Selling General and Administrative

Dollars as rllliors 2011 2010 2009

Selling general and administrative $6464 $6024 $6036

Percentage of net sales 11.1% 111% 11.5%

The increase in selling general and administrative expenses in

2011 as compared with 2010 is due primarily to the impact of

acquisitions completed over the year including the

acquisition of the GE Security business in March 2010 and the

acquisition of Clipper in December 2010 adverse foreign

exchange translation and higher pension related costs

The decrease in selling general and administrative expenses

in 2010 as compared with 2009 is due primarily to

continued focus on cost reduction and the impact from

restructuring and cost saving initiatives undertaken in 2009

in anticipation of adverse economic conditions These

improvements were partially offset by the impact of recent

acquisitions As percentage of sales the 40 basis point

year-over-year decrease primarily reflects the impact of lower

restructuring costs
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DolIws milloos 2011 2010 2009

Other income net $584 $44 $407

Other income net includes the operational impact of equity

earnings in unconsolidated entities royalty income foreign

exchange gains and losses as well as other ongoing and

non-recurring items The year-over-year change in other

income net in 2011 as compared with 2010 largely reflects an

approximately $55 million net year-over-year increased gain

resulting from Carriers ongoing portfolio transformation $41

million gain from the sale of an equity investment at Pratt

Whitney $73 million gain on the contribution of Sikorsky

business into new venture in the United Arab Emirates

$123 million increase in income from joint ventures $79

million in other net gains from divestitures as well as the

absence of the $159 million other-than-temporary impairment

charge of our equity investment in Clipper all of which was

partially offset by $66 million other-than-temporary

impairment charge on an equity investment at UTC Fire

Security and $45 million of reserves established for legal

matters

The year-over-year change in other income net in 2010 as

compared with 2009 largely reflects $159 million other-

than-temporary impairment charge recorded in 2010 on our

then equity investment in Clipper in order to bring the

investment to market value the absence of an approximately

$60 million gain recognized in 2009 from the contribution of

the majority of Carriers US Residential Sales and Distribution

business into new venture the absence of $52 million gain

recognized in 2009 at Otis on the re-measurement to fair

value of an interest in joint venture as well as the absence of

gains from 2009 related to business divestiture activity

across the company The decline in other income net year-

over-year also reflects the adverse impact from an

approximately $30 million valuation allowance charge

recorded in 2010 related to an unconsolidated foreign

venture at Carrier equity losses associated with our recently

acquired Clipper business and costs associated with the early

extinguishment of debt in 2010 These adverse impacts were

partially offset by $21 million non-taxable gain recognized in

the fourth quarter of 2010 on the re-measurement to fair

value of our previously held equity interest in Clipper

resulting from the purchase of controlling interest

Interest Expense Net

Interest expense 673 750 $705

Interest income 179 002 88

Interest expense net $494 $648 617

Average interest expense rate during the year on

Short-term borrowings 2.0% 1.8% 3.1%

Total debt 5.6% 5.6% 5.8%

2011 2010 2009

Interest expense decreased in 2011 as compared with 2010

primarily as result of the full year absence of interest

associated with the repayment and early redemptions of

long-term debt in 2010 and the absence of interest expense

on long-term debt that was redeemed early in 2011 partially

offset by the full year interest incurred on long-term debt

issued in 2010 Interest expense on our long-term debt

decreased as result of the repayment at maturity in May

2010 of our $600 million of 4.375% notes due 2010 the early

redemption in June 2010 of the entire $500 million

outstanding principal amount of our 7.125% notes that would

have otherwise been due November 2010 and the early

redemption in September 2010 of the entire $500 million

outstanding principal amount of our 6.350% notes that would

have otherwise been due March 2011 and as result of the

early redemption in December 2011 of the entire $500 million

outstanding principal amount of our 6.100% notes that would

otherwise have been due May 15 2012 This impact was

partially offset by the full year impact from the issuance of

two series of fixed rate long-term notes totaling $2.25 billion

in February 2010 Lower interest charges related to our

deferred compensation plan and lower interest accrued on

unrecognized tax benefits also contributed to the overall

interest expense decline Interest income increased in 2011 as

compared with 2010 as result of favorable pre-tax interest

adjustments of approximately $89 million related to the

settlement of U.S federal income tax refund claims for years

prior to 2004 partially offset by the absence of favorable

pre-tax interest adjustment of approximately $24 million

associated with the resolution of an uncertain temporary tax

item in the second quarter of 2010

The increase in interest expense in 2010 as compared with

2009 largely reflects the impact of long-term debt issuances

during the course of the year partially offset by the absence

of interest associated with the early redemption and

repayment of long-term debt in 2010 Interest expense on our

long-term debt increased as result of the issuance of two

series of fixed rate long-term notes totaling $2.25 billion in

February 2010 see further discussion in the Liquidity and

Financial Condition section This impact was partially offset

by the absence of interest associated with the repayment at

maturity in May 2010 of our $600 million of 4.375% notes due

2010 the early redemption in June 2010 of the entire $500

million outstanding principal amount of our 7.125% notes that

would have otherwise been due November 2010 and the

early redemption in September 2010 of the entire $500

million outstanding principal amount of our 6.350% notes that

would have otherwise been due March 2011 Aside from the

impact of debt repayments and redemptions noted above

the additional interest associated with the issuance of the

long-term debt in February 2010 was also partially offset by

the absence of interest related to the repayment in June

2009 of our $400 million 6.500% notes due 2009 Interest

expense also reflects the lower cost associated with our

commercial paper borrowings Interest income in 2010

includes favorable pre-tax interest adjustment of

approximately $24 million associated with the resolution of

an uncertain temporary tax item in the second quarter

Other Income Net

Dollars miIloss
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The weighted-average interest rate applicable to debt

outstanding at December 31 2011 was 1.5% for short-term

borrowings and 5.6% for total debt as compared to 6.3% and

5.9% respectively at December 31 2010 The decline in the

weighted-average interest rates for short-term borrowings

was due to the $455 million of commercial paper borrowings

outstanding at December 31 2011 which carries favorable

interest rates There were no commercial paper borrowings

outstanding at December 31 2010 The three month LIBOR

rate as of December 31 2011 was 0.6% and 0.3% as of both

December 31 2010 and 2009

Income Taxes

2011 2010 2009

Effective income tax rate 29.3% 27.9% 27.4%

The effective income tax rates for 2011 2010 and 2009 reflect

tax benefits associated with lower tax rates on international

earnings which we intend to permanently reinvest outside

the United States The 2011 effective income tax rate

increased as compared to 2010 due to the absence of the

repatriation of highly taxed dividends which had net

favorable impact in 2010 The 2011 effective tax rate reflects

approximately $63 million of favorable income tax

adjustments related to the settlement of two refund claims

for years prior to 2004 as well as favorable tax impact of

$17 million related to U.K tax rate reduction enacted in 2011

These favorable tax adjustments are partially offset by

non-deductible charges accrued in 2011

The 2010 effective income tax rate reflects non-recurring

tax expense reduction associated with managements

decision to repatriate additional high tax dividends from 2010

earnings to the U.S as result of U.S tax legislation enacted

in 2010 This was partially offset by the non-deductibility of

impairment charges the adverse impact from the health care

legislation related to the Medicare Part program and other

increases to UTCs effective income tax rate

The 2009 effective income tax rate reflects approximately

$38 million of tax expense reductions relating to re-evaluation

of our liabilities and contingencies based on global

examination activity during the year including the Internal

Revenue Services IRS completion of 2004 and 2005

examination fieldwork and our related protest filing As

result of the global examination activity we recognized

approximately $18 million of associated pre-tax interest

income adjustments during 2009

We estimate our full year annual effective income tax rate in

2012 excluding the impact of the acquisition of Goodrich to

be approximately 29.5% absent one-time adjustments and

contingent upon the release of valuation allowances resulting

from potential internal reorganizations These internal

reorganizations are separate from the creation of the UTC

Climate Controls Security and the UTC Propulsion

Aerospace Systems organizations as described above and

are component of our ongoing efforts to improve business

efficiency We anticipate variability in the tax rate quarter to

quarter with lower rates likely to occur in the second half of

2012 primarily due to the realization of tax benefits

associated with these potential internal reorganizations

which if completed would be recognized in the second half

of 2012

For additional discussion of income taxes see Critical

Accounting EstimatesIncome Taxes and Note 10 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

Net Income and Earnings Per Share

Net income $5374 4711 4179

Less Noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries

earnings 395 338 350

Net income attributable to common

shareowners $4979 $4373 $3829

Diluted earnings per share 5.49 4.74 4.12

Foreign currency translation inclusive of the net hedging

impact at Pratt Whitney Canada PWC generated net

positive impact of $11 per diluted share on our operational

performance in 2011 At PWC the weakness of the

U.S Dollar against the Canadian Dollar during 2011 generated

an adverse foreign currency translation impact as the

majority of PWCs sales are denominated in U.S Dollars

while significant portion of its costs are incurred in local

currencies To help mitigate the volatility of foreign currency

exchange rates on our operating results we maintain foreign

currency hedging programs the majority of which are

entered into by PWC As result of hedging programs

currently in place PWCs 2012 full year operating results are

expected to include net adverse impact of foreign currency

translation and hedging of approximately $50 million In 2010

foreign currency generated net positive impact on our

operational results of $12 per diluted share while in 2009

foreign currency had an adverse impact of $.22 per diluted

share For additional discussion of foreign currency exposure

see Market Risk and Risk ManagementForeign Currency

Exposures

Diluted earnings per share for 2011 include net charge of

$04 per share from net restructuring and non-recurring

items Besides the restructuring charges of $336 million

non-recurring items included approximately $152 million of

favorable pre-tax interest and income tax adjustments related

to the settlement of U.S federal income tax refund claims for

years prior to 2004 approximately $109 million of net gains

resulting from Carriers ongoing portfolio transformation

approximately $73 million gain recognized from the

contribution of business into new venture in the United

Arab Emirates at Sikorsky approximately $66 million of

other-than-temporary impairment charges on an equity

investment at UTC Fire Security approximately $45 million

of reserves established for legal matters gain of

approximately $41 million recognized from the sale of an

equity investment at Pratt Whitney and favorable tax

benefit of approximately $17 million as result of U.K tax

rate reduction enacted in July 2011

Dollars in millions except per share amounts 2011 2OtD 2009
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RESTRUCTURING COSTS

We recorded net pre-tax restructuring costs totaling $336

million in 2011 and $443 million in 2010 for new and ongoing

restructuring actions We recorded these charges in the

segments as follows

DoISrs fl rIIiors 2011 2010

Otis $73 $83

Carrier 46 75

UTC Fire Security 80 78

Pratt Whitney 67 138

Hamilton Sundstrand 16 37

Sikorsky 53 14

Eliminations and other 18

Total $336 $443

The 2011 charges consist of $180 million in cost of sales $154

million in selling general and administrative expenses and $2

million in other income net and as described below

primarily relate to actions initiated during 2011 and 2010 The

2010 charges consist of $283 million in cost of sales $159

million in selling general and administrative expenses and $1

million in other income net The 2010 restructuring costs

reflected in Eliminations and other largely reflect curtailment

charges required under our domestic pension plans due to

the significant headcount reductions associated with the

various restructuring actions The 2010 charges relate

principally to actions initiated during 2010 and 2009

Restructuring actions are an essential component of our

operating margin improvement efforts and relate to both

existing operations and those recently acquired We expect

to incur additional restructuring costs in 2012 of at least $150

million to $200 million including trailing costs related to prior

actions associated with our continuing cost reduction efforts

and to the integration of acquisitions The expected adverse

impact on earnings in 2012 from anticipated additional

restructuring costs is expected to be offset by the beneficial

impact from non-recurring items Although no specific plans

for significant actions have been finalized at this time we

continue to closely monitor the economic environment and

may undertake further restructuring actions to keep our cost

structure aligned with the demands of the prevailing market

conditions

2011 Actions During 2011 we initiated restructuring actions

relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts including

workforce reductions and consolidation of field operations

We recorded net pre-tax restructuring charges totaling $286

million as follows Otis $76 million Carrier $31 million UTC

Fire Security $62 million Pratt Whitney $52 million

Hamilton Sundstrand $13 million Sikorsky $51 million and

Eliminations and other $1 million The charges consist of $136

million in cost of sales $147 million in selling general and

administrative expenses and $3 million in other income net

Those costs consist of $259 million for severance and related

employee termination costs $4 million for asset write-downs

and $23 million for facility exit lease termination and other

related costs

We expect the actions initiated in 2011 once fully complete

to result in net workforce reductions of approximately 5000

hourly and salaried employees the exiting of approximately

million net square feet of facilities and the disposal of assets

associated with the exited facilities As of December 31 2011

we have completed with respect to the actions initiated in

2011 net workforce reductions of approximately 2200

employees and 50000 net square feet of facilities have been

exited We are targeting to complete in 2012 the majority of

the remaining workforce and facility related cost reduction

actions initiated in 2011 Approximately 85% of the total

pre-tax charge will require cash payments which we have

and expect to continue to fund with cash clenerated from

operations During 2011 we had cash outflows of

approximately $102 million related to the 2011 actions We

expect to incur additional restructuring and other charges of

$82 million to complete these actions We expect recurring

pre-tax savings to increase over the two-year period

subsequent to initiating the actions to appoximately $300

million annually of which approximately $59 million was

realized in 2011

2010 Actions During 2011 we recorded net pre-tax

restructuring charges of $55 million for actions initiated in

2010 The 2010 actions relate to ongoing cost reduction

efforts including workforce reductions and the consolidation

of field operations We recorded the charges in 2011 as

follows Carrier $19 million UTC Fire Security $23 million

Pratt Whitney $8 million Hamilton Sundstrand $3 million

and Sikorsky $2 million The charges consist of $36 million in

cost of sales and $19 million in selling general and

administrative expenses Those costs consisted of $9 million

for severance and related employee termirtation costs $11

million for asset write-downs and $35 million for facility exit

lease termination and other related costs

We expect the actions initiated in 2010 once fully completed

to result in net workforce reductions of approximately 5000

hourly and salaried employees the exiting of approximately

3.9 million net square feet of facilities and the disposal of

assets associated with the exited facilities As of December 31

2011 we have completed with respect to the actions initiated

in 2010 net workforce reductions of approximately 4000

employees and exited 2.5 million net square feet of facilities

We are targeting to complete in 2012 the majority of the

remaining workforce and all facility related cost reduction

actions initiated in 2010 Approximately 80% of the total

pre-tax charge will require cash payments which we have

and expect to continue to fund with cash generated from

operations During 2011 we had cash outflows of

approximately $194 million related to the 2010 actions We

expect to incur additional restructuring charges of $21 million

to complete these actions We expect recurring pre-tax

savings to increase over the two-year period subsequent to

initiating the actions to approximately $350 million annually

For additional discussion of restructuring see Note 12 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements
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SEGMENT REVIEW

NET SALES OPERATING PROFITS OPERATFhG PROFIT MARGIN

Dollars is rrriiloss 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Otis $12437 11579 11723 2815 $2575 $2447 22.6% 22.2% 20.9%

Carrier 11969 11386 11335 1520 1062 740 12.7% 9.3% 6.5%

UTC Fire Security 6895 6490 5503 692 714 493 10.0% 8.0% 9.0%

Pratt Whitney 13430 12935 12392 1999 1987 1835 14.9% 15.4% 14.8%

Hamilton Sundstrand 6150 5608 5560 1082 918 857 17.6% 16.4% 15.4%

Sikorsky 7355 6684 6267 840 716 608 11.4% 10.7% 9.7%

Total segment 58236 54682 52800 8948 7972 6980 15.4% 14.6% 13.2%

Eliminations and other 46 356 375 430 409 255

General corporate expenses 419 377 348

Consolidated $58190 $54326 $52425 $8099 $7186 $6377 13.9% 13.2% 12.2%

Commercial Businesses 2010 Otis new equipment orders in China were strong for

The financial performance of our commercial businesses Can the year 28%but slowed during the fourth quarter to 13%

be influenced by number of external factors including Organic sales growth within our commercial businesses was

fluctuations in residential and commercial construction led by Carrier 9% in 2011 principally on strength in the

activity regulatory changes interest rates labor costs
transport refrigeration markets

foreign currency exchange rates customer attrition raw

material and energy costs credit markets and other global In 2011 72% of total commercial business sales were

and political factors Carriers financial performance can also generated outside the United States including U.S export

be influenced by production and utilization of transport sales as compared to 71% in 2010 The following table shows

equipment and for its residential business weather sales generated outside the U.S including U.S export sales

conditions Geographic and industry diversity across the for each of the commercial business segments

commercial businesses help to balance the impact of such

factors on our consolidated operating results particularly in 2011 201O

the face of uneven economic growth During 2011 we saw
Otis 83.4 820

strong but moderating growth in the emerging markets with
Carrier 58% 56%

combined orders in Brazil Russia India and China increasing
UTC Fire Security 77%

19% in 2011 as compared with 2010 and tapering to 8% in the

fourth quarter of 2011 as compared to the same period in

Otis is the worlds largest elevator and escalator manufacturing installation and service company Otis designs manufactures

sells and installs wide range of passenger and freight elevators for low- medium- and high-speed applications as well as

broad line of escalators and moving walkways In addition to new equipment Otis provides modernization products to upgrade

elevators and escalators as well as maintenance and repair services for both its products and those of other manufacturers

Otis serves customers in the commercial and residential property industries around the world Otis sells directly to the end

customer and through sales representatives and distributors

2011 Compared with 2010 2010 Compared with 2009

Dollars or mdtoss 2011 2010 2009

Net Sales $12437 $11579 $11723 $858 7% 144 1%
Cost of Sales 8090 7540 7830 550 7% 290 4%

4347 4039 3893

Operating Expenses and Other 1532 1464 1446

Operating Profits 2815 2575 $2447 $240 9% 128

TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR FOR

2011 ANNUAL REPORT 35



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FACTDRS CONTRIBUTING TO TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR IN

2011 2010

Operating Operating

Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits

Organic Operational 2% 2% 2% 3% 5%
Foreign currency translation 4% 4% 5% 1%
Acquisitions and divestitures net 1% 1%

Restructuring costs 1%
Other 2% 3%
Total change 7% 7% 9% 1% 4%

2011 Compared with 2010 2010 Compared with 2009

The organic sales increase 2% in the year was due to higher The organic sales decline 3% was due to decrease in new

new equipment sales volume in China Russia and Brazil equipment sales volume as result of lower opening backlog

combined 3% partially offset by declines in North America entering the year partially offset by strong volume rebound

1% Increased contractual maintenance and repair volume in China The decrease in new equipment sales was partially

across all regions was offset by decline in modernization offset by continued growth in the contractual maintenance

volume in Europe New equipment orders improved 15% business New equipment orders improved 7% versus the

versus the prior year led by strong order growth in China prior year led by strong order growth in China Selling prices

Selling prices remained under pressure remained under pressure in most markets

The operational profit improvement 2% in the period was Operational profit improvement 6% resulted from higher

due to higher new equipment volume increases in maintenance volume and ongoing cost reduction activities

contractual maintenance and repair services and the benefits which more than offset the impact of lower new equipment

of ongoing cost reduction initiatives partially offset by lower volume and pricing Ongoing cost reducticn activities also

pricing the impact of higher commodity costs and lower contributed to the 5% reduction in cost of sales The decrease

modernization volume in Europe contributed by Other primarily reflects the absence of $52

million gain recognized in 2009 on the re-measurement to

fair value of previously held equity interest in joint venture

resulting from the purchase of controlling interest

Carrier is the leading provider of HVAC and refrigeration solutions including controls for residential commericial industrial and

transportation applications In 2011 Carrier continued to execute the business transformation strategy it began in 2008 by

completing divestitures of several non-core businesses and taking noncontrolling equity interests in various ventures This

included taking noncontrolling equity interest in new South American venture in exchange for the contribution of Carriers

existing HVAC operations in Brazil Argentina and Chile to the new venture which manufactures and distribLtes HVAC

products in those countries Carriers products and services are sold under Carrier and other brand names to building

contractors and owners homeowners transportation companies retail stores and food service companies Carrier sells directly

to the end customer and through manufacturers representatives distributors wholesalers dealers and retail outlets Certain of

Carriers HVAC businesses are seasonal and can be impacted by weather Carrier customarily offers its customers incentives to

purchase products to ensure an adequate supply of its products in the distribution channels The principal incentive program

provides reimbursements to distributors for offering promotional pricing on Carrier products We account for incentive

payments made as reduction to sales

In September 2011 to better serve customers and to drive growth and achieve efficiencies through greater integration across

certain product lines we announced new organizational structure which combines Carrier with UTC Fire Security into new

segment called UTC Climate Controls Security This new segment will report combined financial and operational results

beginning with the first quarter of 2012

TOTAL CHANGE YEAROVER-YEAR FOR

2010 Cornpawd with 2009

1%

tDnllars ri millions

2011 Compared with 2010

2011 2010 2009

Net Sales $11969 $11386 $11335 $583 5% 51

Cost of Sales 9246 8850 8923 396 4% 73

2723 2536 2.412

Operating Expenses and Other 1203 1474 1672

Operating Profits 1520 $1062 740 $458 43% $322 44
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2011 Compared with 2010

Organic sales growth was 9% with the recovery in the

transport refrigeration market providing the most significant

contribution The 6% decrease in Acquisitions and

divestitures net reflects the net impact from acquisitions

and the business transformation actions completed in the

preceding twelve months as part of Carriers ongoing

portfolio transformation initiative

The operational profit improvement of 27% was driven by

strong conversion on organic sales growth particularly in the

higher margin transport refrigeration business lower bad

debt expense and earnings improvement in Carriers joint

venture in Japan 4% This was partially offset by higher net

commodity costs 9% The 14% increase in Other primarily

reflects the year-over-year impact of net gains associated

with Carriers ongoing portfolio transformation This includes

an approximately $80 million gain recorded in 2011 as result

of the contribution of Carriers heating ventilating and

air-conditioning operations in Brazil Argentina and Chile into

new venture controlled by Midea Group of China Also

included in Other is the absence of an asset impairment

charge in 2010 of approximately $58 million reflected in cost

of sales associated with the disposition of business

2010 Compared with 2009

Organic sales growth of 6% was driven primarily by

improvement in the transport refrigeration and Asian and

Latin America HVAC markets partially offset by decline in

the European commercial HVAC equipment markets The 7%

decrease contributed by Acquisitions and divestitures net

in 2010 primarily reflects the net year-over-year impact from

the disposition of businesses and the global formation of

non-controlling ventures as part of Carriers ongoing portfolio

transformation initiative

Incremental profits resulting from sales of higher margin

products particularly in the transport refrigeration business

combined with the carry-over benefits of operating cost

reduction and restructuring combined 54% were partially

offset by increased commodity costs and adverse pricing

17% to contribute to the high operational profit

improvement of 39% The decrease contributed by Other
primarily reflects the year-over-year net impact of gains and

losses resulting from dispositions associated with Carriers

ongoing portfolio transformation This includes an

approximately $58 million asset impairment charge in 2010

associated with disposition activity as well as the absence of

an approximately $60 million gain recognized in 2009 from

the contribution of the majority of Carriers U.S Residential

Sales and Distribution business into new venture formed

with Watsco Inc

UTC Fire Security is global provider of security and fire safety products and services UTC Fire Security provides

electronic security products such as intruder alarms access control systems and video surveillance systems and designs and

manufactures wide range of fire safety products including specialty hazard detection and fixed suppression products

portable fire extinguishers fire detection and life safety systems and other firefighting equipment Services provided to the

electronic security and fire safety industries include systems integration video surveillance installation maintenance and

inspection services UTC Fire Security also provides monitoring response and security personnel services including

cash-in-transit security to complement its electronic security and fire safety businesses UTC Fire Security products and

services are used by governments financial institutions architects building owners and developers security and fire

consultants homeowners and other end-users requiring high level of security and fire protection for their businesses and

residences UTC Fire Security provides its products and services under Chubb Kidde and other brand names and sells

directly to the customer as well as through manufacturer representatives distributors dealers and U.S retail distribution

In 2010 we completed the acquisition of the GE Security business from GE With the acquisition of GE Security UTC
strengthened its portfolio of security and fire safety technologies for commercial and residential applications including fire

detection and life safety systems intrusion alarms video surveillance and access control systems while also significantly

enhancing UTC Fire Securitys North American presence In 2011 we continued to exit non-core businesses including the

divestiture of our U.K and Singapore guarding businesses

Organic Operational

Foreign currency translation

Acquisitions and divestitures net

Restructuring costs

Other
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2011 Compared with 2010

Organically the 2% growth in sales was driven by increased

volumes in the products businesses while the service and

install businesses remained flat Geographically the organic

growth was driven by stronger volume in the product

businesses partially offset by declines in the U.K and U.S

service businesses

The operational profit decline 8% reflects lower margins on

projects and unfavorable sales mix led by the U.K on lower

sales and productivity with partial offset from the benefits

from higher sales volume and cost reductions The increase

contributed by Other was primarily related to the favorable

resolution of litigation and gains on the dispositions of U.K

security businesses which were largely offset by $66 million

other-than-temporary impairment charge recorded on an

equity investment in Asia in 2011

2010 Compared with 2009

Organically the 3% sales contraction was driven by declines

in the service and install businesses while the products

businesses were flat year-over-year Geographically the

service and install businesses experienced weakness in

Europe and the Americas in 2010 as result of poor

economic conditions partially offset by growth in Asia The

increase contributed by Acquisitions and divestitures net

reflects the net year-over-year impact from acquisition and

divestitures completed in the preceding twelve months led

by the acquisition in March 2010 of the GE Security business

The organic cost of sales decline 4% exceeded the organic

sales decline 3% generating incremental profits from the

benefits of integrating operations productivity initiatives and

the benefits of prior restructuring actions taken which were

partially offset by the impact of organic volume contraction

The increase contributed by Acquisitions and divestitures

net primarily reflects the acquisition in March 2010 of the GE

Security business

In September 2011 to better serve customers and to drive growth and achieve efficiencies through greater integration across

certain product lines we announced new organizational structure which combines UTC Fire Security with Carrier into new

segment called UTC Climate Controls Security This new segment will report combined financial and operational results

beginning with the first quarter of 2012

TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR FOR

2011 Compared with 2010 2010 Compared w9h 2009

Dollars milSons 2011 2010 2009

Net Sales $6895 $6490 $5503 $405 $987 18%

cost of Sales 4603 4308 3831 295 477 12%

2292 2182 1672

Operating Expenses and Other 1600 1468 1179

Operating Profits 692 714 493 $22 3% 221 45%

FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR IN

2011 2010

Operating
Operating

Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits

OrganiC Operational 8% 3% 4% 2%

Foreign currency translation
2%

Acquisitions and divestitures net 19 15 34%

Restructuring costs
7%

Other 1% 1%

Total change
3% 18 12 45%
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Aerospace Businesses

The financial performance of Pratt Whitney Hamilton

Sundstrand and Sikorsky is directly tied to the economic

conditions of the commercial aerospace and defense

aerospace industries In particular Pratt Whitney

experiences intense competition for new commercial

airframe/engine combinations Engine suppliers may offer

substantial discounts and other financial incentives

performance and operating cost guarantees participation in

financing arrangements and maintenance agreements At

times the aerospace businesses also enter into development

programs and firm fixed-price development contracts which

may require the company to bear cost overruns related to

unforeseen technical and design challenges that arise during

the development stage of the program Customer selections

of engines and components can also have significant impact

on later sales of parts and service Predicted traffic levels load

factors worldwide airline profits general economic activity

and global defense spending have been reliable indicators for

new aircraft and aftermarket orders within the aerospace

industry Spare part sales and aftermarket service trends are

affected by many factors including usage technological

improvements pricing regulatory changes and the retirement

of older aircraft Performance in the general aviation sector is

closely tied to the overall health of the economy and is

positively correlated to corporate profits

The commercial airline industry rebounded in 2010 and

remained strong through 2011 Airline traffic as measured by

revenue passenger miles RPM5 grew in 2011 as compared

with 2010 and we expect RPMs will continue to grow between

4% and 6% in 2012 Although airlines have generally returned

to profitability high fuel prices continue to challenge the

airlines to consider the need for more fuel efficient aircraft We
incurred significant investment in engineering and

development in 2011 and expect continued significant

investment in 2012 primarily at Pratt Whitney as we
continue to develop four separate geared turbofan platforms

to meet demand for new engines which are fuel efficient and

have reduced noise levels and exhaust emissions We also saw

favorable trend in commercial aftermarket growth

during 2011 as airlines were adding capacity to their fleets

leading to additional overhaul and repair maintenance

requirements Orders of short cycle commercial aerospace

spares grew year-over-year with 8% growth in Pratt

Whitneys large commercial spares orders and 22% increase

in Hamilton Sundstrands commercial spares orders These

increases in order rates have led to corresponding increase

in commercial aerospace aftermarket volume at both Pratt

Whitney and Hamilton Sundstrand Accordingly consolidated

commercial aerospace aftermarket sales increased 13% in 2011

as compared to 2010 We do not expect the aftermarket sales

growth rates seen in 2011 to continue in 2012 The overall

business jet market has begun to recover during 2011

particularly within the long-range large business aircraft

market The small to mid-size business jet market recovery has

been slow but is expected to continue to improve during 2012

Sales growth at Sikorsky during 2011 compared with 2010

was driven by higher international military aircraft shipments

and aftermarket support activity Sikorsky continued to

benefit from U.S government spending with approximately

85% of Sikorskys 2011 helicopter deliveries based on military

platforms Commercial helicopter aftermarket sales volumes

increased 18% which were partially offset by lower

commercial deliveries in 2011 compared with 2010 We have

seen renewed interest in helicopter demand in support of

oil operations and have taken orders for more than 20 S-92

helicopters during the fourth quarter of 2011

Deficit reduction measures considered by the U.S

government are expected to pressure the U.S Department of

Defense budget in the coming years resulting in decline in

U.S Department of Defense spending Total sales to the U.S

government of $9.8 billion in 2011 $9.9 billion in 2010 and

$9.3 billion in 2009 were 17% of total UTC sales in 2011 and

18% both 2010 and 2009 The defense portion of our

aerospace business is affected by changes in market demand

and the global political environment Our participation in

long-term production and development programs for the U.S

government has contributed positively to our results in 2011

and is expected to continue to benefit results in 2012

Pratt Whitney is among the worlds leading suppliers of aircraft engines for the commercial military business jet and general

aviation markets Pratt Whitney Global Services provides maintenance repair and overhaul services including the sale of

spare parts as well as fleet management services for large commercial engines Pratt Whitney produces families of engines

for wide and narrow body aircraft in the commercial market and fighter and transport aircraft in the military market PWC is

world leader in the production of engines powering business regional light jet utility and military airplanes and helicopters and

provides related maintenance repair and overhaul services including sale of spare parts as well as fleet management services

Pratt Whitney Rocketdyne PWR is leader in the design development and manufacture of sophisticated space propulsion

systems for military and commercial applications Pratt Whitney Power Systems sells aero-derivative engines for industrial

applications Pratt Whitneys products are sold principally to aircraft manufacturers airlines and other aircraft operators

aircraft leasing companies space launch vehicle providers and the U.S and foreign governments Pratt Whitneys products

and services must adhere to strict regulatory and market-driven safety and performance standards The frequently changing

nature of these standards along with the long duration of aircraft engine development production and support programs
creates uncertainty regarding engine program profitability The vast majority of sales are made directly to the end customer

and to limited extent through independent distributors and foreign sales representatives

Pratt Whitney is currently developing technology intended to enable it to power proposed and future aircraft including the

PurePower PW1000G Geared TurboFan engine The PurePower PW1000G engine targets significant reduction in fuel burn

and noise levels with lower environmental emissions and operating costs than current production engines In December 2010
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Airbus announced that it will offer version of the PurePower PW1000G engine as new engine option to power its A32Oneo

family of aircraft scheduled to enter service in 2015 Additionally PurePower PW1000G engine models have been selected by

Bombardier to power the new CSeries passenger aircraft and by Mitsubishi Aircraft Corporation to power the new Mitsubishi

Regional Jet MRJ scheduled to enter into service in 2013 and 2014 respectively lrkut Corporation of Russia has also selected

the PurePower PW1000G engine to power the proposed new Irkut MC-21 passenger aircraft which is scheduled to enter into

service in 2016 The success of these aircraft and the PurePower PW1000G family of engines is dependent upon many factors

including technological challenges aircraft demand and regulatory approval Based on these factors as well as the level of

success of aircraft program launches by aircraft manufacturers and other conditions additional investment in the PurePower

program is expected in 2012 and beyond

In view of the risks and costs associated with developing new engines Pratt Whitney has entered into collaboration

arrangements in which sales costs and risks are shared In September 2011 Pratt Whitney announced new collaboration

with Japan Aero Engines Corporation JAEC and MTU Aero Engines AG MTU to collaborate to provide the PurePower

PW1100G-JM engine for the Airbus A32Oneo program At December 31 2011 the interests of third party participants in Pratt

Whitney-directed commercial jet engine programs ranged from 14 percent to 48 percent In addition Pratt Whitney has

interests in other engine programs including the IAE collaboration which sells and supports V2500 engines for the Airbus

A320 family of aircraft On October12 2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce participant in the IAE collaboration announced

an agreement to restructure their interests in IAE Under the terms of the agreement Rolls-Royce will sell its interests in IAE

and license its V2500 intellectual property in IAE to Pratt Whitney for $1.5 billion plus an agreed payment contingent on each

hour flown by V2500-powered aircraft in service at the closing date during the fifteen year period following closing of the

transaction Consummation of this restructuring is subject to regulatory approvals and closing conditions Also on October 12

2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce announced an agreement to form new joint venture in which each will hold an equal

share to develop new engines to power the next generation of 120 to 230 passenger mid-size aircraft that will replace the

existing fleet of mid-size aircraft currently in service or in development With this new joint venture Pratt Whitney and Rolls-

Royce will focus on high-bypass ratio geared turbofan technology as well as collaborate on future studies of next generation

propulsion systems Pursuant to the agreement the formation of this new venture is subject to regulatory approvals and

closing conditions including completion of the restructuring of the parties interests in IAE We expect the restructuring of the

parties interests in IAE to be completed in mid-2012 The closing of the new joint venture may take substantially longer

period of time to complete Pratt Whitney also has 50 percent ownership interest in the Engine Alliance EA loint

venture with GE Aviation which markets and manufactures the GP7000 engine for the Airbus A380 aircraft Pratt Whitney

has entered into risk and revenue sharing arrangements with third parties for 40 percent of the content that Pratt Whitney is

responsible for providing to the EA Pratt Whitney accounts for its interests in the EA joint venture under the equity method

of accounting Pratt Whitney continues to pursue additional collaboration partners

In September 2011 to better serve customers and to drive growth and achieve efficiencies through greater integration across

certain product lines we announced new organizational structure As part of this new structure we created UTC Propulsion

Aerospace Systems new organization consisting of Pratt Whitney and Hamilton Sundstrand Pratt Whitney and Hamilton

Sundstrand will continue to report their financial and operational results as separate segments

TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR FOR

2011 Compared with 2010 2010 Corripared with 2009

Dollars in wthoss 2011 2010 2009

Net Saies $13430 $12935 $12392 $495 4% $543 4%

cost of Saies 9805 9622 9342 183 2% 280 3%

3625 3313 3050

Operating Expenses and Other 1626 1326 1215

Operating Profits 1999 1987 1835 12 1% 152 8%

FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR iN

2011 2010

Operating Operating

Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits Net Saies Cost of Sales Profits

Organic Operationai 3% 2% 3%
Foreign currency inciuding wc net hedging 1% 1% 2% 4% 1%

Restructuring costs 1%

Other
1%

Total change 2% 4% 3%

As discussed further in the Business Overview and Results of Operations sections for Pratt whitney only the transactional impact of foreign eschange hedging

at pwc has been netted against the translational foreign exchange impact for presentation purposes in the above table For all other segments these foreign

excharrge transactional impacts are included within the organic sales/operational operating profit caption in their respective tables Due to its significance to Pratt

whitneys overall operating results we believe it is useful to segregate the foreign eschange transactional impact in order to clearly identify the underlying financial

performance
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2011 Compared with 2010

Organic sales growth 5% was driven by growth in the large

commercial engine business 5% higher spares volume

across the business combined 2% and higher industrial

volume at Pratt Whitney Power Systems 1% These

increases were partially offset by lower military engine sales

The impact from foreign currency reflects the unfavorable

transactional impact of foreign exchange hedging at PWC
1%

The operational profit decline 3% primarily reflects higher

year-over-year research and development costs 11%
unfavorable commercial engine business mix and fewer

military engine business deliveries combined 6% partially

offset by higher commercial spares volume 10%
Additionally gains recorded on contract settlements and

contract close-outs were offset in part by losses incurred as

result of increased airline industry exposures during the

year combined 4% The 2% contributed by Other primarily

reflects the gain on sale of an equity investment

2010 Compared with 2009

Organic sales were essentially flat year-over-year Growth in

the large commercial engine business 4% driven by higher

commercial spares and aftermarket sales volumes and an

increase in the military engine business 1% on higher engine

deliveries were mostly offset by lower sales at PWC
2% due to decreased engine sales volume and decline at

Pratt Whitney Power Systems 2% from lower industrial

sales volumes The impact from foreign currency

4% reflects the beneficial transactional impact of foreign

exchange hedging at PWC

The operational profit decline 3% primarily reflects higher

year-over-year research and development costs Lower

profits at PWC 9% driven by decreased engine sales

volumes were offset by higher profit contribution from the

large commercial engine business 6% driven by higher

commercial spares and aftermarket sales volumes and an

increase in the military engine business 3%

Hamilton Sundstrand is among the worlds leading suppliers of technologically advanced aerospace and industrial products

and aftermarket services for diversified industries worldwide Hamilton Sundstrands aerospace products such as power

generation management and distribution systems flight control systems engine control systems environmental control

systems fire protection and detection systems auxiliary power units and propeller systems serve commercial military

regional business and general aviation as well as military ground vehicle space and undersea applications Aftermarket

services include spare parts overhaul and repair engineering and technical support and fleet maintenance programs Hamilton

Sundstrand sells aerospace products to airframe manufacturers the U.S and foreign governments aircraft operators and

independent distributors Hamilton Sundstrands principal industrial products such as air compressors metering pumps and

heavy duty process pumps serve industries involved with chemical and hydrocarbon processing oil and gas production water

and wastewater treatment and construction Hamilton Sundstrand sells these products under the Sullair Sundyne Milton Roy
and other brand names directly to end users and through manufacturer representatives and distributors

In September 2011 to better serve customers and drive to growth and achieve efficiencies through greater integration across

certain product lines we announced new organizational structure As part of this new structure we created UTC Propulsion

Aerospace Systems new organization consisting of Pratt Whitney and Hamilton Sundstrand Pratt Whitney and Hamilton

Sundstrand will continue to report their financial and operational results as separate segments

TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OvER-YEAR FOR

2011 Compared with 2010 2010 Conrpared wIth 2009

Dollars mdlorrs 2011 2010 2009

Net Sales $6150 $5608 $5560 $542 10% $48 1%

Cost of Sales 4292 3.881 3893 411 11% 12

1858 1727 1.667

Operating Expenses and Other 776 809 810

Operating Profits $1082 918 857 $164 18% 61 7%

FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR IN

2011 2010

Operating Operating

Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits

Organic Operational 9% 12 12 1%

Foreign currency translation 1% 1% 11%

Acquisitions and divestitures net 1% 1%
Restructuring costs

Other 1% 6%
Total change 10% 11 18 1%
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2011 Compared with 2010

The organic sales growth 9% reflects higher volumes in

both the aerospace 6% and the industrial 3% businesses

The increase within aerospace was driven by higher

aftermarket volume 5% primarily commercial spares The

industrials businesses increase was led by the compressor

business as result of volume increases in the manufacturing

and energy sectors particularly in the U.S and Asia The

organic Cost of sales growth 12% exceeded the organic

sales growth due largely to adverse mix within aerospace

OEM and higher warranty costs

The increase in operational profit 12% reflects an increase in

both the aerospace 7% and the industrial 5% businesses

The growth within aerospace reflects higher commercial

spares volume partially offset by adverse mix within OEM
including reduction in military ground vehicle volumes and

an increase in volume of lower margin commercial programs

Also operational profit growth reflects the benefit of lower

research and development costs 3% offset by higher

warranty costs 4% The increase within the industrial

businesses reflect the benefit of higher volume and cost

reduction initiatives The increase contributed by Other

primarily reflects the absence of approximately $28 million of

asset impairment charges recorded in the second quarter of

2010 These charges related primarily to the disposition of an

aerospace business as part of Hamilton Sundstrands efforts

to implement low cost sourcing initiatives

2010 Compared with 2009

The organic sales growth 1% reflects higher volumes in the

industrial business 2% partially offset by decline in the

aerospace business 1% The industrial business increase was

led by the compressor business attributable to general

increases in infrastructure and industrial spending particularly

in the U.S and Asia The decline within the aerospace

business reflects lower OEM sales volume 2% partially offset

by an increase in the aftermarket business 1% primarily as

result of higher commercial spares and repair volume

The 8% improvement in operational profit reflects an increase

in the industrial business 7% reflecting the benefit from

higher volumes and cost reduction nitiati\/es and an increase

within the aerospace business 1% The 1% improvement

within aerospace reflects favorable net operating

performance including the benefit of ongoing cost reduction

initiatives and volume growth from higher margin

commercial aftermarket sales partially offset by the impact

from adverse mix within OEM sales net combined 8% This

8% improvement was mostly offset by higher year-over-year

research and development costs 7% The decrease

contributed by Other primarily reflects the impact of an

asset impairment charge recorded in 2010 related to the

disposition of an aerospace business The decrease in Other

for operating profit also reflects the absence of gain from

the sale of business in 2009

Sikorsky is one of the worlds largest helicopter companies Sikorsky manufactures military and commercial helicopters and

also provides aftermarket helicopter and aircraft parts and services In December 2007 the U.S government and Sikorsky

signed five-year multi-service contract for H-60 helicopters to be delivered to the U.S Army and U.S Navy which include the

UH-60M HH-60M MH-60S and MH-60R Upon completion of the contract in 2013 Sikorsky expects to have delivered

approximately 690 aircraft Sikorsky is in negotiations with the U.S government for new five-year multi-service contract for

H-60 helicopters Sikorsky is also developing the CH-53K next generation heavy lift helicopter for the U.S Marine Corps and the

CH-148 derivative of the H-92 helicopter military variant of the S-92 helicopter for the Canadian government The latter is

being developed under fixed-price contract that provides for the development and production of 28 helicopters and related

logistical support through March 2028 The current contract value is estimated to be $4.5 billion and is subJect to changes in

underlying variables such as future flight hours as well as fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates This is the largest and

most expansive fixed-price development contract in Sikorskys history As previously disclosed in June 2010 Sikorsky and the

Canadian government signed contract amendments that revised the delivery schedule and contract specifications and

established the requirements for the first six interim aircraft to enable initial operational test and evaluation activities The

amendments also included modifications to the liquidated damages schedule readjustment of payment schedules resolution of

open disputes and other program enhancements Sikorsky recognized revenue in 2011 upon completing significant milestone

for work related to four interim configuration helicopters Delivery of the final configuration aircraft is scheduled to begin in

2012 These aircraft will require further software testing and upgrades before full mission capability can be achieved Sikorsky is

in discussions with the Canadian government concerning the need for additional interim aircraft schedules to complete

remaining work and the resolution of open disputes
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2011 Compared with 2010

The increase in organic sales 10% was primarily attributable

to higher military aircraft sales including higher international

development aircraft sales and favorable military aircraft

configuration mix 8% combined which more than offset

decrease from commercial operations 2% due to fewer

aircraft deliveries Net sales from aftermarket support

increased 4% primarily driven by higher spares volume

The operational profit improvement 12% was primarily

attributable to an increase in aftermarket support

10% driven by higher spares volume Operating profits in

the military business increased as higher aircraft deliveries

and favorable aircraft configuration mix more than offset the

adverse impact of losses associated with higher than

expected development costs on international military

development aircraft sales 2% combined The remainder of

the operational profit increase was primarily driven by lower

manufacturing costs higher volume on customer funded

development and lower research and development costs

which more than offset the impact of fewer aircraft deliveries

from commercial operations The 10% increase contributed by
Other reflects the gain recognized on contribution of

business to venture in the United Arab Emirates

2010 Compared with 2009

The organic sales growth 6% was primarily attributable to

higher military aircraft sales 6% partially offset by the

impact of fewer aircraft deliveries from commercial

operations 2% due to continued commercial market

weakness Sales from aftermarket support increased

2% primarily driven by higher military sales volume and

aircraft modernizations

Gross margin and operational profit improvement were

primarily attributable to increased military aircraft sales 15%
partially offset by decline in commercial operations

2% due to unfavorable aircraft configuration mix and fewer

deliveries as result of continued commercial market

weakness Improvement in aftermarket support 4% was

driven by higher military sales and aircraft modernizations

The remainder of the operational profit change was driven by

higher year-over-year research and development costs which

were substantially offset by favorable gross margin from

lower manufacturing costs The 3% increase contributed by

Other primarily reflects the absence of prior year costs

associated with union contract ratified in 2009

Eliminations and other

Eliminations and other reflects the elimination of sales other

income and operating profit transacted between segments

as well as the operating results of certain smaller businesses

such as UTC Power and Clipper The change in sales in 2011

as compared with 2010 primarily reflects the acquisition of

Clipper The change in the operating profit elimination in 2011

as compared with 2010 primarily reflects the impact from the

acquisition of Clipper and costs associated with the pending

acquisition of Goodrich partially offset by the absence of the

$159 million other-than-temporary impairment charge on our

investment in Clipper which was recorded during the third

quarter of 2010

Sikorskys aftermarket business includes spare parts sales overhaul and repair services maintenance contracts and logistics

support programs for helicopters and other aircraft Sales are principally made to the U.S and foreign governments and

commercial helicopter operators Sikorsky is increasingly engaging in logistics support programs and partnering with its

government and commercial customers to manage and provide logistics maintenance and repair services

TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR FOR

____________
2011 Compared with 2010 2010 Compared wLh 2009

Dollars mIlons 2011 200 2009

Net Sales $7355 $6684 $6287 $671 10% $397 6%
cost of Sales 6120 5539 5319 581 10% 220 4%

1235 1145 968

Operating Expenses and Other 395 429 360

Operating Profits 840 76 608 $124 17% $108 18%

FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO TOTAL CHANGE YEAR-OVER-YEAR IN

2011 2010

Operating Operating

Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits Net Sales Cost of Sales Profits

Organic Operational 10% 10% 12 6% 4% 17

Acquisitions and diVestitures net 1%
Restructuring costs 5% 1%
Other 10% 3%

Total change 10% 10% 17 6% 4% 18
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

DoIJrs ir miIIOs 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 5960 4083

Total debt 10260 10289

Net debt total debt less cash and cash equivalents 4300 6206

Total equity 22820 22332

Total capitalization total debt plus total equity 33080 32621

Net capitalization total debt plus total equity less

cash and cash equivalents 27120 28538

Total debt to total capitalization 31% 32%

Net debt to net capitalization 16% 22%

We assess our liquidity in terms of our ability to generate

cash to fund our operating investing and financing activities

Our principal source of liquidity is operating cash flows

which after netting out capital expenditures we target to

equal or exceed net income attributable to common
shareowners In addition to operating cash flows other

significant factors that affect our overall management of

liquidity include capital expenditures customer financing

requirements investments in businesses dividends common
stock repurchases pension funding access to the commercial

paper markets adequacy of available bank lines of credit and

the ability to attract long-term capital at satisfactory terms

Although the global economy improved in 2011 as compared

with 2010 and there have been some recent signs that

economic recovery may be gaining traction in the U.S there

continues to be significant overall uncertainty with regard to

the future direction of the world economy High

unemployment and weak housing sector in the U.S

continue to dampen consumer sentiment domestically while

concerns over the European debt crisis and the deficit debate

in Washington D.C continue to adversely impact financial

markets and constrain government spending in certain

countries In light of these circumstances we continue to

assess our current business and closely monitor the impact

on our customers and suppliers and have determined that

overall there has not been significant impact on our

financial position results of operations or liquidity during 2011

Our domestic pension funds experienced positive return on

assets of approximately 7% and 15% during 2011 and 2010

respectively Approximately 88% of our domestic pension

plans are invested in readily-liquid investments including

equity fixed income asset-backed receivables and structured

products The balance of our domestic pension plans 12% is

invested in less-liquid but market-valued investments

including real estate and private equity The continued

recognition of prior pension losses and the impact of lower

discount rate partially offset by additional funding and the

positive returns experienced during 2011 are expected to

result in increased pension expense in 2012 of approximately

$250 million as compared to 2011

Our strong debt ratings and financial position have

historically enabled us to issue long-term debt at favorable

market rates including our issuance of $2.25 billion of long-

term debt in February 2010 Our ability to obtain debt

financing at comparable risk-based interest rates is partly

function of our existing debt-to-total-capitalization level as

well as our current credit standing

The purchase price for our pending acquisition of Goodrich

for $127.50 per share in cash equates to total estimated

enterprise value of $18.4 billion including $1.9 billion in net

debt to be assumed We expect to finance the total $16.5

billion to be paid to Goodrich shareholders at the closing of

the acquisition through combination of short- and long-

term debt equity issuance and cash We intend to maintain

our strong existing credit rating and minimize future share

count dilution on earnings per share by targeting the equity

component to comprise no more than 25% of the total

financing excluding the amount of Goodrich net debt to be

assumed We are also evaluating the potential disposition of

number of our non-core businesses to generate cash and

minimize the level of future debt or equity issuances To

manage the cash flow and liquidity impacts of these actions

we are suspending future share repurchases until at least

September 30 2012 and will significantly reduce repurchases

for two years thereafter In addition we will reduce our

budgeted acquisition spending for the next few years which

for 2012 we expect to approximate $500 million excluding

spending for our pending acquisitions of Goodrich and Rolls-

Royces interests in IAE

On November 2011 we entered into bridge credit

agreement with various financial institutions that provides for

$15 billion unsecured bridge loan facility available to pay

portion of the cash consideration for the Goodrich

acquisition and to finance certain related transactions and

pay related fees and expenses Any funding under the bridge

credit agreement would substantially occur concurrently with

the consummation of the Goodrich acquisition subject to

customary conditions for acquisition financings of this type

Any loans made pursuant to the bridge credit agreement

would mature on the date that is 364 days after the funding

date

At December 31 2011 we had revolving credit agreements

with various banks permitting aggregate borrowings of up to

$4.0 billion pursuant to $2.0 billion revolving credit

agreement and $2.0 billion multicurrency revolving credit

agreement both ofwhich expire in November 2016 These

revolving credit agreements were signed on November

2011 and replaced our previous revolving credit agreements

executed in 2010 which had permitted aggregate borrowings

of up to $3.0 billion As of December 2011 and 2010 there

were no borrowings under either of these revolving credit

agreements The undrawn portions of our revolving credit

agreements are also available to serve as backup facilities for

the issuance of commercial paper In November 2011 our

maximum commercial paper borrowing authority was

increased from $3 billion to $4 billion

We continue to have access to the commercial paper markets

and our existing credit facilities and expect to continue to

generate strong operating cash flows While the impact of

market volatility cannot be predicted we believe we have
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sufficient operating flexibility cash reserves and funding

sources to maintain adequate amounts of liquidity and to

meet our future operating cash needs

Given our extensive international operations most of our cash

is denominated in foreign currencies We manage our

worldwide cash requirements by reviewing available funds

among the many subsidiaries through which we conduct our

business and the cost effectiveness with which those funds

can be accessed The repatriation of cash balances from

certain of our subsidiaries could have adverse tax

consequences or be subject to capital controls however

those balances are generally available without legal

restrictions to fund ordinary business operations As

discussed in Note 10 with few exceptions U.S income taxes

have not been provided on undistributed earnings of

international subsidiaries Our intention is to reinvest these

earnings permanently or to repatriate the earnings only when

it is tax effective to do so

As also discussed in Note 10 in 2010 management decided to

repatriate additional high tax dividends from the current year

to the U.S as result of U.S tax legislation enacted at the

time The favorable tax benefit generated by these dividends

was substantially offset by the tax cost related to the

repatriation of other current year earnings As result

approximately $2.5 billion of foreign subsidiary cash was

repatriated to the U.S during 2010 primarily through receipt

of dividends from current year earnings the tax free return of

capital and intercompany loans These funds were largely

used to repay commercial paper borrowings

On occasion we are required to maintain cash deposits with

certain banks with respect to contractual obligations related

to acquisitions or divestitures or other legal obligations As of

December 31 2011 and 2010 the amount of such restricted

cash was approximately $37 million and $75 million

respectively At both December 31 2011 and 2010 all

restricted cash is included in current assets

We believe our future operating cash flows will be sufficient

to meet our future operating cash needs Further our ability

to obtain debt or equity financing as well as the availability

under committed credit lines provides additional potential

sources of liquidity should they be required or appropriate

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Dollars is mdlioss 2011 2010

Net cash flows provided by operating activities $6590 $5906

The increase in net cash flows provided by operating

activities in 2011 as compared with 2010 was due largely to

the increase in net income attributable to common

shareowners as result of higher sales volumes and to lower

global pension cash contributions These benefits were

partially offset by higher working capital cash requirements

During 2011 the net increase in working capital resulted in

cash outflow of $418 million compared to cash inflow of

$525 million during 2010 This increase of $943 million in

working capital was primarily driven by higher accounts

receivable due to increased sales volumes as well as reduced

advances by customers to Sikorsky

The funded status of our defined benefit pension plans is

dependent upon many factors including returns on invested

assets and the level of market interest rates We can

contribute cash or company stock to our plans at our

discretion subject to applicable regulations Total cash

contributions to our global defined benefit pension plans

were $551 million and $1.3 billion during 2011 and 2010

respectively During 2011 and 2010 we also contributed $450

million and $250 million respectively in UTC common stock

to our defined benefit pension plans As of December 31 2011

the total investment by the domestic defined benefit pension

plans in our securities was approximately 5% of total plan

assets We expect to make contributions of approximately

$100 million to our foreign defined benefit pension plans in

2012 Although our domestic defined benefit pension plans

are approximately 87% funded on projected benefit

obligation basis and we are not required to make additional

contributions through the end of 2012 we may elect to make

discretionary contributions in 2012 Contributions to our

global defined benefit pension plans in 2012 are expected to

meet or exceed the current funding requirements

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Dollars mllioss 2011 2010

Net cash flows used in investing activities $707 $3187

The decrease in net cash flows used in investing activities

was largely result of $2.4 billion decrease in our cash

investment in businesses in 2011 as compared with 2010 The

cash investment in businesses across all of our operations in

2011 was $357 million and consisted of number of small

acquisitions in both our commercial and aerospace

businesses Cash investment in businesses across all of our

operations in 2010 was approximately $2.8 billion and

primarily reflects the acquisition of the GE Security business

for approximately$1.8 billion and the acquisition of Clipper

for approximately $350 million The remainder consisted of

number of small acquisitions in both our aerospace and

commercial businesses Excluding spending for our pending

acquisitions of Goodrich and Rolls-Royces interests in IAE

we expect cash investments in businesses in 2012 to

approximate $500 million however actual acquisition

spending may vary depending upon the timing availability

and appropriate value of acquisition opportunities Capital

expenditures increased $118 million in 2011 primarily at Carrier

and Hamilton Sundstrand which included expenditures

related to new product launches and investment in low-cost

manufacturing facilities

Customer financing activities were net source of cash of

$50 million in 2011 compared to net use of cash of $55

million in 2010 While we expect that 2012 customer financing

activity will be net use of funds actual funding is subject to
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usage under existing customer financing commitments

during the year We may also arrange for third-party

investors to assume portion of our commitments We had

commercial aerospace financing and other contractual

commitments of approximately $2.3 billion and $2.0 billion

related to commercial aircraft and certain contractual rights

to provide product on new aircraft platforms at December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively of which as much as $131 million

may be required to be disbursed during 2012 Refer to Note

to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional

discussion of our commercial aerospace industry assets and

commitments

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

DoFs mIIiors 2011

Net cash flows used in financing activities $4005 $3153

The timing and levels of certain cash flow activities such as

acquisitions and repurchases of our stock have resulted in

the issuance of both long-term and short-term debt

Commercial paper borrowings and revolving credit facilities

provide short-term liquidity to supplement operating cash

flows and are used for general corporate purposes including

the funding of potential acquisitions and repurchases of our

stock We had $455 million of commercial paper outstanding

at December 31 2011 During the fourth quarter of 2010 the

cash that management decided to repatriate to the U.S as

result of U.S tax law changes was largely used to repay all

commercial paper outstanding As result we had no

commercial paper outstanding at December 31 2010

In December 2011 we redeemed the entire $500 million

outstanding principal amount of our 6.100% notes that would

otherwise have been due May 15 2012 In February 2010 we
issued $2.25 billion of long-term debt We used the net

proceeds from these issuances primarily to fund portion of

the acquisition of the GE Security business and to repay

commercial paper borrowings In May 2010 we repaid the

entire $600 million outstanding principal amount of our

4.375% notes at maturity In June 2010 we redeemed the

entire $500 million outstanding principal amount of our

7.125% notes that would otherwise have been due

November1 2010 and in September 2010 we redeemed the

entire $500 million outstanding principal amount of our

6.350% notes that would otherwise have been due March
2011

Financing cash outflows for 2011 and 2010 included the

repurchase of 26.9 million and 31.0 million shares of our

common stock respectively for approximately $2.2 billion

during each year under 60 million share repurchase

program On March 10 2010 the Board of Directors

authorized new 60 million common share repurchase

program that replaced the previous program approved in

June 2008 which was nearing completion Approximately

4.9 million of the shares repurchased during 2010 were

repurchased under the previous program and approximately

26.1 million under the new program In addition to

managements view that the repurchase of our common
stock is beneficial investment we also repurchase to offset

the dilutive effect of the issuance of stock and options under

the stock-based employee benefit programs At December 31

2011 management had authority to repurchase approximately

million shares under the previously announced share

repurchase program Our share repurchases vary depending

upon various factors including the level of other investing

activities As result of our pending acquisition of Goodrich

on September 30 2011 we suspended additional share

repurchases until at least September 30 2012 and will

significantly reduce repurchases for two years thereafter

We paid aggregate dividends on Common Stock for 2011 of

approximately $1.6 billion comprised of dividends of $0425

per share in the first quarter of 2011 totaling $368 million

$0.48 per share in the second quarter of 2011 totaling $413

million $0.48 per share in the third quarter of 2011 totaling

$411 million and $0.48 per share in the fourth quarter of 2011

totaling $410 million During 2010 an aggregate $1.5 billion of

cash dividends were paid to Common Stock shareowners

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Preparation of our financial statements requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses Note

to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the

significant accounting policies used in preparation of the

Consolidated Financial Statements Management believes the

most complex and sensitive judgments because of their

significance to the Consolidated Financial Statements result

primarily from the need to make estimates about the effects

of matters that are inherently uncertain The most significant

areas involving management judgments and estimates are

described below Actual results in these areas could differ

from managements estimates

Long-term Contract Accounting We utilize percentage of

completion accounting on certain of our long-term contracts

The percentage of completion method requires estimates of

future revenues and costs over the full term of product and/

or service delivery We also utilize the completed-contract

method of accounting on certain lesser value commercial

contracts Under the completed-contract method sales and

cost of sales are recognized when contract is completed

Losses if any on long-term contracts are provided for when

anticipated We recognize loss provisions on original

equipment contracts to the extent that estimated

inventoriable manufacturing engineering product warranty

and product performance guarantee costs as appropriate

exceed the projected revenue from the products

contemplated under the contractual arrangement For new

commitments we generally record loss provisions at the

earlier of contract announcement or contract signing except

for certain requirements contracts under which losses are

recorded based upon receipt of the purchase order For

existing commitments anticipated losses on contracts are

recognized in the period in which losses become evident

Products contemplated under the contractual arrangement
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include products purchased under the contract and in the

large commercial engine business future highly probable

sales of replacement parts required by regulation that are

expected to be purchased subsequently for incorporation

into the original equipment Revenue projections used in

determining contract loss provisions are based upon
estimates of the quantity pricing and timing of future

product deliveries We generally recognize losses on

shipment to the extent that inventoriable manufacturing

costs estimated warranty costs and product performance

guarantee costs as appropriate exceed revenue realized We
measure the extent of progress toward completion on our

long-term commercial aerospace equipment and helicopter

contracts using units of delivery In addition we use the

cost-to-cost method for elevator and escalator sales

installation and modernization contracts in the commercial

businesses For long-term aftermarket contracts we

recognize revenue over the contract period in proportion to

the costs expected to be incurred in performing services

under the contract Contract accounting also requires

estimates of future costs over the performance period of the

contract as well as an estimate of award fees and other

sources of revenue

Contract costs are incurred over period of time which can

be several years and the estimation of these costs requires

managements judgment The long-term nature of these

contracts the complexity of the products and the strict

safety and performance standards under which they are

regulated can affect our ability to estimate costs precisely As

result we review and update our cost estimates on

significant contracts on quarterly basis and no less

frequently than annually for all others or when circumstances

change and warrant modification to previous estimate

We record changes in contract estimates using the

cumulative catch-up method in accordance with the Revenue

Recognition Topic of the FASB ASC

Income Taxes The future tax benefit arising from net

deductible temporary differences and tax carryforwards was

$4.0 billion at December 31 2011 and $3.6 billion at

December 31 2010 Management believes that our earnings

during the periods when the temporary differences become

deductible will be sufficient to realize the related future

income tax benefits For those jurisdictions where the

expiration date of tax carryforwards or the projected

operating results indicate that realization is not likely

valuation allowance is provided

In assessing the need for valuation allowance we estimate

future taxable income considering the feasibility of ongoing

tax planning strategies and the realizability of tax loss

carryforwards Valuation allowances related to deferred tax

assets can be affected by changes to tax laws changes to

statutory tax rates and future taxable income levels In the

event we were to determine that we would not be able to

realize all or portion of our deferred tax assets in the future

we would reduce such amounts through an increase to tax

expense in the period in which that determination is made or

when tax law changes are enacted Conversely if we were to

determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax

assets in the future in excess of the net carrying amounts we

would decrease the recorded valuation allowance through

decrease to tax expense in the period in which that

determination is made

In the ordinary course of business there is inherent

uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positions We
assess our income tax positions and record tax benefits for all

years subject to examination based upon managements

evaluation of the facts circumstances and information

available at the reporting date For those tax positions where

it is more likely than not that tax benefit will be sustained

we have recorded the largest amount of tax benefit with

greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate

settlement with taxing authority that has full knowledge of

all relevant information For those income tax positions where

it is not more likely than not that tax benefit will be

sustained no tax benefit has been recognized in the financial

statements See Notes and 10 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Our investments in

businesses in 2011 totaled $372 million including

approximately $15 million of debt assumed through

acquisitions The assets and liabilities of acquired businesses

are recorded under the purchase method of accounting at

their estimated fair values at the dates of acquisition

Goodwill represents costs in excess of fair values assigned to

the underlying net assets of acquired businesses Intangible

assets consist of service portfolios patents and trademarks

customer relationships and other intangible assets Included

within other intangible assets are commercial aerospace

payments made to secure certain contractual rights to

provide product on new aircraft platforms Payments made

on these contractual commitments are to be amortized as the

related units are delivered

Goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite

lives are not amortized but are subject to annual impairment

testing We early-adopted the FASBs Accounting Standards

Update ASU No 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for

Impairment in connection with the performance of our

annual goodwill impairment test Under ASU 2011-08 entities

are provided with the option of first performing qualitative

assessment on none some or all of its reporting units to

determine whether further quantitative impairment testing is

necessary An entity may also bypass the qualitative

assessment for any reporting unit in any period and proceed

directly to the quantitative impairment test We completed

our annual impairment testing as of July 2011 and

determined that no significant adjustments to the carrying

value of goodwill or indefinite lived intangible assets were

necessary based on the results of the impairment tests

Although no significant goodwill impairment has been

recorded to date there can be no assurances that future

goodwill impairments will not occur See Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
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Product Performance We extend performance and operating

cost guarantees beyond our normal service and warranty

policies for extended periods on some of our products

particularly commercial aircraft engines Liability under Such

guarantees is based upon future product performance and

durability In addition we incur discretionary costs to service

our products in connection with product performance issues

We accrue for such costs that are probable and can be

reasonably estimated The costs associated with these

product performance and operating cost guarantees require

estimates over the full terms of the agreements and require

management to consider factors such as the extent of future

maintenance requirements and the future cost of material

and labor to perform the services These cost estimates are

largely based upon historical experience See Note 15 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Contracting with the U.S Government Our contracts with

the U.S government are subject to government oversight and

audit Like many defense contractors we have received audit

reports which recommend that certain contract prices should

be reduced to comply with various government regulations

Some of these audit reports have involved substantial

amounts We have made voluntary refunds in those cases we

believe appropriate have settled some allegations and

continue to litigate certain cases In addition we accrue for

liabilities associated with those government contracting

matters that are probable and can be reasonably estimated

The inherent uncertainty related to the outcome of these

matters can result in amounts materially different from any

provisions made with respect to their resolution See Note 17

to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further

discussion We recorded sales to the U.S government of $9.8

billion in 2011 $9.9 billion in 2010 and $9.3 billion in 2009

Employee Benefit Plans We sponsor domestic and foreign

defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans Major

assumptions used in the accounting for these employee

benefit plans include the discount rate expected return on

plan assets rate of increase in employee compensation levels

and health care cost increase projections Assumptions are

determined based on company data and appropriate market

indicators and are evaluated each year at December 31

change in any of these assumptions would have an effect on

net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs

reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements

In the following table we show the sensitivity of our pension

and other postretirement benefit plan liabilities and net

annual periodic cost to 25 basis point change in the

discount rate as of December 31 2011

Dollars in millions

Pension plans

Projected benefit obligation

Net periodic pension cost

Other postretirement benefit plans

Accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost

Pension expense is also sensitive to changes in the expected

long-term rate of asset return An increase or decrease of 25

basis points in the expected long-term rate of asset return

would have decreased or increased 2011 pension expense by

approximately $58 million

The weighted-average discount rate used to measure

pension liabilities and costs is set by reference to UTC

specific analysis using each plans specific cash flows and is

then compared to high-quality bond indices for

reasonableness Global market interest rates have decreased

in 2011 as compared with 2010 and as result the weighted-

average discount rate used to measure pension liabilities

decreased from 5.4% in 2010 to 4.7% in 2011 In December

2009 we amended the salaried retirement plans qualified

and non-qualified to change the retirement formula effective

January 2015 At that time final average earnings FAE
and credited service will stop under the formula applicable

for hires before July 2002 Employees hired after 2009 are

not eligible for any defined benefit pension plan and will

instead receive an enhanced benefit under the UTC Savings

Plan The continued recognition of prior pension losses and

the impact of lower discount rate partially offset by

additional funding and the positive returns experienced

during 2011 are expected to increase pension expense in 2012

by approximately $250 million as compared to 2011 See Note

11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further

discussion

Inventory Valuation Reserves Inventory valuation reserves

are established in order to report inventories at the lower of

cost or market value on our Consolidated Balance Sheet The

determination of inventory valuation reserves requires

management to make estimates and judgments on the future

salability of inventories Valuation reserves for excess

obsolete and slow-moving inventory are estimated by

comparing the inventory levels of individual parts to both

future sales forecasts or production requirements and

historical usage rates in order to identify inventory where the

resale value or replacement value is less than inventoriable

cost Other factors that management considers in

determining the adequacy of these reserves include whether

individual inventory parts meet current specifications and

cannot be substituted for part currently being sold or used

as service part overall market conditions and other

inventory management initiatives

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 we had $884 million and

$799 million respectively of inventory valuation reserves

recorded Although management believes these reserves are

adequate any abrupt changes in market conditions may

require us to record additional inventory valuation reserves
increase in Decrease in

Discount Rate Discount Rate

of 25 bps of 25 bps

$776
65

13

$812

66

13
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL
OBLIGATIONS

We extend variety of financial guarantees to third parties in

support of unconsolidated affiliates and for potential

financing requirements of commercial aerospace customers

We also have obligations arising from sales of certain

businesses and assets including indemnities for

representations and warranties and environmental health and

safety tax and employment matters Circumstances that

could cause the contingent obligations and liabilities arising

from these arrangements to come to fruition include changes

in an underlying transaction e.g hazardous waste

discoveries etc nonperformance under contract

customer requests for financing or deterioration in the

financial condition of the guaranteed party

summary of our consolidated contractual obligations and

commitments as of December 31 2011 is as follows

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

Dollars ur rrsSions Total 2012 2013- 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter

Long-term debtprincipal 9630 129 46 1231 8224

Long-term debtfuture

interest 8172 554 1109 1047 5462

Operating leases 1883 515 696 299 373

Purchase obligations 12486 7305 2807 853 1521

Other long-term liabilities 5786 1322 1192 1815 1457

Total contractual

obligations $37957 $9825 $5850 $5245 $17037

Purchase obligations include amounts committed under

legally enforceable contracts or purchase orders for goods

and services with defined terms as to price quantity delivery

and termination liability Approximately 20% of the purchase

obligations disclosed above represent purchase orders for

products to be delivered under firm contracts with the U.S

government for which we have full recourse under customary

contract termination clauses

Other long-term liabilities primarily include those amounts on

our December 31 2011 balance sheet representing obligations

under product service and warranty policies performance

and operating cost guarantees estimated environmental

remediation costs and expected contributions under

employee benefit programs The timing of expected cash

flows associated with these obligations is based upon

managements estimates over the terms of these agreements

and is largely based upon historical experience

The above table does not reflect unrecognized tax benefits of

$946 million the timing of which is uncertain except for

approximately $131 million that may become payable during

2012 Refer to Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional discussion on unrecognized tax

benefits

COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

Dollars rsilhoes Committed 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter

Commercial aerospace

financing and other

contractual commitments $2270 131 679 $574 886

IAE financing arrangements 989 284 448 183 74

Commercial aerospace

financing arrangements 323 49 107 160

Unconsolidated subsidiary

debt guarantees 239 147 92

Performance guarantees 33 33

Total commercial

commitments $3854 $644 $134 $864 $1212

Represents lADs gross obligation at December 31 2011 and 2010 our

proportionate share of IAEs obligations was 33% Refer to the segment Review

for additional discussion of our agreement with Rolls-Royce to restructure the

IAE interests

Refer to Notes 15 and 17 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional discussion on contractual and

commercial commitments

MARKET RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT
We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange

rates interest rates and commodity prices To manage

certain of those exposures we use derivative instruments

including swaps forward contracts and options Derivative

instruments utilized by us in our hedging activities are viewed

as risk management tools involve little complexity and are

not used for trading or speculative purposes We diversify the

counterparties used and monitor the concentration of risk to

limit our counterparty exposure

We have evaluated our exposure to changes in foreign

currency exchange rates interest rates and commodity prices

in our market risk sensitive instruments which are primarily

cash debt and derivative instruments using value at risk

analysis Based on 95% confidence level and one-day

holding period at December 31 2011 the potential loss in fair

value on our market risk sensitive instruments was not

material in relation to our financial position results of

operations or cash flows Our calculated value at risk

exposure represents an estimate of reasonably possible net

losses based on volatilities and correlations and is not

necessarily indicative of actual results Refer to Notes and

13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional

discussion of foreign currency exchange interest rates and

financial instruments
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Foreign Currency Exposures We have large volume of

foreign currency exposures that result from our international

sales purchases investments borrowings and other

international transactions International segment sales

including U.S export sales averaged approximately $33

billion over the last three years We actively manage foreign

currency exposures that are associated with committed

foreign currency purchases and sales and other assets and

liabilities created in the normal course of business at the

operating unit level More than insignificant exposures that

cannot be naturally offset within an operating unit are

hedged with foreign currency derivatives We also have

significant amount of foreign currency net asset exposures

Currently we do not hold any derivative contracts that hedge

our foreign currency net asset exposures but may consider

such strategies in the future

Within aerospace our sales are typically denominated in U.S

Dollars under accepted industry convention However for our

non-U.S based entities such as PWC substantial portion

of their costs are incurred in local currencies Consequently

there is foreign currency exchange impact and risk to

operational results as U.S Dollars must be converted to local

currencies such as the Canadian Dollar in order to meet local

currency cost obligations In order to minimize the exposure

that exists from changes in the exchange rate of the

U.S Dollar against these other currencies we hedge certain

portion of sales to secure the rates at which U.S Dollars will

be converted The majority of this hedging activity occurs at

PWC At PWC firm and forecasted sales for both engines

and spare parts are hedged at varying amounts up to 32

months on the U.S Dollar sales exposure as represented by

the excess of U.S Dollar sales over U.S Dollar denominated

purchases Hedging gains and losses resulting from

movements in foreign currency exchange rates are partially

offset by the foreign currency translation impacts that are

generated on the translation of local currency operating

results into U.S Dollars for reporting purposes While the

objective of the hedging program is to minimize the foreign

currency exchange impact on operating results there are

typically variances between the hedging gains or losses and

the translational impact due to the length of hedging

contracts changes in the sales profile volatility in the

exchange rates and other such operational considerations

Interest Rate Exposures Our long-term debt portfolio

consists mostly of fixed-rate instruments From time to time

we may hedge to floating rates using interest rate swaps The

hedges are designated as fair value hedges and the gains and

losses on the swaps are reported in interest expense

reflecting that portion of interest expense at variable rate

We issue commercial paper which exposes us to changes in

interest rates Currently we do not hold any derivative

contracts that hedge our interest exposures but may

consider such strategies in the future

Commodity Price Exposures We are exposed to volatility in

the prices of raw materials used in some cf our products and

from time to time we may use forward contracts in limited

circumstances to manage some of those exposures In the

future if hedges are used gains and losses may affect

earnings There were no significant outstanding commodity

hedges as of December 31 2011

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our operations are subject to environmental regulation by

federal state and local authorities in the Llnited States and

regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over our foreign

operations As result we have established and continually

update policies relating to environmental standards of

performance for our operations worldwide We believe that

expenditures necessary to comply with the present

regulations governing environmental protection will not have

material effect upon our competitive position results of

operations cash flows or financial condition

We have identified 597 locations mostly in the United States

at which we may have some liability for remediating

contamination We have resolved our liabIlity at 250 of these

locations We do not believe that any individual locations

exposure will have material effect on our results of

operations Sites in the investigation remediation or

operation and maintenance stage represent approximately

91% of our accrued environmental remediation reserve

We have been identified as potentially responsible party

under the Comprehensive Environmental Response

Compensation and Liability Act CERCLA or Superfund at

106 sites The number of Superfund sites in and of itself does

not represent relevant measureof liability because the

nature and extent of environmental concerns vary from site

to site and our share of responsibility varies from sole

responsibility to very little responsibility In estimating our

liability for remediation we consider our lkeIy proportionate

share of the anticipated remediation expense and the ability

of other potentially responsible parties to fulfill their

obligations

At December 31 2011 and 2010 we had $617 million and $605

million reserved for environmental remediation respectively

Cash outflows for environmental remediation were $54

million in 2011 $44 million in 2010 and $49 million in 2009

We estimate that ongoing environmental remediation

expenditures in each of the next two years will not exceed

approximately $60 million
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MANAGEMENTS DSCUSGON AND ANALYSiS

GOVERNMENT MATTERS

As described in Critical Accounting Estimates Contracting

with the U.S government our contracts with the U.S

government are subject to audits Such audits may

recommend that certain contract prices should be reduced to

comply with various government regulations We are also the

subject of one or more investigations and legal proceedings

initiated by the U.S government with respect to government

contract matters

As previously disclosed the U.S Department of Justice DOJ
sued us in 1999 in the U.S District Court for the Southern

District of Ohio claiming that Pratt Whitney violated the

civil False Claims Act and common law This lawsuit relates to

the Fighter Engine Competition between Pratt Whitneys

F100 engine and General Electrics F110 engine The DOJ

alleges that the government overpaid for P100 engines under

contracts awarded by the U.S Air Force in fiscal years 1985

through 1990 because Pratt Whitney inflated its estimated

costs for some purchased parts and withheld data that would

have revealed the overstatements At trial of this matter

completed in December 2004 the government claimed

Pratt Whitneys liability to be $624 million On August

2008 the trial court judge held that the Air Force had not

suffered any actual damages because Pratt Whitney had

made significant price concessions However the trial court

judge found that Pratt Whitney violated the False Claims

Act due to inaccurate statements contained in its 1983 offer

In the absence of actual damages the trial court judge

awarded the DOJ the maximum civil penalty of $7.09 million

or $10000 for each of the 709 invoices Pratt Whitney

submitted in 1989 and later under the contracts In

September 2008 both the DOJ and UTC appealed the

decision to the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals In November

2010 the Sixth Circuit affirmed Pratt Whitneys liability

under the False Claims Act and remanded the case to the U.S

District Court for further proceedings on the question of

damages Should the government ultimately prevail the

outcome of this matter could result in material adverse

effect on our results of operations in the period in which

liability would be recognized or cash flows for the period in

which damages would be paid

As previously disclosed in December 2008 the U.S

Department of Defense DOD issued contract claim

against Sikorsky to recover overpayments the DOD alleges it

has incurred since January 2003 in connection with cost

accounting changes approved by the DOD and implemented

by Sikorsky in 1999 and 2006 These changes relate to the

calculation of material overhead rates in government

contracts The DOD claims that Sikorskys liability is

approximately $92 million including interest through

December 2011 We believe this claim is without merit and

Sikorsky filed an appeal in December 2009 with the U.S

Court of Federal Claims which is pending We do not believe

the resolution of this matter will have material adverse

effect on our competitive position results of operations cash

flows or financial condition

significant portion of our activities are subject to export

control regulation by the U.S Department of State State

Department under the U.S Arms Export Control Act and

International Traffic in Arms Regulations ITAR From time to

time we identify investigate remediate and voluntarily

disclose to the State Departments Office of Defense Trade

Controls Compliance DTCC potential violations of the ITAR

DTCC administers the State Departments authority under the

ITAR to impose civil penalties and other administrative

sanctions for violations including debarment from engaging

in the export of defense articles or defense services Most of

our voluntary disclosures are resolved without the imposition

of penalties or other sanctions However in November 2011

DTCC informed us that it considers certain of our voluntary

disclosures filed since 2005 to reflect deficiencies warranting

penalties and sanctions We are currently in discussions with

DTCC to reach consent agreement which we anticipate will

provide for payment by the Company and commitments

regarding additional remedial compliance efforts

The voluntary disclosures that we anticipate will be

addressed in the consent agreement currently under

discussion include 2006 and 2007 disclosures regarding the

export by Hamilton Sundstrand to PWC of certain

modifications to dual-use electronic engine control software

and the re-export by PWC of those software modifications

and subsequent PWC-developed patches to China during

the period 2002-2004 for use in the development of the Z-10

Chinese military helicopter The DOJ has also separately

conducted criminal investigation of the matters addressed

in these disclosures as well as the accuracy and adequacy of

the disclosures We have been cooperating with the DOJs

investigation Since November 2011 we have been in

discussions with the DOJ to resolve this matter

We continue to evaluate the range of possible outcomes of

these separate but related export compliance matters and

have recognized potential liability at December 31 2011 of

$45 million We are currently unable to predict the precise

timing or outcome of the discussions We do not believe the

ultimate resolution of these matters individually or

collectively will have material adverse effect on our

competitive position results of operations cash flows or

financial condition

OTHER MATTERS

Additional discussion of our environmental U.S government

contract matters product performance and other contingent

liabilities is included in Critical Accounting Estimates and

Notes 15 and 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For additional discussion of our legal proceedings see Item

Legal Proceedings in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for

2011 2011 Form 10-K
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In May 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-04 Amendments

to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure

Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRS5 This ASU clarifies the

concepts related to highest and best use and valuation

premise blockage factors and other premiums and discounts

the fair value measurement of financial instruments held in

portfolio and of those instruments classified as component

of shareowners equity The ASU includes enhanced

disclosure requirements about recurring Level fair value

measurements the use of nonfinancial assets and the level in

the fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities not recorded

at fair value The provisions of this ASU are effective

prospectively for interim and annual periods beginning on or

after December 15 2011 Early application is prohibited This

ASU is not expected to have an impact currently on our

financial statements or disclosures as there are presently no

recurring Level fair value measurements

In June 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-05 Presentation

of Comprehensive Income This ASU is aimed at enhancing

comparability and transparency of other comprehensive

income components The guidance provides an option to

present total comprehensive income the components of net

income and the components of other comprehensive income

in single continuous statement or two separate but

consecutive statements This ASU eliminates the option to

present other comprehensive income components as part of

the statement of changes in shareowners equity The

provisions of this ASU will be applied retrospectively for

interim and annual periods beginning after December 15 2011

Early application is permitted We will adopt the provisions of

this ASU in the first quarter 2012

In December 2011 the FASE issued ASU No 2011-11

Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities This ASU

is intended to enhance financial statement users ability to

understand the effects of netting arrangements on an entitys

financial statements including financial instruments and

derivative instruments that are either offset or subject to an

enforceable master netting or similar arrangement The scope

of this ASU includes derivatives sale and repurchase

agreements and reverse sale and repurchase agreements

and securities borrowing and securities lending

arrangements This ASU includes enhanced disclosure

requirements including both gross and net information about

instruments and transactions eligible for offset or subject to

an agreement similar to master netting arrangement The

provisions of this ASU will be applied retrospectively for

interim and annual periods beginning on or after January

2013 We are currently evaluating the impact of this new ASU

52 UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FACTORS THAT MAY
AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This 2011 Annual Report to Shareowners 2011 Annual Report

Contains statements which to the extent they are not

statements of historical or present fact constitute forward-

looking statements under the securities laws From time to

time oral or written forward-looking statements may also be

included in other materials released to the public These

forward-looking statements are intended to provide

managements current expectations or plans for our future

operating and financial performance based on assumptions

currently believed to be valid Forward-looking statements

can be identified by the use of words such as believe

expect expectations plans strategy prospects

estimate project target anticipate will should
see guidance confident and other words of similar

meaning in connection with discussion of future operating

or financial performance Forward-looking statements may

include among other things statements relating to future

sales earnings cash flow results of operations uses of cash

and other measures of financial performance All forward-

looking statements involve risks uncertainties and other

factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from

those expressed or implied in the forward-looking

statements Such risks uncertainties and other factors

include without limitation

the effect of economic conditions in the markets in which

we operate in the United States and globally and any

changes therein including financial market conditions

fluctuations in commodity prices interest rates and foreign

currency exchange rates levels of end market demand in

construction and in both the commercial and defense

segments of the aerospace industry levels of air travel

financial difficulties including bankruptcy of commercial

airlines the impact of weather conditions and natural

disasters and the financial condition of our customers and

suppliers

in respect of our recently announced agreement to acquire

Goodrich Corporation Goodrich and Pratt Whitneys

recently announced transactions with Rolls-Royce the

satisfaction of conditions precedent to and consummation

of the proposed transactions the timing of consummation

of the proposed transactions the timing and

consummation of proposed financing in connection with

the proposed transactions and the ability of the parties to

secure regulatory approvals and in the case of the

Goodrich transaction the approval of Goodrichs

shareholders in timely manner

in respect of our recently announced agreement to acquire

Goodrich our ability to integrate the acquired operations

and to realize synergies and opportunities for growth and

innovation

our ability to realize the intended benefits of recently

announced organizational changes

future levels of indebtedness and capital spending and

research and development spending

future availability of credit and factors that may affect such

availability including credit market conditions and our

capital structure

delays and disruption in delivery of materials and services

from suppliers

new business opportunities

cost reduction efforts and restructuring costs and savings

and other consequences thereof

the scope nature or impact of other acquisition and

divestiture activity including integration of acquired

businesses into our existing businesses

the development production delivery support

performance and anticipated benefits of advanced

technologies and new products and services

the anticipated benefits of diversification and balance of

operations across product lines regions and industries

the impact of the negotiation of collective bargaining

agreements and labor disputes

the outcome of legal proceedings and other contingencies

future repurchases of our common stock

pension plan assumptions and future contributions and

the effect of changes in tax environmental and other laws

and regulations or political conditions in the United States

and other countries in which we operate

In addition our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2011 includes

important information as to risks uncertainties and other

factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from

those expressed or implied in the forward-looking

statements See the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements under the heading Contingent Liabilities the

section titled Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations under the

headings Business Overview Critical Accounting

Estimates Results of Operations and Liquidity and

Financial Condition and the section titled Risk Factors Our

Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2011 also includes important

information as to these factors in the Business section

under the headings General Description of Business by

Segment and Other Matters Relating to Our Business as

Whole and in the Legal Proceedings section Additional

important information as to these factors is included in this

2011 Annual Report in the section titled Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations under the headings Environmental Matters and

Restructuring Costs The forward-looking statements speak

only as of the date of this report or in the case of any

document incorporated by reference the date of that

document We undertake no obligation to publicly update or

revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of

new information future events or otherwise except as

required by applicable law Additional information as to

factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from

those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements

are disclosed from time to time in our other filings with the

SEC
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of UTC is responsible for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is process designed

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements

for external reporting purposes in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America Because of its inherent limitations internal

control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Management has assessed the effectiveness

of UTCs internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2011 In making its assessment management

has utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in its

Internal Control-Integrated Framework released in 1992

Management concluded that based on its assessment UTCs

internal control over financial reporting was effective as of

December 31 2011 The effectiveness of UTCs internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 has been

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent

registered public accounting firm as stated in their report

which is included herein

Louis ChŒnevert

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Gregory Hayes

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Peter Longo

Vice President Controller
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREOWNERS OF
UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations

of cash flows and of changes in equity present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of United

Technologies Corporation and its subsidiaries at

December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 and the results of

their operations and their cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2011 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America Also in our opinion the Corporation

maintained in all material respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on

criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission COSO The Corporations

management is responsible for these financial statements for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control

over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express opinions on these

financial statements and on the Corporations internal control

over financial reporting based on our integrated audits We
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement and
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial

statements included examining on test basis evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management and evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of

internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also

included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits

provide reasonable basis for our opinions

corporations internal control over financial reporting is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles corporations

internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect

the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

corporation ii provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation

of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of

the corporation are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the

corporation and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of the corporations assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

1-Lf

Hartford Connecticut

February 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

DOOrs ix lIocs except per share aeosets shares ix rxilkorrs 2011 2010 2009

Net Sales

Product sales 41289 38641 37332

Service sales 16901 15685 15093

58190 54326 52425

Costs and Expenses

Cost of products sold 31026 28956 28905

Cost of services sold 11127 10458 9956

Research and development 2058 1746 1558

Selling general and administrative 6464 6024 6036

50675 47184 46455
Other income net 584 44 407

Operating profit 8099 7186 6377

Interest expense net 494 648 617

Income before income taxes 7605 6538 5760
Income tax expense 2231 1827 1581

Net income 5374 4711 4179

Less Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries earnings 395 338 350

Net income attributable to common shareowners 4979 4373 3829

EARNINGS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK
Basic 5.58 4.82 4.17

Diluted 5.49 474 4.12

Dividends Per Share of Common Stock 1.865 1.700 1.540

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic shares 892.3 907.9 917.4

Diluted shares 906.8 922.7 928.8

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Dollars in millions except per share amounts shares in thousands
2011 2010

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5960 4083

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $394 and $402 9546 8925

Inventories and contracts in progress net 7797 7766

Future income tax benefits current 1662 1623

Other assets current 793 1113

Total Current Assets 25758 23510

Customer financing assets 1035 1118

Future income tax benefits 23137 1970

Fixed assets net 6201 6280

Goodwill 17943 17721

Intangible assets net 3918 4060

Other assets 4210 3834

Total Assets 61452 $58493

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Short-term borrowings
630 116

Accounts payable 5570 5206

Accrued liabilities 12287 12247

Long-term debt currently due 129 163

Total Current Liabilities 18616 17732

Long-term debt 9501 10010

Future pension and postretirement benefit obligations 5007 3592

Other long-term liabilities 5150 4510

Total Liabilities 38274 35844

Commitments and contingent liabilities Notes and 17

Redeemable non-controlling interest 358 317

Shareowners Equity

Capital Stock

Preferred Stock $1 par value 250000 shares authorized None issued or outstanding

Common Stock $1 par value 4000000 shares authorized 1400212 and 1393297

shares issued 13445 12597

Treasury Stock492990 and 472028 common shares at cost 19410 17468

Retained earnings 33487 30191

Unearned ESOP shares 152 066

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation 206 366

Other 5696 4135

Total Accumulated other comprehensive loss 5490 3769

Total Shareowners Equity 21880 21385

Non-controlling interest 940 947

Total Equity 22820 22332

Total Liabilities and Equity 61452 $58493

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

0o9rs rIlors
2011 2010 2009

Operating Activities

Net income attributable to common shareowners 4979 4373 3829

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries earnings 395 338 350

Net income 5374 4711 4179
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 1347 1356 1258
Deferred income tax provision 331 413 451

Stock compensation cost 229 154 153

Change in

Accounts receivable 729 319 955
Inventories and contracts in progress 314 244 695
Other current assets 17
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 618 1105 582

Global pension contributions 551 0299 0270
Other operating activities net 278 46 483

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 6590 5906 5353

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures 983 865 826
Increase in customer financing assets 42 217 071
Decrease in customer financing assets 92 162 80
Investments in businesses 357 2758 703
Dispositions of businesses 497 208 158
Other investing activities net 86 283 358

Net cash flows used in investing activities 707 3187 0104

Financing Activities

Issuance of long-term debt 59 2362 37

Repayment of long-term debt 616 1751 0012
Increase decrease in short-term borrowings net 556 041 762
Common Stock issued under employee stock plans 226 386 342
Dividends paid on Common Stock 1602 0482 0356
Repurchase of Common Stock 2175 2200 0100
Other financing activities net 453 327 340

Net cash flows used in financing activities 4005 3153 4191

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 68 64

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 1877 366 122

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 4083 4449 4327

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 5960 4083 $4449

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Interest paid net of amounts capitalized 642 753 704
Income taxes paid net of refunds 1432 1222 1396

Non-cash investing and financing activities include

Contributions of UTC Common Stock to domestic defined benefit pension plans 450 250

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Comprehensive

Osliars mdhons
Income Loss Common Stock

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2008 11179

Comprehensive income loss

Net income
4179

Redeemable non-controlling interest in subsidiaries earnings

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Foreign currency translation adiustments
1023

Change in pension and post-retirement benefit plans net of income taxes of $569 1073

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities net of income taxes of $66 99

Change in unrealized cash flow hedging net of income taxes of $106
265

Total other comprehensive income net of tax
2450

Comprehensive income
$6629

Common Stock issued under employee plans 11.9 million shares net of tax benefit of $60 634

Common Stock repurchased 19.1 million shares

Dividends on Common Stock

Dividends on ESOP Common Stock

Dividends attributable to non-controlling interest

Redeemable non-controlling interest accretion

Purchase of subsidiary shares from non-controlling interest
67

Acquired non-controlling interest

Other changes in non-controlling interest

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2009
$11746

Comprehensive income loss
Net income

4711

Redeemable non-controlling interest in subsidiaries earnings

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustments
18

Change in pension and post-retirement benefit plans net of tax benefit of $224 336

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities net of income taxes of $61
96

Change in unrealized cash flow hedging net of tax benefit of $18 29

Total other comprehensive loss net of tax
287

Comprehensive income $4424

Common Stock issued under employee plans 11.8 million shares net of tax benefit of $94
746

Common Stock contributed to defined benefit pension plans 3.8 million shares
117

Common Stock repurchased 31.0 million shares

Dividends on Common Stock

Dividends on ESOP Common Stock

Dividends attributable to non-controlling interest

Redeemable non-controlling interest accretion

Purchase of subsidiary shares from non-controlling interest
12

Sale of subsidiary shares in non-controlling interest

Other changes in non-controlling interest

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2010
$12597

Comprehensive income loss

Net income
5374

Redeemable non-controlling interest in aubsidiaries earnings

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Foreign currency translation adiustments
63

Change in pension and pont-retirement benefit plans net of tax benefit of $796 1485

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities net of income taxes of $21
30

Change in unrealized cash flow hedging net of tax benefit of $36 106

Total other comprehensive loan net of tax
1724

Comprehensive income
$3650

Common Stock issued under employee plans 72 million shares net of tax benefit of $81
672

Common Stock contributed to defined benefit pension plans 6.7 million shares
227

Common Stock repurchased 26.9 million shares

Dividends on Common Stock

Dividends on ESOP Common Stock

Dividends attributable to non-controlling interest

Redeemable non-controlling interest accretion

Purchase of subsidiary shares from non-controlling interest
54

Sale of subsidiary shares in non-controlling interest

Other changes in non-controlling interest

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2011
$13445

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SHAREOWNERS EQUITY

Accumulated Other

Unearned ESOP Comprehensive Redeemable

Treasury Stock Retained Earnings Shares Income Loss Non-controlling Interest Total Equity Non-controlling Interest

14316 $25034 $200 $5934 918 16681 $245

3829 350 4179

17 17 17

1020 1028

1073 1073

99 99

255 255

43 19 618

1100 1100

1356 1356
59 59

329 329 17

25 92
36 36 143

$15408 $27396 181 $3487 933 $20999 $389

4373 338 4.711

24 24 24

13 13
336 336

96 96

29 29

133

2200

$17468

10

223

2175

19410

43

1482
62

30191

4979

1602
63

$33487

15

166

14

152

3769

160
1485

30

106

$5490

338

12
38

12

947

395

25

363

19
23

12

940

725

250

2200
1482

62
338

24
38

12

22332

5374

25

066
1485

30

106

687

450

2175
1602

63
363

73
26

12

$22820

19

65

317

25

15

21

$358
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The preparation of financial statements requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses Actual

results could differ from those estimates Certain

reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to

conform to current year presentation

Consolidation The Consolidated Financial Statements include

the accounts of United Technologies Corporation UTC and

its controlled subsidiaries Intercompany transactions have

been eliminated

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents

includes cash on hand demand deposits and short-term cash

investments that are highly liquid in nature and have original

maturities of three months or less

On occasion we are required to maintain cash deposits with

certain banks with respect to contractual obligations related

to acquisitions or divestitures or other legal obligations As of

December 31 2011 and 2010 the amount of such restricted

cash was approximately $37 million and $75 million

respectively At both December 31 2011 and 2010 all

restricted cash is included in current assets

Accounts Receivable Current and long-term accounts

receivable include retainage of $154 million and $165 million

and unbilled receivables of $1060 million and $862 million as

of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Retainage represents amounts that pursuant to the

applicable contract are not due until project completion and

acceptance by the customer Unbilled receivables represent

revenues that are not currently billable to the customer under

the terms of the contract These items are expected to be

collected in the normal course of business Long-term

accounts receivable are included in Other assets in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Marketable Equity Securities Equity securities that have

readily determinable fair value and that we do not intend to

trade are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair

value Unrealized holding gains and losses are recorded as

separate component of shareowners equity net of deferred

income taxes

Inventories and Contracts in Progress Inventories and

contracts in progress are stated at the lower of cost or

estimated realizable value and are primarily based on first-in

first-out FIFO or average cost methods however certain

Carrier entities use the last-in first-out LIFO method If

inventories that were valued using the LIFO method had been

valued under the FIFO method they would have been higher

by $144 million and $137 million at December 31 2011 and

2010 respectively

Costs accumulated against specific contracts or orders are at

actual cost Inventory in excess of requirements for contracts

and current or anticipated orders have been reserved as

appropriate Manufacturing costs are allocated to current

production and firm contracts

Fixed Assets Fixed assets are stated at cost Depreciation is

recorded over the fixed assets useful lives using the straight-

line method

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Goodwill represents costs in

excess of fair values assigned to the underlying net assets of

acquired businesses Goodwill and intangible assets deemed

to have indefinite lives are not amortized Goodwill and

indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to annual

impairment testing using the guidance and criteria described

in the Intangibles Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB

ASC This testing compares carrying values to fair values and

when appropriate the carrying value of these assets is

reduced to fair value We early adopted the FASB ASU

No 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment in connection

with the performance of our annual goodwill impairment test

Under ASU 2011-08 entities are provided with the option of

first performing qualitative assessment on none some or all

of its reporting units to determine whether further

quantitative impairment testing is necessary An entity may

also bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit

in any period and proceed directly to the quantitative

impairment test During 2011 2010 and 2009 we were not

required to record any significant impairments to the carrying

value of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets

Intangible assets consist of service portfolios patents and

trademarks customer relationships and other intangible

assets Useful lives of finite-lived intangible assets are

estimated based upon the nature of the intangible asset and

the industry in which the intangible asset is used Estimated

useful lives of service portfolios generally range from to 30

years Estimated useful lives of patents and finite-lived

trademarks generally range from to 40 years Estimated

useful lives of customer relationships and other assets

generally range from to 32 years These intangible assets

are amortized based on the pattern in which the economic

benefits of the intangible assets are consumed If pattern of

economic benefit cannot be reliably determined straight-

line amortization method is used Included within other

intangible assets are commercial aerospace payments made

to secure certain contractual rights to provide product on

new aircraft platforms Payments made on these contractual

commitments are to be amortized as the related units are

delivered

Other Long-Lived Assets We evaluate the potential

impairment of other long-lived assets when appropriate If the

carrying value of other long-lived assets exceeds the sum of

the undiscounted expected future cash flows the carrying

value is written down to fair value During the years ended

December 31 2011 and 2010 we had certain non-recurring

measurements resulting in impairment charges of $66 million

and $245 million respectively See Note 13 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information

Income Taxes In the ordinary course of business there is

inherent uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positions
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We assess our income tax positions and record tax benefits

for all years subject to examination based upon

managements evaluation of the facts circumstances and

information available at the reporting date For those tax

positions where it is more-likely-than-not that tax benefit

will be sustained we have recorded the largest amount of tax

benefit with greater than 50% likelihood of being realized

upon ultimate settlement with taxing authority that has full

knowledge of all relevant information For those income tax

positions where it is not more-likely-than-not that tax

benefit will be sustained no tax benefit has been recognized

in the financial statements Where applicable associated

interest expense has also been recognized We recognize

accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in

interest expense Penalties if incurred would be recognized

as component of income tax expense

Revenue Recognition Sales under government and

commercial fixed-price contracts and government fixed-

price-incentive contracts are recorded at the time deliveries

are made or in some cases on percentage-of-completion

basis Sales under cost-reimbursement contracts are

recorded as work is performed Sales for elevators escalators

installation and modernization contracts are accounted for

under the percentage-of-completion method

Losses if any on long-term contracts are provided for when

anticipated Loss provisions on original equipment contracts

are recognized to the extent that estimated inventoriable

manufacturing engineering product warranty and product

performance guarantee costs as appropriate exceed the

projected revenue from the products contemplated under the

contractual arrangement For new commitments we

generally record loss provisions at the earlier of contract

announcement or contract signing except for certain

requirements contracts under which losses are recorded

upon receipt of the purchase order For existing

commitments anticipated losses on contracts are recognized

in the period in which losses become evident Products

contemplated under contractual arrangement include

products purchased under contract and in the large

commercial engine business future highly probable sales of

replacement parts required by regulation that are expected

to be purchased subsequently for incorporation into the

original equipment Revenue projections used in determining

contract loss provisions are based upon estimates of the

quantity pricing and timing of future product deliveries

Losses are generally recognized on shipment to the extent

that inventoriable manufacturing costs estimated warranty

costs and product performance guarantee costs as

appropriate exceed revenue realized Contract accounting

requires estimates of future costs over the performance

period of the contract as well as estimates of award fees and

other sources of revenue These estimates are subject to

change and result in adjustments to margins on contracts in

progress The extent of progress toward completion on our

long-term commercial aerospace equipment and helicopter

contracts is measured using units of delivery In addition we
use the cost-to-cost method for elevator and escalator sales

installation and modernization contracts in the commercial

businesses For long-term aftermarket contracts revenue is

recognized over the contract period in proportion to the

costs expected to be incurred in performing services under

the contract We review our cost estimates on significant

contracts on quarterly basis and for others no less

frequently than annually or when circumstances change and

warrant modification to previous estimate We record

changes in contract estimates using the cumulative catch-up

method in accordance with the Revenue Recognition Topic of

the FASB ASC

Service sales representing aftermarket repair and

maintenance activities are recognized over the contractual

period or as services are performed In the commercial

businesses revenue is generally recognized on straight line

basis In the aerospace businesses revenue is generally

recognized in proportion to cost

Sales generated from engine programs spare parts sales and

aftermarket business under collaboration arrangements are

recorded as earned in our financial statements Amounts

attributable to our collaborative partners for their share of

revenues are recorded as an expense in our financial

statements based upon the terms and nature of the

arrangement Costs associated with engine programs under

collaborative arrangements are expensed as incurred Under

these arrangements collaborators contribute their program

share of engine parts incur their own production costs and

make certain payments to Pratt Whitney for shared or joint

program costs The reimbursement of collaborators share

of program costs is recorded as reduction of the related

expense item at that time

Research and Development Research and development

costs not specifically covered by contracts and those related

to the company sponsored share of research and

development activity in connection with cost-sharing

arrangements are charged to expense as incurred

Government research and development support not

associated with specific contracts is recorded as reduction

to research and development expense in the period earned

Repayment if any is in the form of future royalties and is

conditioned upon the achievement of certain financial

targets

Research and development costs incurred under contracts

with customers are included as contract cost and reported

as component of cost of products sold when revenue from

such contracts is recognized

Foreign Exchange and Hedging Activity We conduct

business in many different currencies and accordingly are

subject to the inherent risks associated with foreign exchange

rate movements The financial position and results of

operations of substantially all of our foreign subsidiaries are

measured using the local currency as the functional currency

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are

translated into U.S Dollars at the exchange rates existing at

the respective balance sheet dates and income and expense

items are translated at the average exchange rates during the

respective periods The aggregate effects of translating the
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balance sheets of these subsidiaries are deferred as

Separate component of shareowners equity

We have used derivative instruments including swaps

forward contracts and options to help manage certain

foreign currency interest rate and commodity price

exposures Derivative instruments are viewed as risk

management tools by us and are not used for trading or

speculative purposes Derivatives used for hedging purposes

may be designated and effective as hedge of the identified

risk exposure at the inception of the contract

All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet

at fair value Derivatives used to hedge foreign-currency-

denominated balance sheet items are reported directly in

earnings along with offsetting transaction gains and losses on

the items being hedged Derivatives used to hedge

forecasted cash flows associated with foreign currency

commitments or forecasted commodity purchases may be

accounted for as cash flow hedges as deemed appropriate

Gains and losses on derivatives designated as cash flow

hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income and

reclassified to earnings in manner that matches the timing

of the earnings impact of the hedged transactions The

ineffective portion of all hedges if any is recognized

currently in earnings

Additional information pertaining to foreign currency forward

contracts is included in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Environmental Environmental investigatory remediation

operating and maintenance costs are accrued when it is

probable that liability has been incurred and the amount

can be reasonably estimated The most likely cost to be

incurred is accrued based on an evaluation of currently

available facts with respect to each individual site including

existing technology current laws and regulations and prior

remediation experience Where no amount within range of

estimates is more likely the minimum is accrued For sites

with multiple responsible parties we consider our likely

proportionate share of the anticipated remediation costs and

the ability of the other parties to fulfill their obligations in

establishing provision for those costs Liabilities with fixed

or reliably determinable future cash payments are

discounted Accrued environmental liabilities are not reduced

by potential insurance reimbursements

Asset Retirement Obligations We record the fair value of

legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible

long-lived assets in the period in which it is determined to

exist if reasonable estimate of fair value can be made Upon

initial recognition of liability we capitalize the cost of the

asset retirement obligation by increasing the carrying amount

of the related long-lived asset Over time the liability is

increased for changes in its present value and the capitalized

cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset

We have determined that conditional legal obligations exist

for certain of our worldwide owned and leased facilities

related primarily to building materials As of December 31

2011 and 2010 the outstanding liability for asset retirement

obligations was $164 million and $189 million respectively

Pension and Postretirement Obligations Guidance under the

CompensationRetirement Benefits Topic of the FASB ASC

requires balance sheet recognition of the overfunded or

underfunded status of pension and postretirement benefit

plans Under this guidance actuarial gains and losses prior

service costs or credits and any remaining transition assets

or obligations that have not been recognzed under previous

accounting standards must be recognized in other

comprehensive income net of tax effects until they are

amortized as component of net periodic benefit cost

NOTE BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS DISPOSITIONS GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Business Acquisitions and Dispositions Our investments in

businesses in 2011 2010 and 2009 totaled $372 million

including debt assumed of $15 million $2.8 billion including

debt assumed of $39 million and $703 million respectively

Our 2011 investments consisted of number of smaller

acquisitions in both the aerospace and commercial

businesses As result of Sikorskys contribution of business

into new venture in the United Arab Emirates we

recognized gain of approximately $73 million in the second

quarter of 2011

In November 2011 Carrier formed venture controlled by

Midea Group of China Midea for the manufacture and

distribution of heating ventilating and air-conditioning

HVAC products in Brazil Argentina and Chile The venture

is comprised of Carriers existing HVAC operations in the

three countries and Mideas distribution entity Nlidea owns

51% of the venture and Carrier 49% This joint venture

strengthens Carriers global strategic relationship with Midea

and expands the manufacturing and distribution of residential

and light commercial HVAC systems in Brazil Argentina and

Chile Carrier recognized gain of approximately $80 million

in 2011 as result of this transaction

On October 12 2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce plc

Rolls-Royce participant in the IAE collaboration

announced an agreement to restructure their interests in IAE

Under the terms of the agreement Rolls-Royce will sell its

interests in IAE and license its V2500 intellectual property in

IAE to Pratt Whitney for $1.6 billion plus an agreed payment

contingent on each hour flown by V2500-powered aircraft in

service at the closing date during the fifteen year period

following closing of the transaction Consummation of this

restructuring is subject to regulatory approvals and other

closing conditions The acquisition of the additional interests

in IAE will give Pratt Whitney controlling interest with

approximately 66% ownership Upon closing we anticipate

Pratt Whitney will begin consolidating IAE The acquisition

of the additional interests in IAE and the intellectual property

licenses will be reflected as intangible assets and amortized in

relation to the economic benefits received over the projected

remaining life of the V2500 program
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Also on October 12 2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce

announced an agreement to form new joint venture in

which each will hold an equal share to develop new engines

to power the next generation of 120 to 230 passenger

mid-size aircraft that will replace the existing fleet of mid-size

aircraft currently in service or in development With this new

joint venture Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce will focus on

high-bypass ratio geared turbofan technology as well as

collaborate on future studies of next generation propulsion

systems Pursuant to the agreement the formation of this

new venture is subject to regulatory approvals and other

closing conditions including completion of the restructuring

of the parties interests in IAE We expect the restructuring of

the parties interests in IAE to be completed in mid-2012 The

closing of the new joint venture may take substantially

longer period of time to complete

On September 21 2011 we announced an agreement to

acquire Goodrich Corporation Goodrich global supplier of

systems and services to the aerospace and defense industry

with 2010 sales of $7 billion Under the terms of the

agreement Goodrich shareholders will receive $127.50 in cash

for each share of Goodrich common stock they own at the

time of the closing of the transaction This equates to total

estimated enterprise value of $18.4 billion including $1.9

billion in net debt to be assumed We expect to finance the

total $16.5 billion to be paid to Goodrich shareholders at the

closing of the acquisition through combination of short and

long term debt equity issuance and cash We intend to

maintain our strong existing credit rating and minimize future

share count dilution on earnings per share by targeting the

equity component to comprise no more than 25% of the total

financing excluding the amount of Goodrich net debt to be

assumed We are also evaluating the potential disposition of

number of our non-core businesses to generate cash and

minimize the level of future debt or equity issuances The

transaction is subject to customary closing conditions

including regulatory approvals and Goodrich shareholder

approval We expect that this acquisition will close in

mid-2012 Goodrich products include aircraft nacelles and

interior systems actuation and landing systems and

electronic systems Once the acquisition is complete

Goodrich and Hamilton Sundstrand will be combined to form

new segment named UTC Aerospace Systems This

segment and our Pratt Whitney segment will be separately

reportable segments although they will both be included

within the UTC Propulsion Aerospace Systems

organizational structure We expect the increased scale

financial strength and complementary products of the new

combined business will strengthen our position in the

aerospace and defense industry Further we expect that this

acquisition will enhance our ability to support our customers

with more integrated systems

During 2011 we recorded other-than-temporary impairment

charges totaling $66 million on an equity investment held by

UTC Fire Security in order to write-down our investment to

market value as of December 31 2011 This impairment is

recorded within Other income net on our Consolidated

Statement of Operations

On March 2010 we completed the acquisition of the GE

Security business for approximately $1.8 billion including

debt assumed of $32 million The GE Security business

supplies security and fire safety technologies for commercial

and residential applications through broad product

portfolio that includes fire detection and life safety systems

intrusion alarms and video surveillance and access control

systems This business which has been integrated into our

UTC Fire Security segment enhanced UTC Fire Securitys

geographic diversity through GE Securitys strong North

American presence while increasing total product and

technology offerings In connection with the acquisition of GE

Security we recorded approximately $600 million of

identifiable intangible assets and $1.1 billion of goodwill The

goodwill recorded reflects synergies expected to be realized

through the combination of GE Securitys products resources

and management talent with those of the existing UTC Fire

Security business to enhance competitiveness accelerate the

development of certain product offerings drive improved

operational performance and secure additional service

channels Additionally the combined business has provided

the opportunity for significant improvements to the cost

structure through the rationalization of general and

administrative expenditures as well as research and

development efforts

During 2010 we completed the acquisition of Clipper

Windpower Plc Clipper publicly-held California-based

wind turbine manufacturer This investment is intended to

expand our power generation portfolio and allow us to enter

the wind power market by leveraging our expertise in blade

technology turbines and gearbox design In the first half of

2010 we acquired 49.9% equity stake in Clipper In

December 2010 we completed the acquisition of all the

remaining shares of Clipper The total cost of our investment

in Clipper is approximately $385 million In connection with

this transaction we recorded approximately $650 million of

goodwill and identifiable intangible assets Prior to the

December 2010 purchase of the remaining shares of Clipper

we accounted for this investment under the equity method of

accounting During the quarter ended September 30 2010

we recorded $159 million other-than-temporary impairment

charge on our investment in Clipper in order to write-down

our investment to market value as of September 30 2010

This impairment is recorded within Other income net on

our Consolidated Statement of Operations In December

2010 as result of the acquisition of controlling interest

and the remaining shares of Clipper we recorded $21 million

gain from the re-measurement to fair value of our previously

held equity interest The financial results of Clipper are

included within the Eliminations and other category in the

segment financial data in Note 18 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

During 2010 we recorded approximately $86 million of asset

impairment charges for assets that have met the

held-for-sale criteria related to disposition activity within

both Carrier and Hamilton Sundstrand These asset

impairment charges are recorded within Cost of products

sold on our Consolidated Statement of Operations The asset
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impairment Charges Consist of an approximately $58 million

Charge associated with Carriers ongoing portfolio

transformation to higher returns business and an

approximately $28 million charge at Hamilton Sundstrand

related to the disposition of an aerospace business as part of

Hamilton Sundstrands efforts to implement low cost sourcing

initiatives

In August 2009 we completed the acquisition of the

remaining 71% interest in GST Holdings Limited GST fire

alarm provider in China for approximately $250 million

bringing our total investment in GST to approximately $360

million We recorded over $200 million of goodwill and

approximately $100 million of identified intangible assets in

connection with GST With the acquisition of the remaining

71% of GST UTC Fire Security further strengthened its

presence in the Chinese fire safety industry

In July 2009 Carrier and Watsco Inc Watsco formed

Carrier Enterprise LLC joint venture to distribute Carrier

Bryant Payne and Totaline residential and light commercial

HVAC products in the U.S sunbelt region and selected

territories in the Caribbean and Latin America As part of the

transaction Carrier contributed its distribution businesses

located in these regions into the new venture In

consideration of its contribution Carrier received

approximately million shares of common stock of Watsco

and 40% non-controlling interest in the new venture which

included business contributed by Watsco Watsco owns

60% interest in the venture with options to purchase an

additional 20% interest from Carrier in future years Carrier

recognized gain of approximately $60 million in 2009 as

result of its contribution of the majority of its U.S residential

sales and distribution businesses in this new venture

The assets and liabilities of acquired businesses are accounted

for under the purchase method of accounting and recorded at

their fair values at the dates of acquisition The excess of the

purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets

acquired was recorded as an increase in goodwill of $432

million in 2011 $1.7 billion in 2010 and $630 million in 2009

The results of operations of acquired businesses have been

included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations

beginning as of the effective date of acquisition

Goodwill The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by

segment are as follows

Goodwill Foreign

Balance as of resulting from currency Balance as of

January business translation December 31

2011 combinations and other 2011

Otis 1470 62 16 1516

Carrier 3171 52 121 3102

UTC Fire Security 6646 58 48 6656

Pratt Whitney 1224 1223

Hamilton Sundstrand 4491 4475

Sikorsky 330 24 348

Total Segments 17332 188 200 17320

Etminations and other 389 244 10 623

Total 17721 $432 210 $17943

For 2011 we recorded an additional $244 million of goodwill

reflected within Eliminations and other in the above table

related to the finalization of purchase accounting associated

with the December 2010 acquisition of Clipper

Intangible Assets Identifiable intangible assets are comprised

of the following

Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

Dollars in millions Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized

Service portfolios $2036 $1060 1950 942
Patents and trademarks 463 183 441 153

Other principally customer

relationships 3329 1429 3229 1222

5828 2672 5620 2317

Unamortized

Trademarks and other 762 757

Total $6590 $2672 $6377 $2317

Amortization of intangible assets in 2011 and 2010 was $398

million and $387 million respectively Amortization of these

intangible assets for 2012 through 2016 expected to

approximate $325 million per year

NOTE EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net income attributable to common

shareowners $4979 $4373 $3829

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 892.3 907.9 9174

Stock awards 14.5 14.8 11.4

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 906.8 922.7 928.8

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Basic 5.58 4.82 4.17

Diluted 5.49 4.74 $4.12

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes the

effect of the potential exercise of stock awards including

stock appreciation rights and stock options when the average

market price of the common stock is lower than the exercise

price of the related stock awards durincl the period These

outstanding stock awards are not included in the

computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect

would have been anti-dilutive For 2011 there were no anti-

dilutive stock awards excluded from the computation For

2010 and 2009 the number of stock awards excluded from

the computation was 11.4 million and 20.2 million

respectively

NOTE COMMERCIAL AEROSPACE INDUSTRY ASSETS AND
COMMITMENTS
We have receivables and other financing assets with

commercial aerospace industry customers totaling $3736

million and $3384 million at December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively Customer financing assets related to

2011 2010

Dollars in millions except oer share amounts shares in millionsi 2011 2010 2009

Dollars is millions
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commercial aerospace industry customers consist of

products under lease of $665 million and notes and leases

receivable of $365 million The notes and leases receivable

are scheduled to mature as follows $37 million in 2012 $57

million in 2013 $26 million in 2014 $30 million in 2015 $30

million in 2016 and $185 million thereafter

Financing commitments in the form of secured debt

guarantees or lease financing are provided to commercial

aerospace customers The extent to which the financing

commitments will be utilized is not currently known since

customers may be able to obtain more favorable terms from

other financing sources We may also arrange for third-party

investors to assume portion of these commitments If

financing commitments are exercised debt financing is

generally secured by assets with fair market values equal to

or exceeding the financed amounts with interest rates

established at the time of funding We may also lease aircraft

and subsequently sublease the aircraft to customers under

long-term non-cancelable operating leases In some

instances customers may have minimum lease terms that

result in sublease periods shorter than our lease obligation

Lastly we have made residual value and other guarantees

related to various commercial aerospace customer financing

arrangements The estimated fair market values of the

guaranteed assets equal or exceed the value of the related

guarantees net of existing reserves We also have other

contractual commitments including commitments to secure

certain contractual rights to provide product on new aircraft

platforms Payments made on these contractual

commitments are included within other intangible assets and

are to be amortized as the related units are delivered

Our commercial aerospace financing and other contractual

commitments as of December 31 2011 were $2270 million

and are exercisable as follows $131 million in 2012 $252

million in 2013 $427 million in 2014 $206 million in 2015 $368
million in 2016 and $886 million thereafter Our financing

obligations with customers are contingent upon maintenance

of certain levels of financial condition by the customers In

addition we have residual value and other guarantees of

$323 million as of December 31 2011

As of December 31 2011 we held 33% interest in IAE an

international consortium of four shareholders organized to

support the V2500 commercial aircraft engine program Our

interest in IAE is accounted for under the equity method of

accounting IAE may offer customer financing in the form of

guarantees secured debt or lease financing in connection

with V2500 engine sales At December 31 2011 IAE had

financing commitments of $728 million and asset value

guarantees of $50 million Our share of IAEs financing

commitments and asset value guarantees was approximately

$252 million at December 31 2011 In addition IAE had lease

obligations under long-term non-cancelable leases of

approximately $211 million on an undiscounted basis through

2020 related to aircraft which are subleased to customers

under long-term leases These aircraft have fair market

values which approximate the financed amounts net of

reserves The shareholders of IAE have guaranteed IAEs

financing arrangements to the extent of their respective

ownership interests In the event of default by shareholder

on certain of these financing arrangements the other

shareholders would be proportionately responsible

Reserves related to aerospace receivables and financing

assets were $169 million and $133 million at December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively Reserves related to financing

commitments and guarantees were $73 million and $38

million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

NOTE INVENTORIES CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS

Dollars ralllions 2011 2010

Raw materials 1321 1221

Work-in-process 3175 3259

Finished goods 3078 3026

Contracts in progress 6899 6340

14473 13846

Less

Progress payments secured by lien on U.S

Government contracts 422 275
Billings on contracts in progress 6254 5805

7797 7766

We have long-term aftermarket maintenance contracts with

commercial aerospace industry customers for which revenue

is recognized in proportion to actual costs incurred relative to

total expected costs to be incurred over the respective

contract periods Billings however are typically based on

factors such as engine flight hours The timing differences

between the billings and the maintenance costs incurred

generates both deferred assets and deferred revenues

Deferred assets under these long-term aftermarket contracts

totaled $235 million and $290 million at December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively and are included in Other assets in the

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets Deferred

revenues generated totaled $1708 million and $1474 million

at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively and are included

in Accrued liabilities and Other long-term liabilities in the

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet

Raw materials work-in-process and finished goods are net of

valuation reserves of $884 million and $799 million as of

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively As of December 31

2011 and 2010 inventory also includes capitalized contract

development costs of $776 million and $804 million

respectively related to certain aerospace programs These

capitalized costs will be liquidated as production units are

delivered to the customer The capitalized contract

development costs within inventory principally relate to

capitalized costs on Sikorskys CH-148 contract with the

Canadian government The CH-148 is derivative of the H-92

military variant of the S-92

Contracts in progress principally relate to elevator and

escalator contracts and include costs of manufactured

components accumulated installation costs and estimated

earnings on incomplete contracts
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Our sales contracts in many cases are long-term contracts

expected to be performed over periods exceeding twelve

months At both December 31 2011 and 2010 approximately

75% of total inventories and contracts in progress have been

acquired or manufactured under such long-term contracts

portion of which is not scheduled for delivery within the next

twelve months

NOTE FIXED ASSETS

Estimated

Dollars millions Useful Lives

Land 335 342

Buildings and improvements 12-40 years 4885 4908

Machinery tools and equipment 3-20 years 9994 10010

Other including under

construction 766 654

15980 15914

Accumulated depreciation 9779 9634

6201 6280

Depreciation expense was $890 million in 2011 $900 million

in 2010 and $852 million in 2009

NOTE ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Dollars is millions 2011 2010

Advances on sales contracts and service billings 5028 5203

Accrued salaries wages and employee benefits 1910 1918

Service and warranty accruals 702 449

Income taxes payable 547 504

Litigation and contract matters 535 577

Interest payable 325 294

Accrued restructuring costs 248 358

Accrued workers compensation 215 210

Accrued property sales and use taxes 197 209

Other 2580 2525

$12287 $12247

NOTE BORROWINGS AND LINES OF CREDIT

Dollsrs in millions 2011 2010

Short-term borrowings

Commercial paper $455

Other borrowings 175 116

Total short-term borrowings $630 $116

The weighted-average interest rates applicable to short-term

borrowings outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010 were

15% and 6.3% respectively The decline in the weighted-

average interest rates for short-term borrowings was due to

the commercial paper borrowings outstanding at

December 31 2011 which carry favorable interest rates At

December 31 2011 approximately $1.3 billion was available

under short-term lines of credit with local banks at our

various domestic and international subsidiaries In November

2011 our maximum commercial paper borrowing authority

was increased from $3 billion to $4 billion We generally use

our commercial paper borrowings for general corporate

purposes including the funding of potential acquisitions and

repurchases of our common stock

At December 31 2011 we had revolving credit agreements

with various banks permitting aggregatEf borrowings of up to

$4.0 billion pursuant to $2.0 billion revolving credit

agreement and $2.0 billion multicurrency revolving credit

agreement both of which expire in November 2016 These

revolving credit agreements were signed on November

2011 and replaced our previous revolving credit agreements

executed in 2010 which had permitted aggregate borrowings

of up to $3.0 billion As of December 31 2011 there were no

borrowings under either of these revolving credit

agreements The undrawn portions of our revolving credit

agreements are also available to serve as backup facilities for

the issuance of commercial paper

On November 2011 we entered into bridge credit

agreement with various financial institutions that provides for

$15 billion unsecured bridge loan facility available to pay

portion of the cash consideration for the Goodrich

acquisition and to finance certain related transactions and

pay related fees and expenses Any funding under the bridge

credit agreement would occur substantially concurrently with

the consummation of the Goodrich acquisition subject to

customary conditions for acquisition financings of this type

Any loans made pursuant to the bridge credit agreement

would mature on the date that is 364 days after the funding

date

Our long-term debt consists of the following

Dollars in milhsns
2011

Total long-term debt 9630 10173

Less current portion 129 163

Long-term portion $9501 $10010

we may redeem the above notes in whole or in part at our option at any time

at redemption price in U.S Dollars equal to the greater of 100% of the

principal amount of the notes to be redeemed or the sum of the present values

of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes to

be redeemed discounted to the redemption date on semiannual basis at the

adiusted treasury rate plus 10-50 basis points The redemption price will also

include interest accrued to the date of redemption on the principal balance of

the notes being redeemed

2011 2010

2010

6.100% notes due 2012

4.875% notes due 2015

5.375% notes due 2O17

6.125% notes due 2019

8.875% notes due 2019

4.500% notes due 202O

8.750% notes due 2021

6.700% notes due 2028

7.500% notes due 2029

5.400% notes due 2035

6.050% notes due 2036

6.125% notes due 2038

5.700% notes due 2040

Proiect financing obligations

Other including capitalized leases

1200

1000

1250

272

1250

250

400

550

600

600

1000

1000

127

131

500

1200

1000

1250

272

1250

250

400

550

600

600

1.000

1000

141

60
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In December 2011 we redeemed the entire $500 million

outstanding principal amount of our 6.100% notes that would

otherwise have been due May 15 2012 In February 2010 we
issued two series of fixed rate notes that pay interest

semiannually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each

year beginning October15 2010 The $1.25 billion principal

amount of fixed rate notes bears interest at rate equal to

4.500% per year and matures on April 15 2020 The $1.0

billion principal amount of fixed rate notes bears interest at

rate equal to 5.700% per year and matures on April 15 2040
The proceeds from these notes were used primarily to fund

portion of the acquisition of the GE Security business and to

repay commercial paper borrowings

The project financing obligations noted above are associated

with the sale of rights to unbilled revenues related to the

ongoing activity of an entity owned by Carrier The

percentage of total short-term borrowings and long-term

debt at variable interest rates was 7% and 2% at December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively Interest rates on our commercial

paper borrowings are considered variable due to their short-

term duration and high-frequency of turnover

The schedule of principal payments required on long-term

debt for the next five years and thereafter is

DoIrs rIIiors

2012 129

2013 20

2014 26

2015 1221

2016 10

Thereafter 8224

Total $9630

We have an existing universal shelf registration statement

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC for

an indeterminate amount of securities for future issuance

subject to our internal limitations on the amount of debt to be

issued under this shelf registration statement

NOTE EQUITY

Changes in non-controlling interests that do not result in

change of control and where there is difference between

fair value and carrying value are accounted for as equity

transactions summary of these changes in ownership

interests in subsidiaries and the pro-forma effect on Net

income attributable to common shareowners had they been

recorded through net income is provided below

Net income attributable to common
shareowners $4979 $4373 $3829

Transfers to non-controlling interests

Increase in common stock for sale of

subsidiary shares

Decrease in common stock for purchase

of subsidiary shares 54 02 67

Net income attributable to common

shareowners after transfers to

non-controlling interests $4928 $4361 $3762

NOTE 10 INCOME TAXES

The income tax expense benefit for the years ended

December 31 consisted of the following components

Dorlars in rrsilons 2011 2010 2009

current

United States

Federal 428 122 239

State 99 128 54

Foreign 1373 1164 837

1900 1414 1130

Future

United States

Federal 528 461 370

State 27 41

Foreign 224 48 40

331 413 451

Income tax expense 2231 $1827 $1581

Attrrbutable to items credited charged
to equity and goodwill 864 276 $782

Future income taxes represent the tax effects of transactions

which are reported in different periods for tax and financial

reporting purposes These amounts consist of the tax effects

of temporary differences between the tax and financial

reporting balance sheets and tax carryforwards Current and

non-current future income tax benefits and payables within

the same tax jurisdiction are generally offset for presentation

in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

The tax effects of net temporary differences and tax

carryforwards which gave rise to future income tax benefits

and payables at December 31 2011 and 2010 are as follows

Dollers rnilhons 2011 2010

Future income tax benefits

Insurance and employee benefits $2579 $1986

Other asset basis differences 569 540
Other liability basis differences 1046 958

Tax loss carryforwards 723 729

Tax credit carryforwards 1247 1371

Valuation allowances 977 911

$4049 $3593

Future income taxes payable

Fixed assets 667 647

Other items net 248 190

915 837

Valuation allowances have been established primarily for tax

credit carryforwards tax loss carryforwards and certain

foreign temporary differences to reduce the future income

tax benefits to expected realizable amounts

It is reasonably possible that over the course of 2012 the

amount of valuation allowances may decrease within range

of $150 million to $200 million resulting from potential

internal reorganizations that may occur in 2012 These internal

reorganizations are separate from the creation of the UTC
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Climate Controls Security and the UTC Propulsion

Aerospace Systems organizations as described above and

are component of our ongoing efforts to improve business

efficiency

The sources of income before income taxes are

Dollars mIhoxs 2011 2010 2009

united States $3293 $2655 $2584

Foreign 4312 3883 3176

$7605 $6538 $5760

With few exceptions U.S income taxes have not been

provided on undistributed earnings of international

subsidiaries It is not practicable to estimate the amount of

tax that might be payable Our intention is to reinvest these

earnings permanently outside the U.S or to repatriate the

earnings only when it is tax effective to do so Accordingly

we believe that U.S tax on any earnings that might be

repatriated would be substantially offset by U.S foreign tax

credits

Differences between effective income tax rates and the

statutory U.S federal income tax rate are as follows

Statutory U.S federal income tax rate 35.0 35.0 35.0

Tax on international activities 4.3% 7.6% 6.9%

Tax audit settlements 0.8% O.7%

Other 0.6% 0.5

Effective income tax rate 29.3 27.9 27.4

The 2011 effective tax rate increased as compared to 2010

due to the absence of the repatriation of high taxed

dividends which had net favorable impact in 2010 The 2011

effective tax rate reflects approximately $63 million of

favorable income tax adjustments related to the settlement of

two refund claims for years prior to 2004 as well as

favorable tax impact of $17 million related to U.K tax rate

reduction enacted in 2011 These favorable tax adjustments

are partially offset by non-deductible charges accrued in 2011

The 2010 effective tax rate reflects non-recurring tax

expense reduction associated with managements decision to

repatriate additional high tax dividends from the current year

to the U.S in 2010 as result of U.S tax legislation enacted at

the time This is partially offset by the non-deductibility of

impairment charges the adverse impact from the health care

legislation related to the Medicare Part program and other

increases to our effective tax rate

The 2009 effective tax rate reflects approximately $38 million

of tax expense reductions relating to re-evaluation of our

liabilities and contingencies based on global examination

activity including the IRSs completion of 2004 and 2005

examination fieldwork and our related protest filing As

result of the global examination activity we recognized

approximately $18 million of associated pre-tax interest

income adjustments during 2009

At December 31 2011 tax credit carryforwards principally

state and federal and tax loss carryforwards principally state

and foreign were as follows

Tax Credit Tax Loss

Dollars is rxillixss Carryforwards Cerryforwards

Expiration period

2012-2016 22 523

2017-2021 164 125

2022-2031 308 397

Indefinite 753 2157

Total $1247 $3202

At December 31 2011 we had gross tax-effected

unrecognized tax benefits of $946 million all of which if

recognized would impact the effective tax rate

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of

unrecognized tax benefits and interest expense related to

unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 is as follows

Dollars in milIoss 2011

Balance at January 891 $793 773

Additions for tax positions related to the

current year 71 115 90

Additions for tax positions of prior years 71 80 174

Reductions for tax positions of prior

years .24 81 20
Settlements 63 16 224

Balance at December 31 $946 891 793

Gross interest expense related to

unrecognized tax benefits 23 27 21

Total accrued interest balance at

December31 165 $144 142

Included in the balance at December 31 2009 was $57 million

of tax positions whose tax characterization was highly certain

but for which there was uncertainty about the timing of tax

return inclusion During 2010 the uncertainty was removed as

result of an accounting method change approved by the

Internal Revenue Service IRS

During 2011 we reached final resolution with the IRS on two

refund claims that had been pending with respect to

pre-2004 tax years and refunds were received in accordance

with the resolutions reduction in tax expense in the

amount of $63 million and pretax interest income in the

amount of $89 million was recognized during 2011 associated

with the resolution of these claims

Tax years 2004 2005 are currently before the Appeals

Division of the IRS for resolution discussions regarding certain

proposed tax adjustments with which we do not agree Tax

years 2006 2008 are currently under review by the

Examination Division of the IRS It is possible that both the

2004 2005 appeals activity as well as 2006 2008

examination activity may conclude before the end of the

second quarter of 2012 The Company expects the IRS to

commence their review of the 2009 and 2010 tax years in the

first quarter of 2012

2011 2010 2009

2010 2009
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We expect that certain adjustments proposed by the IRS in

the course of its examination of tax years 2006 2008 and

with which we do not agree will further proceed to the

Appeals Division of the IRS for resolution discussions Any

discussions with the IRS Appeals Division related to the 2006

2008 tax years is likely to continue beyond 2012

We conduct business globally and as result UTC or one or

more of our subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S

federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions

In the normal course of business we are subject to

examination by taxing authorities throughout the world

including such major jurisdictions as Australia Belgium

Canada China France Germany Hong Kong Italy Japan

South Korea Singapore Spain the United Kingdom and the

United States With few exceptions we are no longer subject

to U.S federal state and local or non-U.S income tax

examinations for years before 1998

It is reasonably possible that net reduction within range of

$160 million to $260 million of unrecognized tax benefits may

occur over the course of 2012 as result of additional

worldwide uncertain tax positions the revaluation of current

uncertain tax positions arising from developments in

examinations in appeals or in the courts or the closure of tax

statutes Not included in the range is 198 million

approximately $258 million of tax benefits that we have

claimed related to 1998 German reorganization These tax

benefits are currently being reviewed by the German Tax

Office in the course of an audit of tax years 1999 to 2000 In

2008 the German Federal Tax Court denied benefits to

another taxpayer in case involving German tax law

relevant to our reorganization The determination of the

German Federal Tax Court on this other matter was appealed

to the European Court of Justice ECJ to determine if the

underlying German tax law is violative of European Union EU
principles On September 17 2009 the ECJ issued an opinion

in this case that is generally favorable to the other taxpayer

and referred the case back to the German Federal Tax Court

for further consideration of certain related issues In May 2010

the German Federal Tax Court released its decision in which it

resolved certain tax issues that may be relevant to our audit

and remanded the case to lower court for further

development After consideration of the ECJ decision and the

latest German Federal Tax Court decision we continue to

believe that it is more likely than not that the relevant German

tax law is violative of EU principles and we have not accrued

tax expense for this matter As we continue to monitor

developments related to this matter it may become necessary

for us to accrue tax expense and related interest

As result of expected tax examination activity and

associated re-evaluation of tax related liabilities and

contingencies it is possible that we may recognize non-cash

gains principally tax in the range of $225 million to $350

million within the first half of 2012

NOTE 11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor numerous domestic and foreign employee

benefit plans which are discussed below

Employee Savings Plans We sponsor various employee

savings plans Our contributions to employer sponsored

defined contribution plans were $218 million $200 million and

$192 million for 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Effective

January 2010 newly hired non-union domestic employees

receive all of their retirement benefits through the defined

contribution savings plan

Our non-union domestic employee savings plan uses an

Employee Stock Ownership Plan ESOP for employer

contributions External borrowings were used by the ESOP to

fund portion of its purchase of ESOP stock from us The

external borrowings have been extinguished and only

re-amortized loans remain between the company and the

ESOP Trust As ESOP debt service payments are made
common stock is released from an unreleased shares

account ESOP debt may be prepaid or re-amortized to either

increase or decrease the number of shares released so that

the value of released shares equals the value of plan benefit

We may also at our option contribute additional common
stock or cash to the ESOP

Shares of common stock are allocated to employees ESOP
accounts at fair value on the date earned Cash dividends on

common stock held by the ESOP are used for debt service

payments Participants receive additional shares in lieu of

cash dividends Common stock allocated to ESOP

participants is included in the average number of common
shares outstanding for both basic and diluted earnings per

share At December 31 2011 33.6 million common shares had

been allocated to employees leaving 18.8 million unallocated

common shares in the ESOP Trust with an approximate fair

value of $1.4 billion
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Pension Plans We sponsor both funded and unfunded

domestic and foreign defined benefit pension plans that

cover the majority of our employees Our plans use

December 31 measurement date Consistent with our fiscal

year

Dollars is rrnlliorrs 2011 2010

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Beginning balance $24445 22271

Service cost 444 396

Interest cost 1298 1287

Actuarial loss 2185 1625

Total benefits paid 1233 1216

Net settlement and curtailment loss gain 37
Plan amendments 21 121

Other

Ending balance 27167 24445

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

Beginning balance $22384 19377

Actual return on plan assets 1320 2635

Employer contributions 1060 1621

Benefits paid from plan assets 1233 1216
Other 11 33

Ending balance $23542 22384

FUNDED STATUS

FaIr value of plan assets $23542 22384

Benefit obligations 27167 24445

Funded status of plan 3625 2061

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN THE CONSOLIDATED

BALANCE SHEET CONSIST OF
Noncurrent assets 552 637

Current liability 64 58
Noncurrent liability 4113 2640

Net amount recognized 3625 2061

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN ACCUMULATED
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS CONSIST OF

Net actuarial loss 9436 7223

Prior service credit 152 184
Transition obligation

Net amount recognized 9290 7045

The amounts included in Other in the preceding table

reflect the impact of foreign exchange translation primarily

for plans in the U.K and Canada

Qualified domestic pension plan benefits comprise

approximately 76% of the projected benefit obligation

Benefits for union employees are generally based on stated

amount for each year of service For non-union employees

benefits are generally based on an employees years of

service and compensation near retirement Effective

January 2015 this formula will change to the existing cash

balance formula that was adopted in 2003 for newly hired

non-union employees and for other non-union employees

who made one-time voluntary election to have future

benefit accruals determined under this formula This plan

change resulted in $623 million reduction in the projected

benefit obligation as of December 31 2009 Certain foreign

plans which comprise approximately 23% of the projected

benefit obligation are considered defined benefit plans for

accounting purposes Nonqualified domestic pension plans

provide supplementary retirement benefits to certain

employees and are not material component of the

projected benefit obligation

We made $156 million of cash contributions and contributed

$450 million in UTC common stock to our domestic defined

benefit pension plans and made $395 million of cash

contributions to our foreign defined benefit pension plans in

2011 In 2010 we made $1001 million of cash contributions

and contributed $250 million in UTC common stock to our

domestic defined benefit pension plans and made $298

million of cash contributions to our foreign defined benefit

pension plans

Information for pension plans with accumulated benefit

obligation in excess of plan assets

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit

pension plans was $26.0 billion and $23.2 billion at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

The components of the net periodic perlsion cost are as

follows

2011 2010 2009

Pension Benefits

Service cost 444 396 429

Interest cost 1298 1287 1285

Expected return on plan assets 1834 1735 1634

Amortization of prior service

credits costs 12 18 56

Amortization of unrecognized net

transition obligation

Recognized actuarial net loss 462 285 226

Net settlement and curtailment

loss 16 102

Net periodic pension costemployer 37S 218 465

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations

recognized in other comprehensive loss in 2011 are as follows

Dollars in millions

Current year actuarial loss $2700

Amortization of actuarial loss 462
Current year prior service cost 21

Amortization of prior service credit 12

Amortization of transition obligation

Other

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss $2269

Net recognized in net periodic pension cost and other

comprehensive loss $2644

Dollars in millions 2011

Projected benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligation

Fair value of plan assets

$24091

23198

19949

001mm in mlions
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The estimated amount that will be amortized from

accumulated other Comprehensive loss into net periodic

pension cost in 2012 is as follows

Dollars -rrilliorrs

Net actuarial loss $722

Prior service credit 12
Transition obligation

711

Major assumptions used in determining the benefit obligation

and net cost for pension plans are presented in the following

table as weighted-averages

BENEFIT

OBLIGATION NET D5T

2011 2010 2011 2010 2009

Discount rate 4.7% 5.4% 5.4% 6.9% 6.1%

Salary scale 4.3% 4.4% 4.4% 4.4% 4.4%

Expected return on plan assets 7.9% 8.0% 8.2%

In determining the expected return on plan assets we

consider the relative weighting of plan assets the historical

performance of total plan assets and individual asset classes

and economic and other indicators of future performance In

addition we may consult with and consider the opinions of

financial and other professionals in developing appropriate

capital market assumptions Return projections are also

validated using simulation model that incorporates yield

curves credit spreads and risk premiums to project long-term

prospective returns

The plans investment management objectives include

maintaining an adequate level of diversification to reduce

interest rate and market risk and to provide adequate

liquidity to meet immediate and future benefit payment

requirements The overall investment strategy targets mix

of 65% growth seeking assets and 35% income generating

assets using wide diversification of asset types fund

strategies and investment managers The growth seeking

allocation consists of global public equities in developed and

emerging countries private equity real estate and balanced

market risk strategies Within public equities 9% of the

portfolio is an enhanced equity strategy that invests in

publicly traded equity and fixed income securities derivatives

and foreign currency Investments in private equity are

primarily via limited partnership interests in buy-out

strategies with smaller allocations in distressed debt funds

The real estate strategy is principally concentrated in directly

held U.S core investments with some smaller investments in

international value-added and opportunistic strategies

Within the income generating assets the fixed income

portfolio consists of broadly diversified portfolio of

corporate bonds global government bonds and U.S Treasury

STRIPS These investments are designed to hedge 40% of the

interest rate sensitivity of the pension plan liabilities

2011 ANNUAL REPORT 73



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fair values of pension plan assets at December 31 2011 and 2010 by asset category are as follows

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant Significant

For Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

Dollars in millions Level Level Level Total

ASSET CATEGORY

Public Equities

Global Equities $5210 5214

Global Equity Commingled Fundst 2981 2981

Enhanced Global Equitiess 44 1590 239 1873

Private Equitiesct 1159 1159

Fixed Income Securities

Governments 1564 1199 2763

Corporate Bonds 5167 110 5277

Structured Productstdt 67 67

Real Estateet 16 1364 1380

Otbertt 1869 1869

Cash Cash Equivalentss 359 359

Subtotal $6818 $13252 $2872 22942

Other Assets LiabiIitiest5 600

TOTAL AT DECEMBER 31 2011 $23542

Public Equities

Global Equities $5332 5340

Global Equity Commingled Fundstn 3200 3200

Enhanced Global Equitiesm 57 1662 245 1964

Private EquitiesUt 1134 1134

Fixed Income Securities

Governments 691 1149 1840

Corporate Bonds 21 5424 5445

Structured Productstd 76 76

Real Estatete 26 944 970

OtherE 1517 1517

Cash Cash Equivalentss 293 293

Subtotal 6101 $13354 $2324 21779

Other Assets Liabilitiest5t 605

TOTAL AT DECEMBER 31 2010 $22384

Represents commingled funds that invest primarily in common stocks

Represents enhanced equity separate account and commingled fund portfolios portion of the portfolio may include long-short market neutral and relative value

strategies that invest in publicly traded equity and fixed income securities as well as derivatives of equity and fixed income securities and foreign currency

Represents limited partner investments with general partners that primarily invest in debt and equity

Represents mortgage and asset-backed securities

Represents investments in real estate including commingled funds and directly held properties

Represents insurance contracts and global balanced risk commingled funds consisting mainly of equity bonds and some commodities

Represents short-term commercial paper bonds and other cash or cash-like instruments

Represents trust receivables and payables that are not leveled

Derivatives in the plan are primarily used to manage risk and

gain asset class exposure while still maintaining liquidity

Derivative instruments mainly consist of equity futures

interest rate futures interest rate swaps and currency

forward contracts

Our common stock represents approximately 4% and 3% of

total plan assets at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

We review our assets at least quarterly to ensure we are

within the targeted asset allocation ranges and if necessary

asset balances are adlusted back within target allocations

We employ broadly diversified investment manager

structure that includes diversification by active and passive

management style capitalization country sector industry

and number of investment managers
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The fair value measurement of plan assets using significant unobservable inputs Level changed due to the following

Enhanced

Global Global Private Corporate

Dollars irr ririllions Equities Equities Equities Bonds Real Estate Total

Balance December 31 2009 11 $1045 715 1771

Realized gains losses 157 151

unrealized gains relating to instruments still held in the reporting period 51 63 123

Purchases sales and settlements net 225 119 150 257

Transfers in net 22 22

Balance December 31 2010 245 1134 944 2324

Realized losses gains 108 101

unrealized losses gains relating to instruments still held in the

reporting period 17 137 159

Purchases sales and settlements net 100 104 289 288

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2011 $239 $1159 $110 $1364 $2872

Quoted market prices are used to value investments when

available Investments in securities traded on exchanges

including listed futures and options are valued at the last

reported sale prices on the last business day of the year or if

not available the last reported bid prices Fixed income

securities are primarily measured using market approach

pricing methodology where observable prices are obtained

by market transactions involving identical or comparable

securities of issuers with similar credit ratings Mortgages

have been valued on the basis of their future principal and

interest payments discounted at prevailing interest rates for

similar investments Investment contracts are valued at fair

value by discounting the related cash flows based on current

yields of similar instruments with comparable durations Real

estate investments are valued on quarterly basis using

discounted cash flow models which consider long-term lease

estimates future rental receipts and estimated residual

values Valuation estimates are supplemented by third-party

appraisals on an annual basis

Private equity limited partnerships are valued quarterly using

discounted cash flows earnings multiples and market

multiples Valuation adjustments reflect changes in operating

results financial condition or prospects of the applicable

portfolio company Over-the-counter securities and

government obligations are valued at the bid prices or the

average of the bid and ask prices on the last business day of

the year from published sources or if not available from

other sources considered reliable generally broker quotes

Temporary cash investments are stated at cost which

approximates fair value

ESTIMATED FUTURE CONTRIBUTIONS AND BENEFIT

PAYMENTS

We expect to make contributions of approximately $100

million to our foreign defined benefit pension plans in 2012

Although we are not required to make contributions to our

domestic defined benefit pension plans through the end of

2012 we may elect to make discretionary contributions in

2012 Contributions do not reflect benefits to be paid directly

from corporate assets

Benefit payments including amounts to be paid from

corporate assets and reflecting expected future service as

appropriate are expected to be paid as follows $1356 million

in 2012 $1378 million in 2013 $1433 million in 2014 $1493

million in 2015 $1556 million in 2016 and $8788 million from

2017 through 2021

Postretirement Benefit Plans We sponsor number of

postretirement benefit plans that provide health and life

benefits to eligible retirees Such benefits are provided

primarily from domestic plans which comprise approximately

84% of the benefit obligation The postretirement plans are

primarily unfunded Assets in funded plans are primarily

invested in cash and cash equivalents

Dollars hr millierrs 2011 2010

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Beginning balance 832 976

Service cost

Interest cost 39 46

Actuarial gain 29
Total benefits paid 104 105
Other 21 42

Ending balance 784 B32

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

Beginning balance 10 11

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions 76 76

Benefits paid from plan assets 104 105
Other 16 29

Ending balance 10

FUNDED STATUS

Fair value of plan assets 10

Benefit obligations 784 832

Funded status of plan $784 $822

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET CONSIST OF

Current liability 74 66
Noncurrent liability 710 756

Net amount recognized $784 $822

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS CONSIST OF

Net actuarial gain 120 130
Prior service cost

Net amount recognized 118 129
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Other Postretirement Benefits

Service cost

Interest cost 39 46 50

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of prior service credit

Recognized actuarial net gain

Net settlement and curtailment gain

Net periodic other postretirement benefit cost $23 $44 $46

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations

recognized in other Comprehensive loss in 2011 are as follows

Dollars is rrrllioos

Current year actuarial gain $8
Amortization of prior service credit

Amortization of actuarial net gain

Net settlements and curtailments 10

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss $12

Net recognized in net periodic other postretirement benefit cost and

other comprehensive loss $35

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from

accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic

benefit cost in 2012 include actuarial net gains of $6 million

Major assumptions used in determining the benefit obligation

and net cost for postretirement plans are presented in the

following table as weighted-averages

BENEFIT

OBLIGATION NET COST

2011 2010 2011 2010 2009

2011 2010

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.5% 9.0%

Rate that the cost trend rate gradually declines to 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the rate it
is assumed to

remain at 2019 2019

Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect

on the amounts reported for the health care plans

one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost

trend rates would have the following effects

2011 One-Percentage-Point

Dollars millions Increase Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation
47 40

ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENT
Benefit payments including net amounts to be paid from

corporate assets and reflecting expected future service as

appropriate are expected to be paid as follows $79 million in

2012 $74 million in 2013 $72 million in 2014 $69 million in

2015 $63 million in 2016 and $265 million from 2017 through

2021

Multiemployer Benefit Plans We contribute to various

domestic and foreign multiemployer defined benefit pension

plans The risks of participating in these multiemployer plans

are different from single-employer plans in that assets

contributed are pooled and may be used to provide benefits

to employees of other participating employers If

participating employer stops contributirlg to the plan the

unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the

remaining participating employers Lastly if we choose to

stop participating in some of our multiemployer plans we

may be required to pay those plans withdrawal liability

based on the underfunded status of the plan

Our participation in these plans for the annual periods ended December 31 is outlined in the table below Llnless otherwise

noted the most recent Pension Protection Act PPA zone status available in 2011 and 2010 is for the plans year-end at

June 30 2010 and June 30 2009 respectively The zone status is based on information that we received from the plan and is

certified by the plans actuary Our significant plan is in the green zone which represents at least 80 percent funded and does

not require financial improvement plan FIP or rehabilitation plan RP

PENSION PROTEOTION ADT

ZONE STATUS

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows

Dollars as rnilhnns 2011 2010 2009

Assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows

Discount rate 4.3% 4.9% 4.9% 5.5% 6.O%

Expected return on plan assets 5.0% 5.0% 5j

Dollars in millions FIP/RP STATUS coNTRIBUTIoNS

Expiration Date of

EIN/Pension Pending/ Sucharge Collective-Bargaining

Pension Fund Plan Number 2011 2010 Implemented 2011 2010 2009 Pnpoued Agreement

National Elevator

Industry Plan 23-2694291 Green Green No $56 $55 $60 No July 2012

Other funds 38 35 37

$94 $90 $97

For the plan years ended June 30 2010 and 2009 contributions for the plan At the date these financial

respectively we were listed in the National Elevator Industry statements were issued Forms 5500 were not available for

Plans Forms 5500 as providing more than 5% of the total the plan year ending June 30 2011
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In addition we participate in several multiemployer

arrangements that provide postretirement benefits other than

pensions with the National Elevator Industry Plan being the

most significant These arrangements generally provide

medical and life benefits for eligible active employees and

retirees and their dependents Contributions to multiemployer

plans that provide postretirement benefits other than

pensions were $10 million $10 million and $11 million for 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively

Stock-based Compensation We have long-term incentive

plans authorizing various types of market and performance

based incentive awards that may be granted to officers and

employees Our Long Term Incentive Plan LTIP was initially

approved on April 13 2005 and amended in 2011 to increase

the maximum number of shares available for award under the

LTIP to 119 million shares Following initial approval of the

LTIP we may not grant any new awards under previously

existing equity compensation plans As of December 31 2011

approximately 56 million shares remain available for awards

under the LTIP The LTIP does not contain an annual award

limit We expect that the shares awarded on an annual basis

will range from 1% to 1.5% of shares outstanding The LTIP will

expire after all shares have been awarded or April 30 2017

whichever is sooner

Under all long-term incentive plans the exercise price of

awards is set on the grant date and may not be less than the

fair market value per share on that date Generally stock

appreciation rights and stock options have term of ten

years and minimum three-year vesting period In the event

of retirement awards held for more than one year shall

immediately become vested and exercisable In addition

under the LTIP awards with performance-based vesting

generally have minimum three-year vesting period and vest

based on performance against pre-established metrics In the

event of retirement awards held more than one year remain

eligible to vest We have historically repurchased shares of

our common stock in an amount at least equal to the number

of shares issued under our equity compensation

arrangements and will continue to evaluate this policy in

conjunction with our overall share repurchase program

We measure the cost of all share-based payments including

stock options at fair value on the grant date and recognize

this cost in the statement of operations For the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 $229 million $154 million

and $153 million respectively of compensation cost was

recognized in operating results The associated future income

tax benefit recognized was $75 million $47 million and $49

million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 the

amount of cash received from the exercise of stock options

was $226 million $386 million and $342 million respectively

with an associated tax benefit realized of $101 million $139

million and $95 million respectively In addition for the years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 the associated tax

benefit realized from the vesting of performance share units

was $19 million $20 million and $33 million respectively Also

in accordance with the Compensation Stock Compensation

Topic of the FASB ASC for the years ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 $81 million $94 million and $50 million

respectively of certain tax benefits have been reported as

operating cash outflows with corresponding cash inflows

from financing activities

At December 31 2011 there was $152 million of total

unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested

equity awards granted under long-term incentive plans This

cost is expected to be recognized ratably over weighted-

average period of 1.9 years

summary of the transactions under all long-term incentive plans for the year ended December 31 2011 follows

shares and Units in thousands

STOCK OPTIONS

Shares Average Price

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

Shares Average Price

PERFORMANCE SHARE UNITS

Units Average Price

Other

Incentive

Shares Units

Outstanding at

OeCember 31 2010 27337 $44.82 31.220 64.72 3.024 $65.96 807

Granted 320 78.99 4916 79.09 946 78.99 455

Exercised/Earned 6551 37.36 1249 64.96 746 75.21 116
Cancelled 77 53.78 849 68.30 262 71.40 37

DECEMBER 31 2011 21029 $47.63 34038 $66.70 2962 67.31 1109

weighted-average exercise price

weighted-average grant stock price

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options The total intrinsic value which is the amount by which the

and stock appreciation rights granted during 2011 2010 and stock price exceeded the exercise price on the date of

2009 was $20.26 $17.86 and $16.01 respectively The exercise of stock options and stock appreciation rights

weighted-average grant date fair value of performance share exercised during the years ended December 31 2011 2010

units which vest upon achieving certain performance metrics and 2009 was $336 million $446 million and $296 million

granted during 2011 2010 and 2009 was $87.65 $78.73 and respectively The total intrinsic value which is the stock price

$61.56 respectively The total fair value of awards vested at vesting of performance share units vested was $59

during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 million $62 million and $100 million during the years ended

tias $170 million $172 million and $235 million respectively December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively
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The following table summarizes information about equity awards outstanding that are vested and expected to vest and equity

awards outstanding that are exercisable at December 31 2011

EQUITY AWARDS VESTED AND EXPECTED TO VEST EQUITY AWARDS THAT ARE EXERCISABLE

Aggregate Aggregate

Average Intrinsic Remaining Average Intrinsic Remaining

shares irs thousands aggregate iritrirssic
value in millions Awards Price Value Term Awards Price Value Term

Stock Options/Stock Appreciation Rights 54779 $59.01 771 5.0 37362 $55.03 $675 3.6

Performance Share units/Restricted Stock 3065 224 1.3

weighted-average exercise price per share

weighted-average contractual remaining term in years

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date

of grant using binomial lattice model The following table

indicates the assumptions used in estimating fair value for the

years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 Because

lattice-based option models incorporate ranges of

assumptions for inputs those ranges are as follows

Expected volatility 26% 32% 24% 28% 30% 42%

Weighted-average volatility
26% 25% 30%

Expected term in years 7.5 8.0 7.4 7.9 7.4 7.9

Expected dividends 2.4% 2.7% 2.1%

Risk-free rate 0.1% 3.5% 0.1% 4.0% 0% 2.5%

Expected volatilities are based on the returns of our stock

including implied volatilities from traded options on our stock

for the binomial lattice model We use historical data to

estimate equity award exercise and employee termination

behavior within the valuation model Separate employee

groups and equity award characteristics are considered

separately for valuation purposes The expected term

represents an estimate of the period of time equity awards

are expected to remain outstanding The risk-free rate is

based on the term structure of interest rates at the time of

equity award grant

NOTE 12 RESTRUCTURING COSTS

During 2011 we recorded net pre-tax restructuring costs

totaling $336 million for new and ongoing restructuring

actions We recorded charges in the segments as follows

Dollars in millions

Otis 73

Carrier 46

UTC Fire Security 80

Pratt Whitney 67

Hamilton Sundstrand 16

Sikorsky 53

Eliminations and other

Total $336

The net costs consist of $180 million recorded in cost of sales

$154 million in selling general and administrative expenses

and $2 million in other income net As described below these

charges primarily relate to actions initiated during 2011 and

2010

2011 Actions During 2011 we initiated restructuring actions

relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts including

workforce reductions and consolidation of field operations

We recorded net pre-tax restructuring costs totaling $286

million for restructuring actions initiated in 2011 consisting of

$136 million in cost of sales $147 million in selling general and

administrative expenses and $3 million ir other income net

We expect the actions that were initiated in 2011 to result in

net workforce reductions of approximately 5000 hourly and

salaried employees the exiting of approximately million net

square feet of facilities and the disposal of assets associated

with exited facilities As of December 31 2011 we have

completed with respect to the actions initiated in 2011 net

workforce reductions of approximately 2200 employees and

50000 net square feet of facilities have been exited We are

targeting to complete in 2012 the majority of the remaining

workforce and all facility related cost reduction actions

initiated in 2011 No specific plans for significant other actions

have been finalized at this time

2011 200 2009
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The following table summarizes the accrual balances and

utilization by Cost type for the 2011 restructuring actions

Facility Exit

Lease

Asset Termination

Write- and Other

Severance Downs Costs

Net pre-tax restructuring charges $259 $23 $286

Utihzation and foreign exchange 115 13 132

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2011 $144 $10 $154

The following table summarizes expected incurred and

remaining costs for the 2011 restructuring actions by type

Facility Exit

Lease

Asset Termination

Write- and Other

Severance Downs Costs

Expected costs 290 74 368

Costs incurred during 2011 259 23 286

REMAINING COSTS AT

DECEMBER 31 2011 31 51 82

The following table summarizes expected incurred and

remaining costs for the 2011 restructuring actions by

segment

Costs Remaining

Incurred Costs at

Expected During December 31

Dellars in millions Costs 2011 2011

Otis $100 76 $24

Carrier 47 31 16

UTC Fire Security 68 62
Pratt whitney 65 52 13

Hamilton Sundstrand 14 13
Sikorsky 73 51 22

Eliminations and other

Total $368 $286 $82

2010 Actions During 2011 we recorded net pre-tax

restructuring costs totaling $55 million for restructuring

actions initiated in 2010 consisting of $36 million in cost of

sales and $19 million in selling general and administrative

expenses The 2010 actions relate to ongoing cost reduction

efforts including workforce reductions and the consolidation

of field operations

As of December 31 2011 we have completed net workforce

reductions of approximately 4000 employees of an

expected 5000 and have exited 2.5 million net square feet of

facilities of an expected 3.9 million net square feet The

remaining workforce and facility reduction actions are

targeted for completion during 2012

The following table summarizes the restructuring accrual

balances and utilization by cost type for the 2010 programs

Restructuring accruals at January

2011 $203 24 $227

Net pre-tax restructuring charges 11 35 55

Utilization and foreign exchange 156 11 44 211

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2011 56 15 $71

The following table summarizes expected incurred and

remaining costs for the 2010 programs by type

Facility Exit

Lease

Asset Termination

Write- and Other

Dollars in millions Severance Downs Costs Total

Expected costs 319 $30 98 $447

Costs incurred during 2010 301 19 51 371

Costs incurred during 2011 11 35 55

REMAINING COSTS AT

DECEMBER 31 2011 12 21

The following table summarizes expected incurred and

remaining costs for the 2010 programs by segment

Costs Costs Remaining

Incurred Incurred Costs at

Expected During During December 31

Costs 2010 2011 2011

Otis 87 87
Carrier 98 74 19
UTC Fire Security 94 64 23
Pratt whitney 93 84
Hamilton Sundstrand 40 29
Sikorsky 17 15
Eliminations and other 18 18

Total $447 $371 $55 $21

Dollars iv millions
Total

Dollars is millions

Dollars in millions Severance

Asset

Write-

Downs

Facility Exit

Lease

Termination

and Other

Costs

Total

Total

Dollars in millions
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NOTE 13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We enter into derivative instruments for risk management

purposes only including derivatives designated as hedging

instruments under the Derivatives and Hedging Topic of the

FASB ASC and those utilized as economic hedges We

operate internationally and in the normal course of business

are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates foreign exchange

rates and commodity prices These fluctuations can increase

the costs of financing investing and operating the business

We have used derivative instruments including swaps

forward contracts and options to manage certain foreign

currency interest rate and commodity price exposures

By their nature all financial instruments involve market and

credit risks We enter into derivative and other financial

instruments with major investment grade financial institutions

and have policies to monitor the credit risk of those

counterparties We limit counterparty exposure and

concentration of risk by diversifying counterparties While

there can be no assurance we do not anticipate any material

non-performance by any of these counterparties

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts We manage our

foreign currency transaction risks to acceptable limits

through the use of derivatives that hedge forecasted cash

flows associated with foreign currency transaction exposures

which are accounted for as cash flow hedges as deemed

appropriate To the extent these derivatives are effective in

offsetting the variability of the hedged cash flows and

otherwise meet the hedge accounting criteria of the

Derivatives and Hedging Topic of the FASB ASC changes in

the derivatives fair values are not included in current

earnings but are included in Accumulated other

comprehensive loss These changes in fair value will

subsequently be reclassified into earnings as component of

product sales or expenses as applicable when the forecasted

transaction occurs To the extent that previously

designated hedging transaction is no longer an effective

hedge any ineffectiveness measured in the hedging

relationship is recorded currently in earnings in the period it

occurs

To the extent the hedge accounting criteria are not met the

foreign currency forward contracts are utilized as economic

hedges and changes in the fair value of these contracts are

recorded currently in earnings in the period in which they

occur These include hedges that are used to reduce

exchange rate risks arising from the change in fair value of

certain foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities

e.g payables receivables and other economic hedges

where the hedge accounting criteria were not met

The four quarter rolling average of the notional amount of

foreign exchange contracts hedging foreign currency

transactions was $10.4 billion and $8.5 billion at December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively

Additional information pertaining to foreign exchange and

hedging activities is included in Note ito the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Commodity Forward Contracts We enter into commodity

forward contracts to reduce the risk of fluctuations in the

price we pay for certain commodities for example nickel

which are used directly in the productior of our products or

are components of the products we procure to use in the

production of our products These hedges are economic

hedges and the changes in fair value of these contracts are

recorded currently in earnings in the period in which they

occur The fair value and outstanding nolional amount of

contracts hedging commodity exposures were insignificant at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively
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The following table summarizes the fair value of derivative instruments as of December 31

Dollars millions Balance Sheet Asset Location 2011 2010

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Foreign Exchange Contracts Other assets current 69 73

Foreign Exchange Contracts Other assets 24

72 97

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Foreign Exchange Contracts Other assets current 40 31

Foreign Exchange Contracts Other assets

42 36

Total Asset Derivative Contracts $114 $133

Balance Sheet Liability Location

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Foreign Exchange Contracts Accrued liabilities 81 16

Foreign Exchange Contracts Other long-term liabilities 43

124 17

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Foreign Exchange Contracts Accrued liabilities 40 33

Foreign Exchange Contracts Other long-term liabilities

41 36

Total Liability Derivative Contracts $165 53

The impact from foreign exchange derivative instruments

that qualified as cash flow hedges for the period was as

follows

December 31

Dollars millierrs 2011 2010

Loss gain recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive

loss $46 $72

Gain reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive

loss into Product sales effective portion 96 119

Assuming current market conditions continue $31 million

pre-tax loss is expected to be reclassified from Accumulated

other comprehensive loss into Product sales to reflect the

fixed prices obtained from foreign exchange hedging within

the next 12 months At December 31 201 all derivative

contracts accounted for as cash flow hedges mature by

February 2014

The effect on the Consolidated Statement of Operations from

foreign exchange contracts not designated as hedging

instruments was as follows

December 31

Dollars irs millions 2011 2010

Loss gain recognized in Other income net $39 $15

Fair Value Disclosure The Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosure Topic of the FASB ASC defines fair value

establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands

the related disclosure requirements The Topic indicates

among other things that fair value measurement assumes

that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer liability

occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or in

the absence of principal market the most advantageous

market for the asset or liability and also defines fair value

based upon an exit price model

During 2011 we recorded other-than-temporary impairment

charges of $66 million on an equity investment The

impairment charge recorded on our investment was

determined by comparing the carrying value of our

investment to the closing market value of the shares on the

dates the investment was deemed to be impaired

During 2010 we had certain non-recurring measurements

resulting in impairment charges as well as gain on the

re-measurement to fair value of previously held equity

interest As previously disclosed during 2010 we recorded

approximately $86 million of asset impairment charges

associated with disposition activity within both Carrier and

Hamilton Sundstrand and also recorded an other-than-

temporary impairment charge of $59 million on our equity

investment in Clipper which had previous carrying value of

approximately $248 million The impairment charge recorded

on our investment in Clipper was determined by comparing

the carrying value of our investment to the closing market

value of the shares on September 30 2010 In December

2010 as result of the acquisition of controlling interest

and all of the remaining shares of Clipper we recorded $21

million gain from the re-measurement to fair value of our

previously held equity interest Refer to Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Valuation Hierarchy The Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosure Topic of the FASB ASC establishes valuation

hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to the valuations used
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to measure fair value This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into

three broad levels as follows Level inputs are quoted prices

unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities Level inputs are quoted prices for similar assets

and liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or

similar assets in markets that are not active inputs other than

quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability

including interest rates yield curves and credit risks or inputs

that are derived principally from or corroborated by

observable market data through correlation Level inputs

are unobservable inputs based on our own assumptions used

to measure assets and liabilities at fair value financial asset

or liabilitys classification within the hierarchy is determined

based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement

The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried

at fair value measured on recurring basis as of December 31

2011 and 2010

Total Quoted Significant

Carrying price in other

Value at active observable Unobservable

December 31 markets inputs inputs

2011 Level Level Level

Avatable-for-sale securities 926 $926

Derivative assets 114 114

Derivative liabilities 165 165

Total Quoted significant

Carrying price in other

Value at active observable Unobservable

December 31 markets inputs inputs

Dollars is millions 2010 Level Level Level

Available-for-sale securities $829 $829

Derivative assets 133 133

Derivative liabilities 53 53

Valuation Techniques Our available-for-sale securities

include equity investments that are traded in active markets

either domestically or internationally They are measured at

fair value using closing stock prices from active markets and

are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy Our

derivative assets and liabilities include foreign exchange

contracts and commodity derivatives that are measured at

fair value using internal models based on observable market

inputs such as forward rates interest rates our own credit

risk and our counterparties credit risks Based on these

inputs the derivative assets and liabilities are classified within

Level of the valuation hierarchy Based on our continued

ability to trade securities and enter into forward contracts we
consider the markets for our fair value instruments to be

active As of December 31 2011 there were no significant

transfers in and out of Level and Level

As of December 31 2011 there has not been any significant

impact to the fair value of our derivative liabilities due to our

own credit risk Similarly there has not been any significant

adverse impact to our derivative assets based on our

evaluation of our counterparties credit risks

The following table provides carrying amounts and fair values

of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value at

December 31 2011 and 2010

Carrying Fair Carrying

Dollars in millions Amount Value Amount Fair Value

Long-term receivables 283 27 300 276

Customer financing notes

receivable 309 297 376 346

Long-term debt excluding

capitalized leases 9575 11639 10117 11500

The above fair values were computed based on comparable

transactions quoted market prices discounted future cash

flows or an estimate of the amount to be received or paid to

terminate or settle the agreement as applicable Differences

from carrying amounts are attributable to interest and or

credit rate changes subsequent to when the transaction

occurred The fair values of Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net Short-term borrowings and

Accounts payable approximate the carrying amounts due to

the short-term maturities of these instruments

We had outstanding commercial aerospace financing and

other contractual commitments totaling approximately

$2270 million and $2032 million at December 31 2011 and

2010 respectively Risks associated with changes in interest

rates on these commitments are mitigated by the fact that

interest rates are variable during the commitment term and

are set at the date of funding based on current market

conditions the fair value of the underlyirg collateral and the

credit worthiness of the customers As result the fair value

of these financings is expected to equal ihe amounts funded

The fair value of the commitment itself is not readily

determinable and is not considered significant Additional

information pertaining to these commitments is included in

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 14 CREDIT QUALITY OF LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

In July 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-20 Disclosure

about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the

Allowance for Credit Losses This ASU is intended to

enhance financial statement users ability to evaluate the

entitys credit risk exposures and adequacy of its allowance

for credit losses by requiring additional disclosure about the

nature of credit risk inherent in the portfolio of receivables

factors and methodologies used in estimating the allowance

for credit losses and activity that occurs during period for

both financing receivables and allowance for credit losses

The scope of this ASU is limited to financing receivables as

defined by the ASU and excludes short-ermtrade accounts

receivable and receivables measured at fair value or lower of

cost or fair value We adopted the disclosures under this ASU

for the reporting period ended December 31 2010 with the

exception of disclosures about activity that occurs during

reporting period which became effective for interim and

annual periods beginning on or after December15 2010 We
adopted the interim disclosures required under this ASU

during the quarter ended March 31 2011

2011 2010

Dollars is millions

82 UNITED TECHNOLOGIEs coRPORATION



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

long-term or financing receivable represents contractual

right to receive money on demand or on fixed and

determinable dates including trade receivable balances with

maturity dates greater than one year Our long-term and

financing receivables primarily represent balances related to

the aerospace businesses such as long-term trade accounts

receivable leases and notes receivable We also have other

long-term receivables in our commercial businesses however

both the individual and aggregate amounts are not

significant

Our classes within aerospace long-term receivables are

comprised of long-term trade accounts receivable and notes

and leases receivable Long-term trade accounts receivable

represent amounts arising from the sale of goods and

services with contractual maturity date of greater than one

year and are recognized as Other assets in our

Consolidated Balance Sheet Notes and leases receivable

represent notes and lease receivables other than receivables

related to operating leases and are recognized as Customer

financing assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheet The

following table summarizes the balance by class of aerospace

long-term receivables as of December 31 2011 and 2010

Dollars rrclliorrs December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Long-term trade accounts receivable $204 $198

Notes and leases receivable 365 416

Total long-term receivables $569 $614

Economic conditions and air travel influence the operating

environment for most airlines and the financial performance

of our aerospace businesses is directly tied to the economic

conditions of the commercial aerospace and defense

industries Additionally the value of the collateral is also

closely tied to commercial airline performance and may be

subject to exposure of reduced valuation as result of

market declines We determine receivable is impaired when
based on current information and events it is probable that

we will be unable to collect amounts due according to the

contractual terms of the receivable agreement Factors

considered in assessing collectability and risk include but are

not limited to examination of credit quality indicators and

other evaluation measures underlying value of any collateral

or security interests significant past due balances historical

losses and existing economic conditions

Long-term receivables can be considered delinquent if

payment has not been received in accordance with the

underlying agreement If determined delinquent long-term

trade accounts receivable and notes and leases receivable

balances accruing interest may be placed on nonaccrual

status We record potential losses related to long-term

receivables when identified The reserve for credit losses on

these receivables relates to specifically identified receivables

that are evaluated individually for impairment For notes and

leases receivable we determine specific reserve for

exposure based on the difference between the carrying value

of the receivable and the estimated fair value of the related

collateral in connection with the evaluation of credit risk and

collectability For long-term trade accounts receivable we

evaluate credit risk and collectability individually to determine

if an allowance is necessary Uncollectible long-term

receivables are written-off when collection of the

indebtedness has been pursued for reasonable period of

time without collection the customer is no longer in

operation or judgment has been levied but the underlying

assets are not adequate to satisfy the indebtedness At both

December 31 2011 and 2010 we do not have any significant

balances that are considered to be delinquent on non-accrual

status past due 90 days or more or considered to be

impaired

The following table provides the balance of aerospace long-

term receivables at December 31 2011 and 2010 and

summarizes the associated reserve for estimated credit

losses and exposures at December 31 2011 and 2010 and the

changes in the reserve for the year ended December 31 2011

Dollars in railkonsl

Beginning balance of the reserve for credit losses and exposure as

of January 200 42

Provision 25

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Other 12

Ending balance of the reserve for credit losses and exposure

individually evaluated for impairment as of December 31 2011 70

Ending balance of long-term receivables individually evaluated for

impairment as of December 31 2011 $569

Ending balance of the reserve for credit losses and exposure

individually evaluated for impairment as of December 31 2010 42

Ending balance of long-term receivables individually evaluated for

impairment as of December 31 2010 614

We determine credit ratings for each customer in the

portfolio based upon public information and information

obtained directly from our customers We conduct review

of customer credit ratings published historical credit default

rates for different rating categories and multiple third party

aircraft value publications as basis to validate the

reasonableness of the allowance for losses on these balances

quarterly or when events and circumstances warrant The

credit ratings listed below range from which indicates an

extremely strong capacity to meet financial obligations and

the receivable is either collateralized or uncollateralized to

which indicates that payment is in default and the

receivable is uncollateralized There can be no assurance that

actual results will not differ from estimates or that

consideration of these factors in the future will not result in

an increase or decrease to the allowance for credit losses on

long-term receivables
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The following table summarizes the credit risk profile by

creditworthiness category for aerospace long-term receivable

balances at December 31 2011 and 2010

Long-term Long-term Notes

trade Notes and trade and

accounts leases accounts leases

Dollars is millions receivable receivable receivable receivable

Alow risk collateralized

uncollateralized 201 $193

Bmoderate risk collateralized

uncollateralized 295 336

Chigh risk collateralized

uncollateralized 70 80

Din default uncollateralized

Total $204 $365 $198 416

NOTE 15 GUARANTEES

We extend variety of financial guarantees to third parties

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the following financial

guarantees were outstanding

Carrying Carrying

Maximum Amount Maximum Amount

Potential of Potential of

Oollars in millions Payment Liability Payment Liability

IAEs financing arrangements

See Note $989 $20 $992 $12

Commercial aerospace financing

arrangements See Note 323 30 336 12

Credit facilities and debt obligations

unconsolidated subsidiaries expire

2012 to 2034 239 225

Performance guarantees 33 40

Commercial customer financing

arrangements 191

Represents tE5 gross obligation at December 31 201 and 2010 our

proportionate share of lADs obligations was 33%

We also have obligations arising from sales of certain

businesses and assets including from representations and

warranties and related indemnities for environmental health

and safety tax and employment matters The maximum

potential payment related to these obligations is not

specified amount as number of the obligations do not

contain financial caps The carrying amount of liabilities

related to these obligations was $138 million and $139 million

at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively For additional

information regarding the environmental indemnifications

see Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

We accrue for costs associated with guarantees when it is

probable that liability has been incurred and the amount

can be reasonably estimated The most likely cost to be

incurred is accrued based on an evaluation of currently

available facts and where no amount within range of

estimates is more likely the minimum is accrued In

accordance with the Guarantees Topic of FASB ASC we
record liability for the fair value of such guarantees in the

balance sheet

We provide service and warranty policies on our products

and extend performance and operating cost guarantees

beyond our normal service and warranty policies on some of

our products particularly commercial aircraft engines In

addition we incur discretionary costs to Service our products

in connection with specific product performance issues

Liabilities for performance and operating cost guarantees are

based upon future product performance and durability and

are largely estimated based upon historical experience

Adjustments are made to accruals as claim data and historical

experience warrant The changes in the carrying amount of

service and product warranties and prod jct performance

guarantees for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

are as follows

Dollars In millions 2011 2010

Balance as of January 1136 $1072

Warranties and performance guarantees issued 475 440

Settlements made 440 379
Other 297

Balance as of December31 $1468 1136

For 2011 the increase reflected within Olher in the above

table primarily related to the finalization of purchase

accounting associated with the December 2010 acquisition of

Clipper

NOTE 16 COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

In view of the risks and costs associated with developing new

engines Pratt Whitney has entered into certain

collaboration arrangements in which sales costs and risks are

shared Sales generated from engine programs spare parts

and aftermarket business under collaboration arrangements

are recorded as earned in our financial statements Amounts

attributable to our collaborative partners for their share of

sales are recorded as an expense in our financial statements

based upon the terms and nature of the arrangement Costs

associated with engine programs under collaborative

arrangements are expensed as incurred Under these

arrangements collaborators contribute their program share

of engine parts incur their own production costs and make

certain payments to Pratt Whitney for shared or joint

program costs The reimbursement of the collaborators share

of program costs is recorded as reduction of the related

expense item at that time As of December 31 2011 the

collaborators interests in all commercial engine programs

ranged from 12% to 48% inclusive of portion of Pratt

Whitneys interests held by other participants Pratt

Whitney is the principal participant in all existing

collaborative arrangements There are no individually

significant collaborative arrangements arid none of the

partners exceed 31% share in an individual program

In September 2011 Pratt Whitney announced new

collaboration with JAEC and MTU to provide the PurePower

PW1100G-JM engine for the Airbus A32Oneo program Under

the collaboration agreement MTU will hold an 18% share and

be responsible for the engines low pressure turbine and

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

2011 2010
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participate jointly with Pratt Whitney to provide the high

pressure compressor for the engine JAEC will hold 23%

share and be responsible for the engine fan low pressure

compressor and combustor/diffuser Pratt Whitney will

hold the remaining shares and will be responsible for the

remainder of the PurePower PW1100G-JM engine and

systems integration

On October 12 2011 Pratt Whitney and Rolls-Royce

announced an agreement to restructure their interests in IAE

and to form new joint venture to develop engines to power

the next generation of 120 to 230 passenger mid-size aircraft

that will replace the existing fleet of mid-size aircraft

currently in service or in development Consummation of

each of these transactions is subject to regulatory approvals

and other closing conditions We expect the restructuring of

the parties interests in IAE to be completed in mid-2012 The

closing of the new joint venture is also subject to the

completion of the restructuring of the parties interests in IAE

and may take substantially longer period of time to

complete See Note to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

The foHowing table illustrates the income statement

classification and amounts attributable to transactions arising

from the collaborative arrangements between participants for

each period presented

Collaborator share of sales

Cost of products sold 963 $850 $772

Cost of services sold 36 38 29

Collaborator share of program costs

reimbursement of expenses incurred

Cost of products sold 88 83 66
Research and development 220 135 97
Selling general and administrative

NOTE 17 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Leases We occupy space and use certain equipment under

lease arrangements Rental commitments of $1883 million at

December 31 2011 under long-term non-cancelable operating

leases are payable as follows $515 million in 2012 $404

million in 2013 $292 million in 2014 $184 million in 2015 $115

million in 2016 and $373 million thereafter Rent expense was

$453 million in 2011 $445 million in 2010 and $463 million in

2009

Additional information pertaining to commercial aerospace

rental commitments is included in Note to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Environmental Our operations are subject to environmental

regulation by federal state and local authorities in the United

States and regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over our

foreign operations As described in Note ito the

Consolidated Financial Statements we have accrued for the

costs of environmental remediation activities and periodically

reassess these amounts We believe that the likelihood of

incurring losses materially in excess of amounts accrued is

remote At December 31 2011 we had $617 million reserved

for environmental remediation Additional information

pertaining to environmental matters is included in Note ito

the Consolidated Financial Statements

Government We are now and believe that in light of the

current U.S government contracting environment we will

continue to be the subject of one or more U.S government

investigations If we or one of our business units were

charged with wrongdoing as result of any of these

investigations or other government investigations including

violations of certain environmental or export laws the U.S

government could suspend us from bidding on or receiving

awards of new U.S government contracts pending the

completion of legal proceedings If convicted or found liable

the U.S government could fine and debar us from new U.S

government contracting for period generally not to exceed

three years The U.S government could void any contracts

found to be tainted by fraud

Our contracts with the U.S government are also subject to

audits Like many defense contractors we have received

audit reports which recommend that certain contract prices

should be reduced to comply with various government

regulations Some of these audit reports involved substantial

amounts We have made voluntary refunds in those cases we

believe appropriate have settled some allegations and

continue to litigate certain cases In addition we accrue for

liabilities associated with those matters that are probable and

can be reasonably estimated The most likely settlement

amount to be incurred is accrued based upon range of

estimates Where no amount within range of estimates is

more likely then we accrued the minimum amount

As previously disclosed the U.S Department of Justice DOJ
sued us in 1999 in the U.S District Court for the Southern

District of Ohio claiming that Pratt Whitney violated the

civil False Claims Act and common law This lawsuit relates to

the Fighter Engine Competition between Pratt Whitneys

F100 engine and General Electrics FilO engine The DOJ

alleges that the government overpaid for F100 engines under

contracts awarded by the U.S Air Force in fiscal years 1985

through 1990 because Pratt Whitney inflated its estimated

costs for some purchased parts and withheld data that would

have revealed the overstatements At trial of this matter

completed in December 2004 the government claimed

Pratt Whitneys liability to be $624 million On August

2008 the trial court judge held that the Air Force had not

suffered any actual damages because Pratt Whitney had

made significant price concessions However the trial court

judge found that Pratt Whitney violated the False Claims

Act due to inaccurate statements contained in the 1983 offer

In the absence of actual damages the trial court judge

awarded the DOJ the maximum civil penalty of $7.09 million

or $10000 for each of the 709 invoices Pratt Whitney

submitted in 1989 and later under the contracts In

September 2008 both the DOJ and UTC appealed the

decision to the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals In November

2010 the Sixth Circuit affirmed Pratt Whitneys liability

under the False Claims Act and remanded the case to the
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U.S District Court for further proceedings on the question of

damages Should the government ultimately prevail the

outcome of this matter could result in material effect on our

results of operations in the period in which liability would be

recognized or cash flows for the period in which damages

would be paid

As previously disclosed in December 2008 the U.S

Department of Defense DOD issued contract claim

against Sikorsky to recover overpayments the DOD alleges it

has incurred since January 2003 in connection with cost

accounting changes approved by the DOD and implemented

by Sikorsky in 1999 and 2006 These changes relate to the

calculation of material overhead rates in government

contracts The DOD claims that Sikorskys liability is

approximately $92 million including interest through

December 2011 We believe this claim is without merit and

Sikorsky filed an appeal in December 2009 with the U.S

Court of Federal Claims which is pending We do not believe

the resolution of this matter will have material adverse

effect on our competitive position results of operations cash

flows or financial condition

significant portion of our activities are subject to export

control regulation by the U.S Department of State State

Department under the U.S Arms Export Control Act and

International Traffic in Arms Regulations ITAR From time to

time we identify investigate remediate and voluntarily

disclose to the State Departments Office of Defense Trade

Controls Compliance DTCC potential violations of the ITAR

DTCC administers the State Departments authority under the

ITAR to impose civil penalties and other administrative

sanctions for violations including debarment from engaging

in the export of defense articles or defense services Most of

our voluntary disclosures are resolved without the imposition

of penalties or other sanctions However in November 2011

DTCC informed us that It considers certain of our voluntary

disclosures filed since 2005 to reflect deficiencies warranting

penalties and sanctions We are currently in discussions with

DTCC to reach consent agreement which we anticipate will

provide for payment by the Company and commitments

regarding additional remedial compliance efforts

The voluntary disclosures that we anticipate will be

addressed in the consent agreement currently under

discussion include 2006 and 2007 disclosures regarding the

export by Hamilton Sundstrand to PWC of certain

modifications to dual-use electronic engine control software

and the re-export by PWC of those software modifications

and subsequent PWC-developed patches to China during

the period 2002-2004 for use in the development of the Z-10

Chinese military helicopter The DOJ has also separately

conducted criminal investigation of the matters addressed

in these disclosures as well as the accuracy and adequacy of

the disclosures We have been cooperating with the DOJs

investigation Since November 2011 we have been in

discussions with the DOJ to resolve this matter

We continue to evaluate the range of possible outcomes of

these separate but related export compliance matters and

have recognized potential liability at December 31 2011 of

$45 million We are currently unable to predict the precise

timing or outcome of the discussions We do not believe the

ultimate resolution of these matters individually or

collectively will have material adverse effect on our

competitive position results of operations cash flows or

financial condition

Other Except as otherwise noted we do not believe that

resolution of any of the above matters will have material

adverse effect upon our competitive position results of

operations cash flows or financial condition

As described in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements we extend performance and operating cost

guarantees beyond our normal warranty and service policies

for extended periods on some of our products We have

accrued our estimate of the liability that may result under

these guarantees and for service costs that are probable and

can be reasonably estimated

We have accrued for environmental investigatory

remediation operating and maintenance costs performance

guarantees and other litigation and claims based on our

estimate of the probable outcome of these matters While it is

possible that the outcome of these matters may differ from

the recorded liability we believe that resolution of these

matters will not have material impact on our competitive

position results of operations cash flows or financial

condition

We also have other commitments and contingent liabilities

related to legal proceedings self-insurance programs and

matters arising out of the normal course of business We
accrue contingencies based upon range of possible

outcomes If no amount within this range is better estimate

than any other then we accrue the minimum amount

We are also subject to number of routine lawsuits

investigations and claims some of which involve substantial

amounts arising out of the ordinary course of our business

We do not believe that these matters will have material

adverse effect upon our competitive position results of

operations cash flows or financial condition

NOTE 18 SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA
Our operations for the periods presented herein are classified

into six principal segments The segments are generally

determined based on the management of the businesses and

on the basis of separate groups of operating companies each

with general operating autonomy over diversified products

and services

Otis products include elevators escalators moving walkways

and service sold to customers in the commercial and

residential property industries around the world

Carrier products include HVAC and refrigeration systems

controls services and energy efficient products for

residential commercial industrial and transportation

applications
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UTC Fire Security products include fire and Special hazard

and suppression systems and firefighting equipment security

monitoring and rapid response systems and service and

security personnel for diversified international customer

base principally in the industrial commercial and residential

property sectors

Pratt Whitney products include commercial military

business jet and general aviation aircraft engines parts and

services industrial gas turbines geothermal power systems

and space propulsion sold to diversified customer base

including international and domestic commercial airlines and

aircraft leasing companies aircraft manufacturers and U.S

and foreign governments Pratt Whitney also provides

product support and full range of overhaul repair and fleet

management services and produces land-based power

generation equipment

Hamilton Sundstrand provides aerospace and industrial

products and aftermarket services for diversified industries

worldwide Aerospace products include power generation

management and distribution systems flight systems engine

control systems environmental control systems fire

protection and detection systems auxiliary power units and

propeller systems Industrial products include air

compressors metering pumps and heavy duty process

pumps

Sikorsky products include military and commercial

helicopters aftermarket helicopter and aircraft parts and

services

On September 28 2011 we announced new organizational

structure to better serve customers and drive growth and

achieve greater efficiencies through greater integration

across certain product lines This new structure combines

Carrier and UTC Fire Security into new segment called

UTC Climate Controls Security Beginning with the first

quarter of 2012 Carrier and UTC Fire Security will report

combined financial and operational results as part of this new

segment As part of this new organizational structure we also

created UTC Propulsion Aerospace Systems new

organization consisting of Pratt Whitney and Hamilton

Sundstrand Pratt Whitney and Hamilton Sundstrand will

continue to report their financial and operational results as

separate segments which is consistent with how we will

allocate resources and measure the financial performance of

these businesses We have reported our financial and

operational results for the periods presented herein under the

six principal segments noted above consistent with how we

have reviewed our business operations for decision-making

purposes resource allocation and performance assessment

during 2011

Segment Information Total sales by segment include intersegment sales which are generally made at prices approximating

those that the selling entity is able to obtain on external sales Segment information for the years ended December is as

follows

NET SALES OPERATING PROFITS

Dollfirs fl mIIoss 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Otis $12437 11579 11723 2815 $2575 $2447

Carrier 11969 11386 11.336 1520 1062 740

UTC Fire Security 6895 6490 5503 692 714 493

Pratt whitney 13430 12935 12392 1999 1987 1835

Hamilton Sundstrand 6150 5608 5560 1082 918 857

Sikorsky 7355 6684 6287 840 716 608

Total segment 58236 54682 52800 8948 7972 6980

Eliminations and other 46 356 375 430 409 255
General corporate expenses 419 377 348

Consolidated $58190 $54326 $52425 $8099 $7186 $6377

TOTAL ASSETS CAPITAL EXPENDITURES DEPRECIATION AMORTIZATION

Dollars is rsilliofls 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Otis 8717 8097 7908 75 55 67 223 211 204

Carrier 9432 9472 9804 189 138 90 164 183 191

UTC Fire Security 12198 12365 10304 116 96 72 268 274 214

Pratt Whitney 10705 10139 10063 290 321 288 332 340 329

Hamilton Sundstrand 8593 8540 8509 163 117 114 172 172 174

Sikorsky 4628 4521 4167 92 108 95 84 83 68

Total segment 54273 53134 50755 925 835 726 1243 1263 1180

Eliminations and other 7179 5359 5.007 58 30 100 104 93 78

Consolidated $61452 $58493 $55762 $983 $865 $826 $1347 $1356 $1258
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Geographic External Sales and Operating Profit Geographic external sales and operating profits are attribLted to the

geographic regions based on their location of origin U.S external sales include export sales to commercial customers outside

the U.S and sales to the U.S government commercial and affiliated customers which are known to be for resale to customers

outside the U.S Long-lived assets are net fixed assets attributed to the specific geographic regions

EXTERNAL NET SALES OPERATING PROFITS

Major Customers Net Sales include sales under prime contracts and subcontracts to the U.S government primarily related to

Pratt Whitney Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky products as follows

2010 2009

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Dollars in millions 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

United States Operations $30438 28911 $27990 $4586 4112 3771 $2974 3013 $3096

International Operations

Europe 12601 11967 12216 2136 1872 1743 1210 1282 1346

Asia Pacific 9394 7986 7173 1513 1229 990 883 839 845

Other 5380 5374 4991 713 759 476 760 804 714

Eliminations and other 377 98 55 849 786 603 374 342 363

Consolidated 58190 $54326 $52425 $8099 $7186 $6377 $6201 $6280 $6364

Sales from U.S operations include export sales as follows

Dollars in milhorrs 2011 2010 2009

Europe 2310 1918 $2089

Asia Pacific 2506 2688 2.430

Other 3141 2.690 2.477

$7957 $7296 $6996

Dollars in millions

Pratt Whitney $3696 4081 $3942

Hamilton Sundstrand 1043 1137 1230

Sikorsky 4967 4529 3979

Other 125 153 127

$9831 $9900 $9278

2011
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

2011 Quarters 2010 Quarters

Dollars rcIIiorrs except per share amoxrrts First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Net Sales $13344 $15076 $14804 $14966 $12040 $13802 $13620 $14864

Gross margin 3703 4171 4048 4115 3308 3787 3953 3864
Net income attributable to common shareowners 1012 1318 1324 1325 866 1110 1198 1199

Earnings per share of Common Stock

Basicnet income 1.13 1.48 1.49 1.49 .95 1.22 1.32 1.33

Dilutednet income 1.11 1.45 1.47 1.47 .93 1.20 1.30 1.31

COMPARATIVE STOCK DATA UNAUDITED

2011 2010

common stock
High Low Dividend High Low Dividend

Firstquarter $85.46 $77.05 $425 $74.85 $65.01 $.425

Second quarter $90.67 81.19 $480 $77.09 $62.88 $425
Third quarter 91.83 67.12 $.480 73.81 $63.62 $.425

Fourth quarter $80.36 $66.87 $.480 $79.70 $70.23 $.425

Our Common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange The high and low prices are based on the Composite Tape of the

New York Stock Exchange There were approximately 23633 registered shareholders at January 31 2012

PERFORMANCE GRAPH UNAUDITED
The following graph presents the cumulative total shareholder return for the five years ending December 31 2011 for our common
stock as compared to the Standard Poors 500 Stock Index and to the Dow Jones 30 Industrial Average Our common stock

price is component of both indices These figures assume that all dividends paid over the five-year period were reinvested and

that the starting value of each index and the investment in common stock was $100.00 on December 31 2006

$150

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

United Technologies Corporation

SP 500 Index

Dow Jones Industrials

December

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

United Technologies Corporation $100.00 $124.44 $89.06 118.71 $137.98 $131.12

SP 500 Index $100.00 $105.49 $66.46 $84.05 96.71 $98.76

Dow Jones Industrial Average $100.00 $108.87 74.12 90.91 $103.70 $112.39
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This report is made available to shareowners in advance of

the annual meeting of shareowners to be held at p.m
April 2012 in Charleston S.C The proxy statement will be

made available to shareowners on or about February 24

2012 at which time proxies for the meeting will be requested

Information about UTC including financial information can be

found at our website www.utc.com

STOCK LISTING

New York Stock Exchange

TICKER SYMBOL

UTX

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Computershare Trust Company N.A is the transfer agent

registrar and dividend disbursing agent for UTCs common

stock Questions and communications regarding transfer of

stock replacement of lost certificates dividends and address

changes and the Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend

Reinvestment Plan should be directed to

Computershare Trust Company N.A

250 Royall Street

Canton Massachusetts 02021

Telephone

Within the U.S 1.800.488.9281

Outside the U.S 1.781.575.2724

Website www.computershare.com/investor

TDD 1.800.952.9245

Telecommunications device for the hearing impaired

CERTIFICATIONS

UTC has included as Exhibit 31 to its Annual Report on

Form 10-K for fiscal year 2011 filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission certificates of its Chief Executive

Officer Chief Financial Officer and Controller certifying

among other things the information contained in the

Form 10-K

Annually UTC submits to the New York Stock Exchange

NYSE certificate of UTCs Chief Executive Officer

certifying that he was not aware of any violation by UTC of

NYSE corporate governance listing standards as of the date

of the certification

DIVIDENDS

Dividends are usually paid on the 10th day of March June

September and December

ELECTRONIC ACCESS

Rather than receiving mailed copies registered shareowners

may sign up at the following website for electronic

communications including annual meeting materials stock

plan statements and tax documents

www.computershare-na.com/green

For annual meeting materials your enrollment is revocable

until week before each years record date for the annual

meeting Beneficial shareowners may be able to request

electronic access by contacting their broker or bank or

Broadridge Financial Solutions at

http//enroll.icsdelivery.com/utc

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Shareowners may obtain copy of the UTC Annual Report on

Form 10-K for fiscal year 2011 filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission by writing to

Corporate Secretary

United Technologies Corporation

United Technologies Building

Hartford Connecticut 06101

For additional information about UTC please contact Investor

Relations at the above corporate office address or visit our

website at www.utc.com

SHAREOWNER INFORMATION SERVICES

Our Internet and telephone services give shareowners fast

access to UTC financial results The 24-hour-a-day toll-free

telephone service includes recorded summaries of UTCs

quarterly earnings information and other company news

Callers also may request copies of our quarterly earnings and

news releases by either fax or mail and obtain copies of the

UTC Annual Report and Form 10-K

To access the service dial 1.800.881.1914 from any touchtone

phone and follow the recorded instructicns

DIRECT REGISTRATION SYSTEM

If your shares are held in street name through broker and

you are interested in participating in the Direct Registration

System you may have your broker transfer the shares to

Computershare Trust Company NA electronically through

the Direct Registration System Interested investors can

request description of this book-entry form of registration

by calling Shareholder Direct at 1.800.881.1914

ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY REPORT

This annual report is printed on recycled and recyclable

paper

www.utc.com

www.carrier.com

www.hamiItonsundstrandcom

www.otis.com

www.pw.utc.com

www.sikorskycom

www.utcfireandsecuritycom

www.utcpower.com
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AWARDS/RECOGNITION

UTC named No Most Admired aerospace and defense STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
company by Fortune magazine

For seven years UTC has sought feedback on its

UTC included in Worlds Most Respected Companies by corporate responsibility reporting and performance

Barrons magazine Throughout 2011 across the globe we engaged
stakeholders in all our activities and efforts which

include but are not limited to environment healthUTC named to the Dow Jones sustainability indexes for the
and safety ethics governance human rights and13th consecutive year
overall community affairs These relationships and

partnerships help inform our approach and itsUTC given the highest rating in 2011 for workplace equality
integration with our business efforts

from the Human Rights Campaign

This report and its associated Web content at
UTC named one of the nations most diverse companies on www.utc.com provide detailed examples of how
DiversityBusiness.coms list of the Top 50 Organizations for our approach to integrating responsibility into

Multicultural Business Opportunities our operations fosters culture of innovation and

delivers results

UTC ranked fourth in the Capital Goods category and 65th overall

in the 2011 Green Rankings by Newsweek magazine Your feedback is important to us Please visit

www.utc.com/responsibility and tell us what you

UTC Chairman Chief Executive Officer Louis ChŒnevert think of our financial and corporate responsibility

named Person of the Year by Aviation Week magazine for the performance end reporting

steps he has teken to strengthen the company and the aerospace __________________________________________
and defense industries

United Technologies Corporation and its subsidiaries

UTC Chairman Chief Executive Officer Louis ChŒnevert names abbreviations thereof logos and product

honored with the National Minority Supplier Development and service designators are all either the registered

Council 2011 Minority Business Leadership Award for his ongoing or unregistered trademarks or trade names of United

commitment to developing global network of diverse suppliers Technologies Corporation and its subsidiaries

Names of other companies abbreviations thereotUTCs chief executive officer chief financial officer and investor

relations team given top rankings in the 2011 All-America
logos of other companies and product and service

designators of other companies are either theExecutive Team Capital Goods/Industrials/Aerospace Defense
registered or unregistered trademarks or tradeElectronics sector Institutional Investor magazine
names of their respective owners

Hamilton Sundstrand named Thomson Reuters 2011 Top 100
All paper used in this report is certified to the

Global Innovator an honor given to companies that invent on Forest Stewardship Council FSc standards
significant scale work on developments that are acknowledged as The cover and narrative section are printed on paper
innovative by others and whose inventions are globally protected made with 100 percent post-consumer recycled
due to their importance content using 100 percent renewable electricity

and manufactured carbon neutral The financial

Pratt Whitneys PurePower PW1000G engine named by TIME section is printed on paper that utilizes 10 percent

magazine as one of The 50 Best Inventions of 2011 describing post-consumer recycled content and is made
it as the most important development in aviation in 2011 with improved energy efficiency and the use of

cogeneration and hydroelectricity

Sikorsky Aircraft Corp X2 Technology demonstrator team

to recognize the greatest achievements in aeronautics or

named winner of the Robert Collier Trophy awarded annually

astronautics in the United States

UTC Fire Security awarded the National Safety Councils 2011

Robert Campbell Award which recognizes organizations that

achieve business excellence by integrating environmental health

and safety management into their business operating systems

PHOTO CREDITS
Inside front cover courtesy U.S Navy
Page top courtesy gkkworks

Page 10 the Empire State Building image
is registered trademark of ESBC and is

used with permission

Page 11 top courtesy Silverstein Properties
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